ANGIOTENSIN CONVERTING ENZYME AND VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL GROWTH FACTOR RESPONSES TO EXERCISE TRAINING IN CLAUDICANTS: THE ROLE OF ACE INHIBITION

Paul Ng

MB BS MSc MRCS (Eng)

Department of Surgery

Royal Free and University College Hospital Medical School

April 2009

Presented for the Award of Doctor of Medicine (Research)

ABSTRACT

ABSTRACT

Exercise training is well recognised as an effective treatment for intermittent claudication. The mechanism underlying exercise induced improvements is multi-factorial but remains poorly understood. Low angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) activity has been associated with enhanced responses to endurance training. Specifically, low ACE activity has been associated with improved muscle metabolism, endothelial function, and suppressed inflammatory responses; processes linked with exercise training benefits in claudicants. Furthermore, pharmacological inhibition of ACE has been associated with enhanced angiogenesis in animal models of ischaemia, secondary to increases in vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF).

In this study, 11 claudicants were randomised to 8 weeks of supervised exercise training (n=6) or exercise advice (n=5). Walking ability was recorded before and after this period, and blood samples taken. Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) was used to determine the effects of exercise training on ACE, VEGF and VEGF receptor (VEGFR) gene expression, and enzyme-linked immunosorbant assays (ELISA) measured changes in ACE and VEGF protein levels. In another experiment, a cell culture model of hypoxia, utilising ECV 304 cells and diethylenetriamine-nitric oxide (DETA-NO), was used to study the effects of the ACE inhibitor ramiprilat on ACE and VEGF responses to hypoxia, using RT-PCR and ELISA.

Supervised exercise improved claudication distance by 105 metres (p < 0.05) and maximum walking distance by 141 metres (p < 0.05). ACE mRNA expression increased 30%, VEGF₁₂₁ expression 43% and VEGF₁₆₅ expression 70% (all p < 0.05). Soluble VEGFR-1 mRNA expression increased by 63% and VEGFR-2 72% (both p < 0.05).

ACE and VEGF protein levels remained comparatively stable. In the cell culture experiments, ramiprilat increased VEGF protein levels in hypoxia. Although a lack of experimental runs prevented statistical analysis, the results also suggest that ramiprilat has a stimulatory effect on ACE mRNA expression in hypoxia.

Improvements in walking ability after exercise training are associated with increases in both VEGF and VEGF receptor expression. ACE inhibitors could play a role in improving claudication by potentiating increases in VEGF in addition to their known action of suppressing ACE activity. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the following people who have all helped to a great extent in completing this thesis: Dr Simon Hollingsworth, for giving me the opportunity to conduct the thesis, and for his always astute supervision and guidance. I am also very grateful to Mr Jason Lee, for both his collaboration and camaraderie in the laboratory, and to Dr Neil Jones and Mr Garth Powell, for their invaluable help and technical advice.

STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY

STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY

The work presented in this thesis is the sole undertaking of Mr Paul Ng. The results have not been presented for the award of any other degree, apart from the data relating to the effects of the ACE polymorphism and ramipril on training responses in claudicants, which was taken from a thesis submitted for an MSc degree previously undertaken by the author.

CONTENTS

CONTENTS

Abstra	ict		2
Ackno	wledgen	nents	5
Statement of Originality		7	
Contents		9	
Abbreviations		13	
List of	Tables		16
List of	Figures		18
Chapt	ter 1 Intr	oduction	22
1.1	Intermit	tent Claudication	23
	111	Pathonhysiology	23
	1.1.1	Natural History	25
	1.1.3	Management	27
1.2	Exercise	e for Intermittent Claudication	28
	1.2.1	Supervised and Unsupervised Exercise Programmes	29
	1.2.2	Exercise Compared to Angioplasty for Intermittent Claudication	31
	1.2.3	Mechanisms for Improvement with Exercise	32
1.3	Angiote	nsin-Converting Enzyme	40
	1.3.1	Renin-Angiotensin System: Overview	40
	1.3.2	The ACE I/D Polymorphism	43
	1.3.3	ACE Polymorphism: Effects on Endurance Training	45
	1.3.4	ACE Polymorphism: Effects on Inflammation ACE Polymorphism: Other Associations	49 50
14	ACE an	d Angiogenesis	51
1.1	1 <i>4</i> 1	Ancie conocio: Collular Eventa	51
	1.4.1	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor	53
	1.4.3	VEGF and Angiogenesis	55
	1.4.4	VEGF Regulation	57
	1.4.5	Effects of ACE Inhibition on VEGF and Angiogenesis	60
	1.4.6	Role of Ang-II and BK in Ischaemia Induced Angiogenesis	63
1.5	ACE Re	gulation and Signalling	67
	1.5.1	ACE Regulation	67
	1.5.2	ACE Inhibitors and Cell Signalling	68
1.6	ACE and	d Intermittent Claudication	71
	1.6.1	ACE I/D Polymorphism and Intermittent Claudication	71
	1.6.2	ACE Inhibitors and Intermittent Claudication	73
Chapt	ter 2 Hyp	oothesis and Aims	78

10

2.1	Background	79
2.2	Hypothesis and Aims	82
2.3	Experimental Design	83
Chap	ter 3 Materials and Methods	87
3.1	Clinical Trial: Training Responses in Claudicants	88
	 3.1.1 Ethical Approval and Study Outline 3.1.2 Patient Recruitment and Randomisation 3.1.3 Patient Assessments 3.1.4 Blood Sample Collection and Processing 3.1.5 Supervised Training Programme 3.1.6 Exercise Advice 	88 90 92 94 97 98
3.2	Cell Culture Experiments	99
	 3.2.1 Culture Conditions 3.2.2 Preparation of Cells for Experiments 3.2.3 Preparation of Drugs for Experiments 3.2.4 Assessing Cell Viability 3.2.5 Processing Cells for RNA and Protein Extraction 	99 102 105 107 107
3.3	Determination of Gene Expression	108
	 3.3.1 Nucleic Acid Extraction from TRI reagentTM 3.3.2 Quantifying the Amount of Available DNA and RNA 3.3.3 Reverse Transcriptase Reaction 3.3.4 Polymerase Chain Reaction: Overview 3.5 PCR: Optimisation and Final Experimental Conditions 3.6 Analysis of PCR Products 3.7 Alternatives to RT-PCR for Measuring Gene Expression 	108 111 112 115 123 124 131
3.4	ACE Genotype Determination	132
	3.4.1 Overview3.4.2 PCR conditions	132 132
3.5	Differential Transcription of ACE I/D alleles Analysis	133
	3.5.1 Overview3.5.2 Protocols	133 137
3.6	Measurement of Protein Levels	141
	3.6.1 ELISA: Overview3.6.2 Clinical Trial Subjects3.6.3 Cell Culture Experiments	143 147 148
3.7	Statistical Analysis	151
Chap	ter 4 ACE and VEGF Responses to Exercise Training In Claudicants	152
4.1	Background	153
4.2	Aims	153
4.3	Methods	154
4.4	Results	154

	4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3	Physiological Responses to Exercise Training Molecular Responses to Exercise Training Correlation between Physiological and Molecular Responses	156 161 170
4.5	Discuss	ion	175
4.6	Summa	ry	185
Chap	ter 5 Eff	ects of ACE Inhibition on ACE and VEGF Responses to Hype	oxia 186
5.1	Backgro	bund	187
5.2	Aims		187
5.3	Method	s	188
	5.3.1 5.3.2	Work up Experiments Final Experiment	188 190
5.4	Results		191
	5.4.1 5.4.2 5.4.3	Effects of DETA-NO Alone Effects of Ramiprilat Alone Effects of Ramiprilat on Responses to Metabolic Hypoxia	191 192 197
5.5	Discuss	ion	207
5.6	Summar	ry	216
Chap	ter 6 Dis	cussion and Conclusions	217
6.1	Effects	of Exercise Training on Walking Ability, ACE and VEGF	218
6.2	Effects	of ACE Inhibition on ACE and VEGF Responses to Hypoxia	220
6.3	Conclus	ions	221
List o	f Publicat	tions	222
List o	f Presenta	ations	224
Refer	ences		226
Apper	ndices		251
App	endix 1:	Borg Scales	252
App	endix 2:	RT-PCR Optimisation Examples	254
App	endix 3:	Patient Demographics	257
App	endix 4:	Patient Data	260
App	endix 5:	Cell Culture Work-up Experiment Results	267
App	endix 6:	Final Cell Culture Experiments- Well Contents	276
App	endix 7:	Cell Culture Experiment Data	279

ABBREVIATIONS

ABBREVIATIONS

ABPI	Ankle brachial pressure index
ACE	Angiotensin-converting enzyme
Ang-II	Angiotensin II
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
AP-1	Activating protein 1
AT_1	Angiotensin II receptor Type 1
AT_2	Angiotensin II receptor Type 2
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BK	Bradykinin
Вр	Base pair
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CD	Claudication distance
cDNA	Complimentary deoxyribonucleic acid
CK2	Casein kinase 2
COX-2	Cyclo-oxygenase 2
CRP	C-reactive protein
DETA-NO	Diethylenetriamine-nitric oxide
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetra-acetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay
FCS	Foetal calf serum
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
GAPDH-3	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase

- HBSS Hanks' balanced salt solution
- HIF Hypoxia-inducible factor
- HUVECs Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
- IL-6 Interleukin-6
- IOD Integrated optical density
- M-MLV Moloney Murine Leukaemia virus
- mRNA Messenger ribonucleic acid
- MWD Maximum walking distance
- NO Nitric oxide
- PBMN Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
- PBS Phosphate buffered saline
- PCR Polymerase chain reaction
- PCTA Percutaneous transluminal angioplasty
- PKC Protein kinase C
- PIGF Placental growth factor
- RAS Renin-angiotensin system
- RNA Ribonucleic acid
- RT Reverse transcriptase
- RT-PCR Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
- SEM Standard error of the mean
- TB Trypan blue
- Tm Annealing temperature
- VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor
- VEGFR Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF TABLES

Tab	l'able		
1.1	Studies Showing an Association Between ACE I/D Genotype and Physical Performance	46	
1.2	Studies Showing No Association Between ACE I/D Genotype and Physical Performance	48	
1.3	Summary of Studies Performed to Date of ACE Inhibitors in Intermittent Claudication	76	
3.1	Study Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	91	
3.2	Primer Sequences	121	
3.3	Final ACE 216 PCR Conditions	125	
3.4	Final VEGF PCR Conditions	126	
3.5	Final VEGFR-1 and sVEGFR-1 PCR Conditions	127	
3.6	Final VEGFR-2 PCR Conditions	128	
3.7	Final ACE Genotype PCR Conditions	135	
3.8	ACE 2215 Primer Details and Final PCR Conditions	139	
4.1	Baseline Data and Demographics	155	
4.2	Changes in General Measurements after 8 weeks.	157	

LIST OF FIGURES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	Figure	
1.1	Summary of the Pathophysiological Processes Involved in Intermittent Claudication.	26
1.2	Summary of Potential Mechanisms Leading to Improved Walking Ability with Exercise Training.	33
1.3	Summary of the Renin-Angiotensin System	42
1.4	Schematic Diagram of the ACE Gene Illustrating the Insertion/Deletion Polymorphism	44
1.5	Vascular Growth in the Adult	52
1.6	Overview of the Interactions Between the Major VEGF Isoforms and Receptors Involved in Angiogenesis	56
1.7	VEGF and VEGF Receptor Regulation in Hypoxia	58
1.8	Effects of ACE Inhibition on Angiotensin II and Bradykinin in VEGF- mediated Angiogenesis in Ischaemia	66
1.9	The ACE Inhibitor and BK-induced 'Outside-in' ACE Signalling Pathway	70
2.1	Summary of Hypothesis	86
3.1	Study Outline	89
3.2	Schematic Diagram of the Blood/Lymphoprep TM Layers Before and After Centrifugation	96
3.3	Counting Cells Using a Haemocytometer	104
3.4	Schematic Diagram Showing the 3 Phases after Centrifugation of the TRI reagent TM and Sample Mixture	110
3.5	Schematic Diagram of a Reverse Transcriptase Reaction	113
3.6	Diagram Showing the First 2 Cycles of a PCR Reaction	116
3.7	Diagram Showing the Doubling of cDNA with Each PCR Cycle	117
3.8	Photograph of a Typical Agarose Gel	130

3.9	ACE Genotyping: Primers and Possible Products	134
3.10	Gel Electrophoresis of ACE PCR Products	136
3.11	ACE mRNA Analysis: HAE II Reaction Conditions and Products	140
3.12	Photograph Demonstrating the Products from an ACE 2215 Reaction	142
3.13	Schematic Diagram of an ELISA Reaction	146
4.1	Changes in CD after Exercise Training	158
4.2	Changes in MWD after Exercise Training	159
4.3	Changes in Heel Raises after Exercise Training	160
4.4	Correlation Between Changes in Heel Raises and MWD	162
4.5	Changes in ACE Expression after Exercise Training	163
4.6	Changes in Plasma ACE Levels after Exercise Training	164
4.7	ACE D:I Allele Ratio and ACE Expression	165
4.8	Changes in VEGF ₁₂₁ Expression after Exercise Training	167
4.9	Changes in VEGF ₁₆₅ Expression after Exercise Training	168
4.10	Changes in Plasma VEGF Levels after Exercise Training	169
4.11	Changes in VEGFR-1 Expression after Exercise Training	171
4.12	Changes in sVEGFR-1 Expression after Exercise Training	172
4.13	Changes in VEGFR-2 Expression after Exercise Training	173
4.14	Correlation Between ACE and VEGF Gene Expression	174
5.1	Effects of DETA-NO on Cell Viability	193
5.2	Effects of DETA-NO on ACE Expression	194
5.3	Effects of DETA-NO on VEGF Gene Expression	195
5.4	Effects of DETA-NO on VEGF Protein Levels	196
5.5	Effects of Ramiprilat on Cell Viability	198
5.6	Effects of Ramiprilat on ACE Gene Expression	199

5.7	Effects of Ramiprilat on VEGF Gene Expression	200
5.8	Effects of Ramiprilat on VEGF Protein Levels	201
5.9	Effects of Ramiprilat and Metabolic Hypoxia on Cell Viability	203
5.10	Effects of Ramiprilat on ACE Expression in Response to Hypoxia	204
5.11	Effects of Ramiprilat on VEGF ₁₂₁ Expression in Response to Hypoxia	205
5.12	Effects of Ramiprilat on VEGF ₁₆₅ Expression in Response to Hypoxia	206
5.13	Effects of Ramiprilat on VEGF Protein Levels in Response to Hypoxia	208

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER 1

1.1 INTERMITTENT CLAUDICATION

Peripheral arterial disease is caused by atherosclerotic lesions in the arteries supplying the lower limbs, which result in a reduction of blood flow to the extremities. It is a significant cause of functional impairment, mortality and morbidity in the western world, and in the UK alone affects up to 20% of people over the age of 75.^{49;243} With incidence increasing with age, and the continued growth of the elderly population, its prevalence is likely to rise considerably over the next 20 years.⁴³

A wide spectrum of disease severity exists. Gangrene and limb loss occur in the most severe cases, whilst those with mild disease may be completely asymptomatic. Many individuals with mild disease experience pain on walking. This phenomenon has been termed intermittent *claudication*, a word derived from the Latin word 'claudicatio' meaning 'limping.' It was first coined by physiologists who, after ligating the femoral arteries of horses, noted that they limped before stopping *intermittently* as they ran in the field.⁷¹ The term intermittent claudication is now used to describe muscular leg pain brought on by walking which, with continued walking causes the patient to stop, but is relieved within minutes by rest. The pain can be in one or both legs, and is typically felt in the calf muscle. Claudication affects 15 to 40% of patients with peripheral arterial disease. It is associated with decreased mobility, a reduced ability to perform normal daily activities, and can have a considerable negative impact on quality of life.^{229:244}

1.1.1 Pathophysiology

Although intermittent claudication may be caused by conditions such as popliteal artery entrapment, fibromuscular dysplasia and external compression syndromes, these causes are rare with the pathology underlying almost all cases being atherosclerosis.⁴³ Cigarette smoking is the greatest risk factor for developing atherosclerosis, with other risk factors including old age, diabetes, hypertension and hyperlipidaemia. The formation of atherosclerotic plaques involves a complex interaction between lipids, the endothelium, inflammatory cells, platelets and vascular smooth muscle cells. In brief, injury to the endothelium, for example by cigarette smoking or low density lipoproteins, causes an inflammatory response characterised by the infiltration of inflammatory cells into the arterial wall, smooth muscle cell proliferation and lipid deposition.²¹¹ The consequence of this process are occlusive or stenotic atherosclerotic lesions which may occur anywhere in the arterial tree, but primarily in large and medium sized vessels.

In healthy subjects, the onset of exercise produces a series of physiological responses to enable the metabolic demands of exercise to be met. Almost immediately, cardiac output and respiratory rate increase, and peripherally vasodilatation occurs in active muscles.^{125;132} The net result is a large increase in blood flow to the active muscles, resulting in increased oxygen delivery and carbon dioxide removal, thereby allowing exercise to be sustained.¹²⁵ However, in claudicants atherosclerotic lesions in the main arteries supplying the legs interfere with blood flow to the leg muscles sufficiently to limit blood flow increases after the onset of exercise. Thus, the failure to increase oxygen delivery in response to exercise leads to an imbalance in the demand for and the supply of oxygen. Subsequently, the supply of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthesised by aerobic metabolism becomes insufficient to sustain the level of exercise, causing muscles, causing muscular pain and fatigue.²⁵⁵

Although the pathogenesis of intermittent claudication is initiated by atherosclerosis, there is a poor correlation between the pressure drop across the limb and ischaemic symptoms and function.¹¹³ This is principally due to the complex pathophysiology of intermittent claudication, with several other pathological processes contributing to the condition causing a further loss of walking performance (Figure 1.1).⁸⁶ Repeated episodes of ischaemia and reperfusion, with the associated generation of reactive oxygen species, damages skeletal muscle causing neurological, muscular and metabolic disturbances.^{117;284} Distal axonal denervation of muscle fibres, muscle fibre atrophy and loss of muscle strength have all been described.56;199 Oxidative metabolism is also considerably impaired, with studies showing a decrease in the level of aerobic enzymes, a reduction in capillary density with increasing severity of disease, and a reciprocal increase in anaerobic enzyme levels.⁵⁶ Furthermore, abnormal muscle metabolism leads to the accumulation of intermediates of oxidative metabolism such as the acylcarnitines in the muscle. These are formed from acetyl-CoA intermediates in the oxidation of fatty acids, proteins, and carbohydrates, and are detrimental to muscle function.¹¹⁵ In addition, abnormalities in endothelial function may lead to a misdistribution of blood flow in the microcirculation, with blood flow increased through arterio-venous shunts, and decreased through nutritional capillaries.¹ Changes in blood viscosity, microthrombi, white blood cell and platelet activation also contribute to decreased regional blood flow and ischaemia.^{83;86} Finally, another major issue is general physical deconditioning caused by the relative inactivity of these patients.⁷¹

1.1.2 Natural History

In addition to causing severe functional disability and reducing quality of life, intermittent claudication is also a significant marker for systemic atherosclerosis, with a **Acute Effects**

Chronic Effects



Figure 1.1 Summary of the Pathophysiological Processes Involved in Intermittent Claudication.

large proportion of patients also having coronary artery and cerebrovascular disease. Overall, 50 percent of claudicants will die within 10 years, more than three times that of an age matched normal population. The commonest causes of death are myocardial infarction and stroke. Indeed, a claudicant is more likely to die from myocardial infarction than a comparable patient with angina.²²⁹ In contrast, the natural history of arterial disease of the lower limbs is relatively benign. The majority of patients can be managed conservatively, and do not require interventional procedures. Up to 75 percent of patients with intermittent claudication will have limb symptoms that remain stable or improve. Only 25 percent deteriorate, and only 5 percent will ever need intervention in the form of endovascular procedures or surgery. About 2 percent of patients with intermittent claudication, usually diabetics and heavy smokers, will eventually need a major amputation.⁷¹

1.1.3 Management

Given the significant vascular mortality and morbidity in patients with peripheral arterial disease, a key part of management involves secondary prevention in optimising cardiovascular risk factors to reduce the number of cardiac and cerebral events. This includes encouraging smoking cessation, and ensuring good control of blood pressure and diabetes. Patients should also be started on anti-platelet therapy, such as aspirin or clopidogrel, and unless any contra-indications are present be started on a statin to reduce cholesterol.⁴³

Regarding the specific treatment of peripheral arterial disease, the severity of disease determines both symptoms and management. In the presence of critical ischaemia, in which the viability of a limb is threatened, surgery or endovascular procedures such as

angioplasty are the widely accepted management modalities.⁷¹ The treatment options for patients with less severe symptoms such as intermittent claudication include bypass surgery, endovascular procedures, drug therapy and exercise.^{229,255} At present, there is no consensus about management and intervention rates vary greatly between centres. Surgery is generally reserved for those with debilitating symptoms not suitable for angioplasty and unresponsive to conservative measures, but is associated with increased morbidity and mortality.⁴³ Several drug therapies have been used to try to improve the symptoms of claudication with generally limited success.¹¹¹ The main exception is cilostazol, a phosphodiesterase inhibitor, which has been shown to increase both painfree and maximal treadmill walking distance, and improve quality of life. However, common side-effects include headache, diarrhoea and palpitations, and the drug is contra-indicated in the presence of heart failure.¹³ There is also evidence that statins increase pain-free walking distance in addition to lowering cholesterol.¹⁶³

The continual development of percutaneous transluminal angioplasty (PCTA) has led to its widespread use in the treatment of intermittent claudication. However, its role is still controversial.⁴³ The recent trend in the treatment of intermittent claudication has been towards a more conservative approach, and in those with relatively mild symptoms, exercise still remains the cornerstone of treatment.⁴⁹

1.2 EXERCISE FOR INTERMITTENT CLAUDICATION

The benefits of exercise for claudicants have been known for many years. Improvements in walking after exercise training were first described by Erb in 1898. In 1988, Housley described the treatment of intermittent claudication with the 5 words: 'stop smoking and keep walking'.²⁵⁵ More recently, the TransAtlantic Inter-Society Consensus (TASC) working group publication made a recommendation that 'a programme of exercise therapy (preferably supervised) should always be considered as part of the initial treatment for patients with intermittent claudication'.⁷¹ To date, a large number of clinical trials have demonstrated the efficacy of exercise for improving walking distance, functional capacity and quality of life.

1.2.1 Supervised and Unsupervised Exercise Programmes

In clinical practice, exercise training in claudicants ranges from simple advice, in which patients are encouraged to walk regularly and to persist through the claudication pain as much as possible, to more formal supervised exercise programmes. In the UK, the majority of patients are only given exercise advice and few supervised programmes are available, due to the fact that they are very labour intensive and expensive.²⁴³

The majority of trials examining the effectiveness of exercise training have studied supervised training programmes. A meta-analysis of 21 exercise rehabilitation programmes demonstrated that the distance walked to the onset of claudication pain on a treadmill increased by 179 percent and the maximal walking distance by 122 percent following a period of exercise training. Furthermore, the components of an exercise programme that led to the greatest improvements in walking distances were: training session greater than 30 minutes duration, frequency of training sessions at least 3 times per week, walking used as the mode of training, use of near maximal pain during training as the end point, and programme length of greater than 6 months.⁹⁹ This meta-analysis included non-controlled observational studies. A Cochrane review analysed 10 randomised controlled trials involving nearly 250 patients enrolled mainly in supervised walking programmes. This analysis demonstrated a significantly increased maximal

walking time of 6.5 minutes after exercise therapy, with an improvement in walking distance of about 150 percent.¹⁴⁸

Some studies have made comparisons between the benefits of supervised exercise and unsupervised exercise. In one trial, patients were randomised to either a supervised weekly exercise class or exercise advice alone. After 6 months the supervised exercise group had improved their walking distance by 129 percent compared to only 69 percent for the exercise advice only group.⁴⁹ Several other studies also show limited benefits for unsupervised exercise, with the bulk of evidence showing that supervised exercise programmes provide the most symptomatic benefits.^{197;243} A recent Cochrane review of 8 randomised controlled trials showed a significant difference in improvement with supervised exercise training, with an approximately 150 metre greater increase in walking distance compared to unsupervised training. This difference was maintained at 6 months.¹⁸ However, despite this evidence unsupervised training is likely to be more effective than no training at all.⁷¹ There are several reasons why supervised training may be more beneficial than unsupervised training. Patients enrolled on a structured supervised exercise programme are much more likely to comply with treatment compared to those only given advice. In addition, supervised training regimes consist mainly of treadmill walking, which is able to produce higher workloads compared to walking on level ground at normal speed. These higher workloads potentially stimulate greater adaptations to training, including cardiovascular adaptations.¹⁸

Other trials have shown treadmill training to be more effective than strength training in improving walking performance in claudicants.¹¹⁶ In addition to walking ability, exercise programmes have been shown to produce improvements in functional status,

physical activity levels, and quality of life.^{97;198} Moreover, the benefits and effectiveness of exercise are similar in both smokers and non-smokers.⁹⁸ Exercise rehabilitation programmes have been shown to be safe, with no associated morbidity or mortality. Initial studies have also shown improvements in glucose metabolism, reduction in cholesterol levels, and enhanced smoking cessation. These benefits are not seen with other interventions and could potentially decrease cardiovascular risk and mortality.^{71;148}

1.2.2 Exercise Compared to Angioplasty for Intermittent Claudication

While the mainstay of treatment for intermittent claudication remains conservative therapy, improvements in the safety and technique of PCTA have resulted in an increase in the number of these procedures to treat patients with relatively mild peripheral arterial disease. PCTA involves dilating a stenosed or occluded artery, most commonly using a balloon with or without leaving a stent in-situ. However, the role of PCTA in treating patients without critical ischaemia is still controversial. Guidelines published by the American Heart Association and American College of Cardiology in 2005 stated that patients with claudication should only be considered for revascularisation if conservative measures had failed or were predicted to fail, and only then in the presence of severe disability.⁴³

Although PCTA has been shown to improve walking distance and quality of life compared to conservative treatment, more recent trials have compared the long-term efficacy of PCTA with exercise training.^{43;44} A Cochrane review demonstrated PCTA to have short term benefits that were not sustained in the long-term.⁹⁶ Another randomised-controlled trial showed patients in an exercise group to have greater

improvements at 15 months compared to a PCTA group. In addition, claudicants with superficial femoral artery disease seem to benefit more from exercise, compared to those with aortoiliac disease.¹⁸⁸ A further Cochrane review showed no significant benefits from the placing of a stent compared to angioplasty alone in claudicants.¹²

In summary, a large number of trials have shown exercise training to be a safe, noninvasive and effective method to increase the walking ability, quality of life and general health of claudicants. It is beneficial to all patients who are able to exercise, is more effective than PCTA in the long-term and should remain as the principal treatment for intermittent claudication.

1.2.3 Mechanisms for Improvement with Exercise

Although the benefits of exercise are well recognised, the precise mechanisms that lead to an improvement in walking ability are not fully understood, and have recently been identified as an area requiring further research.⁸⁶ However, it appears that a combination of adaptive mechanisms, some not observed in healthy individuals, account for the benefits seen after training (Figure 1.2) These act by reversing some of the pathophysiological processes underlying the condition, and are described below:

Increased Blood Flow

Traditionally, improvements in walking ability following exercise have been attributed to an increase in blood flow secondary to the development of collateral vessels that 'bypass' the arterial stenoses or occlusions. The development of these collateral vessels is a universal response to muscle ischaemia, but is inconsistent and the vessels produce variable amounts of flow.²⁰⁹ However, in some cases these collaterals may compensate



Figure 1.2 Summary of Potential Mechanisms Leading to Improved Walking Ability with Exercise Training.

At present, data are insufficient to accurately quantify the relative importance of each mechanism. Adapted from Stewart *et al.*²⁴⁴

for the arterial stenoses enough to minimise or even eliminate ischaemic symptoms, with proximal collateral vessels appearing to be more effective than distal collaterals in reducing symptoms.⁸⁶ The development of collateral vessels involves the enlargement and remodeling of pre-existing arterioles into mature vessels, a process called arteriogenesis.²²² The mechanism underlying arteriogenesis is poorly understood, but may involve increased sheer stress in the arterioles, caused by the redistributed blood flow, activating the endothelium and stimulating the release of factors such as placental growth factor (PIGF).^{157;222} Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is not thought to play a major role.¹¹⁰ Other studies have shown that muscle capillaries may also become arteriolised- a process associated with increased fibroblast growth factor-2 expression.¹⁵

Despite the significant evidence for collateral vessel formation, the development of collateral vessels and an increase in gross blood flow appears to play a limited role in improving walking ability with exercise training in claudicants. The majority of studies in claudicants have shown little or no increase in blood flow following an exercise programme, even when significant improvements in walking ability have been recorded.^{244;255} When increases in blood flow have been detected, they are poorly correlated to improvements in walking distance.^{71;114} Similarly, studies have consistently shown a poor correlation between leg blood flow and walking ability.²⁵⁵ PCTA, which results in a patent artery and increased blood flow, is associated with less marked increases in walking ability than exercise.¹⁸⁸ These findings might be explained by animal models of ischaemia, which show that arteriogenesis occurs 10 days after femoral artery ligation, peaks at 20-40 days, and is not temporally associated with ischaemia.¹¹⁰ One might speculate that in stable claudicants (the subjects of most exercise studies), collateral development has already occurred and thus would be

unlikely to contribute to improvements in walking ability. Furthermore, since ischaemia *per se* does not appear to be the stimulus for arteriogenesis, exercise programmes that involve repeated episodes of ischaemia would be unlikely to activate the pathways linked to arteriogenesis.

As there is currently little evidence to support an increase in blood flow as a major factor in the increase in walking ability after training, other mechanisms must account for the improvements seen. Some have proposed that while overall blood flow does not increase, training may result in a redistribution of blood from inactive to exercising muscles. Another finding is increased capillary density in the muscles.²⁶¹ The sprouting of new capillaries in the muscles is a separate phenomenon to arteriogenesis, and is termed angiogenesis.²⁵³ Unlike arteriogenesis, angiogenesis is mediated by ischaemia and it has been suggested that repeated training, causing transient hypoxia, may increase the expression of VEGF resulting in endogenous angiogenesis.²⁴⁴ Several animal models have shown upregulation of VEGF with ischaemia.¹⁵¹ The effects of increased capillary density in active muscles may include a redistribution of blood flow, improved substrate delivery and the enhanced removal of metabolites. This is supported by findings showing a reduction in femoral venous oxygen saturation in claudicants after training, indicating increased oxygen uptake in the muscles.²³⁹ Therefore, while gross increases in blood flow do not appear to be important in the improvement in walking ability with exercise training, the improved local delivery and distribution of the limited blood supply due to angiogenesis could be a much more important mechanism underlying improvements. Moreover, the mechanism underlying angiogenesis is promoted by ischaemia, and will thus be stimulated by an exercise programme. VEGF and angiogenesis will be discussed in more detail in Section 1.4.

Changes in Muscle Metabolism

Several adaptations occur in skeletal muscle following exercise training that lead to an improvement in the aerobic capacity of the muscles and hence a reversal of the metabolic dysfunction seen in claudicants prior to training. Animal models have shown that these adaptations only occur with a combination of training and hypoxia, and that hypoxia alone does not induce any change.²⁵⁵ Studies of muscle biopsies before and after an exercise training programme have revealed significant increases in oxidative enzymes such as cytochrome oxidase and succinic oxidase, with smaller increases in citrate synthase after training.¹²¹ Fatty acid oxidative metabolism is also enhanced, as shown by the decrease in respiratory exchange ratio for a given workload after training.¹¹⁴ This increase in fatty acid metabolism reflects an increase in mitochondrial function and/or better oxygen delivery, but is generally indicative of increased oxidative capacity. In contrast, no changes are seen in anaerobic capacity.²⁵⁵ The decreased reliance on anaerobic pathways has been observed in studies examining venous blood samples in claudicants, with decreased lactic acid levels at similar workloads noted after a period of training.^{239;254} An increase in arteriovenous oxygen gradient is also noted, indicating increased muscle oxygen extraction, possibly related to increased muscle myoglobin concentration.^{122;144} Furthermore, exercise training has also been shown to reduce the level of acylcarnitines that accumulate in the leg muscles of claudicants secondary to defective oxidative metabolism, with the extent of removal correlated to improvements in walking ability.^{114;115}

Another metabolic effect potentially underlying exercise related improvements in claudicants is ischaemic preconditioning, a phenomenon whereby short periods of ischaemia offer protection from a later episode of prolonged ischaemia. This was first
described in the heart, but has now been demonstrated in many other tissues including skeletal muscle.³⁰¹ Several short periods of ischaemia have been shown to improve the subsequent ischaemic tolerance of skeletal muscle, with preservation of force production, decrease in lactate accumulation, decreased ATP depletion and reduction of necrosis all observed.^{2;32} The mechanism for this protection is thought to relate to the activation of Protein kinase C by triggers such as adenosine and bradykinin. This leads to altered nuclear transcription and the opening of mitochondrial K_{ATP} channels, resulting in preserved ATP generation in low oxygen conditions.³⁰⁰ Whether these effects are reflected in less severe models of ischemia such as intermittent claudication or produce long-term benefits remain to be seen. However, in one study claudicants 'preconditioned' by performing several submaximal walking exercises performed better in a subsequent maximal walking test.³⁷

Changes in Endothelial Function and the Microcirculation

Endothelial dysfunction has been demonstrated in patients with peripheral arterial disease, secondary to a decrease in nitric oxide (NO) synthesis.²⁹⁹ This causes a decrease in exercise induced hyperaemia, and hence impaired substrate delivery to the muscles. Short-term exercise has been shown to stimulate endothelium-dependent vasodilatation. In the long-term, the sheer stress caused by increased blood flow from repeated episodes of exercise increases the endothelial expression of NO synthase and prostacyclin, improving endothelial function and vasodilatation in response to exercise.¹⁷⁹ Although few studies of endothelial function in claudicants have been performed, one study has shown an increase in endothelial dependent vasodilatation of 61% and an increase in post-occlusive reactive hyperaemic blood flow of 15%, following a 6 month period of exercise rehabilitation.²⁷

Reduction of Exercise-Induced Inflammation

It has been suggested that exercise training could actually be harmful to patients, by promoting a systemic inflammatory response that decreases muscle function and promotes atherosclerosis.²⁶⁸ Indeed, in claudicants baseline levels of inflammatory markers are raised, and exercise to the point of muscle pain generates free radicals, activates neutrophils and produces an inflammatory reaction.²⁶⁷ However, in the long-term exercise training causes an attenuation of these inflammatory markers, with training resulting in a decrease in C-reactive protein and serum amyloid levels.²⁶⁶ This decrease in the inflammatory response may lead to improvements in muscle function and walking ability, and concerns that exercise training might potentiate vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis appear to be unjustified.²⁶⁷

Changes in Haemorheology

Haemorheology describes the behaviour and fluidity of blood, which is abnormal in claudicants with many having elevated blood viscosity.²⁵⁴ Exercise training has been shown to reverse these abnormalities, with a reduction of blood and plasma viscosity, an increase in red cell filterability, and a decrease in red cell aggregation noted.⁸³ These changes increase the fluidity of blood and are thought to allow increased oxygen delivery to exercising muscles, thus enhancing walking performance. However, other studies have revealed no benefits after an exercise programme.^{52;254}

Changes in the Cardiorespiratory System and Biomechanics of Walking

Some of the benefits of exercise training may be due to an improvement in systemic cardiovascular status. Exercise trained patients have lower resting and exercise heart rates compared to untrained patients. Peak oxygen consumption also increases.¹¹⁴ One

group has demonstrated that upper limb exercise training in claudicants, resulting in an increase in cardiovascular fitness, also produces significant improvements in walking distance similar to those observed after lower limb training.^{282;312} Another observation noted after walking programmes is a decrease in steady-state oxygen consumption for equivalent workloads during treadmill testing.^{115;254} This implies that the oxygen cost for the same workload has decreased.²⁵⁵ However, although central cardiovascular adaptations may improve walking ability, significant improvements in walking distance may occur in the absence of any increase in cardiovascular fitness.¹⁷⁸

Another potential factor leading to improvements after an exercise programme is an improvement in the biomechanics and mechanical efficiency of walking after training.^{244;255} Patients with claudication pain often adapt their gait to favour stability at the expense of velocity. This maladaptation increases the oxygen cost of walking, but may be reversed by exercise training.²⁴⁴ This theory is supported by evidence which shows that after 4 months training, less oxygen is used at a given workload on a treadmill.²⁹⁰ Other studies have also reported that oxygen uptake, respiratory exchange ratio, lactate levels, and heart rate were all lower in exercise trained claudicants.^{114;116} Whilst this may reflect improved biomechanics and mechanical efficiency, an increase in muscular metabolic efficiency may also contribute to this effect, and may also help to explain increases in walking ability noted after upper limb training.²⁸² One factor that has been shown to enhance muscular efficiency in response to training is a polymorphism of the angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) gene, which forms part of the renin-angiotensin system.²⁸⁸ In addition, this polymorphism is allied to improved endurance, reduced inflammation and enhanced endothelial function, all factors known to be important for increasing walking ability in claudicants after training.

1.3 ANGIOTENSIN-CONVERTING ENZYME

ACE forms an integral part of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS). Its main role is in the production of angiotensin II (Ang-II) from angiotensin I, and the degradation of bradykinin (BK). Ang-II and BK are the key physiologically active components of the RAS, and thus their rate of production or degradation is one of the major determinants of the activity of the RAS. A functional polymorphism of the ACE gene has been described that is linked to variation in ACE activity, and has been shown to have widespread physiological effects. The effects of ACE and the ACE I/D polymorphism will be discussed in this section.

1.3.1 Renin-Angiotensin System: Overview

The Circulating Renin-Angiotensin System

The discovery of a metabolic pathway that contributed a major role to circulatory homeostasis was made in the 1950's.⁵⁴ This pathway, termed the circulating RAS, is important in regulating blood pressure, sodium homeostasis and fluid balance.¹⁰⁷ In the circulating RAS, a decrease in renal perfusion pressure stimulates the production and release of renin, a proteolytic enzyme, from the juxta-glomerular cells of the kidney into the circulation. Renin cleaves angiotensinogen, a circulating α_2 -globulin synthesised by the liver, to form the decapeptide angiotensin-I. ACE, which is found both as a membrane bound protein at the cell surface and in circulating plasma (soluble ACE), subsequently further cleaves angiotensin-I to form the octapeptide Ang-II.¹⁴⁵ Ang-II exerts several effects including salt and water retention via the release of aldosterone from the adrenal cortex, and vasoconstriction.⁵⁴ Moreover, another important role of ACE is in the degradation and inactivation of BK, which otherwise has potent vasodilatory effects and influences muscle metabolism. Finally, Ang-II can be further

degraded to form angiotensin III, angiotensin IV and angiotensin-(1-7). These biologically active peptides may contribute some of the effects of RAS, although their relative contribution is unclear.³⁶ The key components of the circulating RAS are summarised in Figure 1.3.

Local Renin-Angiotensin Systems

In addition to the circulating RAS, local RASs have also been described in various tissues including the heart, brain, lung, pancreas and adipose tissue.¹³¹ A local RAS has now been discovered in skeletal muscle.^{72;221} This local skeletal muscle RAS depends on a combination of in-situ synthesis of all the RAS components and the uptake of renin or prorenin from the circulation.⁶³ ACE has been identified on both skeletal muscle membranes and on endothelial cells of the capillary bed.^{72;221} In animal models, local skeletal muscle ACE accounts for up to 50% of BK hydrolysis, and angiotensin II generated locally has been shown to be of functional importance.^{72;131} The role of this local RAS is still debated but may include growth stimulation, neovascularisation, and the regulation of inflammation.¹²⁶ The importance of tissue RAS as a potential therapeutic target comes from evidence that the anti-hypertensive properties of ACE inhibitors correlate better with the inhibition of tissue ACE, rather than plasma ACE. Furthermore, the additional benefits of ACE inhibitors such as improved endothelial function and reduction in inflammation, appear to be independent of changes in blood pressure, and are thought to relate to effects on local RAS systems.⁷⁵

Angiotensin-II Receptors

Ang-II produces its effects via two main receptors, type I (AT_1) and type II (AT_2), which were originally classified according to their ability to bind with various



Figure 1.3 Summary of the Renin-Angiotensin System

ACE catalyses the production of Ang-II and the degradation of BK. Thus, a decrease in ACE activity will lead to lower levels of Ang-II and increased levels of BK.

antagonists.²⁶⁴ More recently, two other angiotensin II receptors (AT₃ and AT₄) have been described, but their role has yet to be clearly defined.¹⁵⁰ AT₁ and AT₂ receptors are both seven transmembrane domain G-protein coupled receptors, although they appear to have quite different pharmacology. The AT₁ receptor is expressed ubiquitously and appears to mediate most of the well known biological effects of Ang-II.¹⁵⁰ In contrast, the role of the AT₂ receptor is less well understood. Although it is highly expressed in foetal tissues during development, its expression decreases markedly after birth. However, the AT₂ receptor can be upregulated in pathological conditions, for example after injury, during wound healing and by ischaemia.^{150;236} It appears to have an opposing role to the AT₁ receptor, antagonising its actions.¹²⁷

1.3.2 The ACE I/D Polymorphism

Since ACE acts as the primary catalyst for Ang-II production, any factor affecting ACE activity will have substantial effects on the RAS. The ACE gene is located on chromosome 17q23, spanning 21 kilobases and containing 26 exons. Two isoforms of ACE are produced by this gene: gonadal ACE is expressed only in the testes and will not be considered further, while somatic ACE is expressed throughout the body.¹²⁴ ACE levels have been shown to vary considerably between individuals, but less so within families, indicating a genetic influence on ACE levels.³⁴

Rigat *et al.* discovered a functional polymorphism of the ACE gene consisting of the presence (insertion, I-allele) or absence (deletion, d-allele) of a 287 base pair fragment at intron 16 on the ACE gene (Figure 1.4).²⁰³ Presence of the I-allele is known to affect both serum and tissue ACE, and is associated with reduced ACE activity.^{64;203} Thus, three genotypes are possible: II (with low ACE activity), ID (with intermediate ACE





Figure 1.4 Schematic Diagram of the ACE Gene Illustrating the Insertion/Deletion Polymorphism

The ACE gene is found on the long arm of chromosome 17. The I/D polymorphism consists of the presence (I-allele) or absence (D-allele) of a 287bp *Alu* repeat sequence at intron 16 of the ACE gene.

activity) and DD (with high ACE activity). In Caucasians, the I- and D-alleles are equally common. Thus, 25% of the population will have the II genotype, 50% ID, and 25% the DD genotype.^{131;167}

Although the polymorphism occurs within an intron, it is a very strong marker for ACE activity and accounts for up to 47% of the variance in serum ACE activity.²⁰³ The insertion consists of a repeat *alu* sequence.²⁰⁴ These *alu* insertional elements are abundant and occur throughout the human genome, and can reduce the transcription of adjacent regions in the genome by a variety of mechanisms, for example by inducing methylation or by promoting local nucleosome assembly.²¹³ Indeed, in heterozygote ID individuals, more ACE mRNA has been shown to originate from the D-allele than the I-allele.²⁴⁶ However, it also remains possible that the I/D polymorphism is only a marker for ACE activity, and that it is in strong linkage disequilibrium with another polymorphism which may be directly responsible for the variations in ACE.¹⁸⁶

The ACE I/D polymorphism has been associated with many pathological conditions, including diabetic renal disease, atherosclerosis and cardiac growth.^{25;35;169} Low ACE activity has also been linked to many functional and physiological changes, which could be of significance in considering adaptations seen in claudicants in response to training.

1.3.3 ACE Polymorphism: Effects on Endurance Training

A number of recent studies have suggested that presence of the I-allele is associated with increased endurance performance, with an excess of I-alleles occurring in elite endurance athletes. These studies are summarised in Table 1.1. In addition, the benefits of the I-allele relate to an improved training response rather than endowing an

Table 1.1Studies Showing an Association Between ACE I/D Genotype and
Physical Performance

Reference	Subjects	End-point	Findings
Montgomery <i>et al.</i> ¹⁷⁰ (1998)	British male Caucasian army recruits (n=123)	Repetitive elbow flexion with a 15kg barbell after a 10 week general physical training program	I-allele associated with improved response to endurance training
Montgomery <i>et al.</i> ¹⁷⁰ (1998)	Elite Mountain Climbers (n=25)	Genotype distribution among elite climbers compared to controls	An excess of II- and deficiency of DD-genotypes in the elite climbers
Gayagay <i>et al.</i> ¹⁰¹ (1998)	Australian Caucasian Olympic trial male and female rowers (n=64)	Allele and genotype distribution in elite rowers compared to matched controls	I-allele and II genotype frequency significantly increased in elite rowers
Myerson <i>et al.</i> ¹⁷³ (1999)	British male and female Olympic standard runners of mixed distances (n=79)	Allele frequency and genotype distribution compared to distance run and matched controls	I-allele associated with endurance events and D- allele associated with power events
Woods <i>et al.</i> ²⁹³ (2001)	Caucasian elite male and female swimmers (n=56)	Allele and genotype distribution in elite swimmers compared to non-elite swimmers	DD genotype and D-allele associated with elite power- orientated short distance swimmers
Nazarov <i>et al.</i> ¹⁷⁵ (2001)	Russian athletes of both sexes from various sports (n=217)	Allele and genotype distribution of 'outstanding' athletes stratified by event duration compared to matched controls	An excess of the D-allele associated with outstanding short distance athletes, and an excess of the I-allele associated with outstanding middle distance athletes
Tsianos <i>et al.</i> ²⁷² (2004)	Elite male and female long distance swimmers (n=35)	Comparison of ACE genotype frequency with swimming event longevity	I allele associated with longer distance and D allele with shorter distance swimmers
Hruskovicova <i>et al.</i> ¹²³ (2006)	Successful long distance runners and skaters (n=455)	Genotype and allele frequency compared to sedentary controls	An excess of the I-allele and II genotype in successful marathon runners and skaters

individual with innate endurance capacity, as prior to training performance is independent of genotype.¹⁷⁰ In contrast to the I-allele, the D-allele appears to be associated with increased power-orientated performance (Table 1.1). In addition, several studies, summarised in Table 1.2, have found no association between ACE genotype and athletic performance. However, a common attribute of these studies of elite athletes was that they were selected from a wide range of disciplines, and often from events in which endurance performance alone was not a pre-requisite for success. Such heterogeneous groups of athletes were unlikely to produce reliable information. The studies of response to training in army recruits also used subjects from broad backgrounds, and exposed them to diverse training regimes and were thus unlikely to find a significant correlation.²³⁸

ACE Polymorphism and Skeletal Muscle Efficiency

In searching for a potential physiological interaction between the I-allele and enhanced endurance trainability, some investigators have measured maximal oxygen uptake (VO₂ max), a standard measure of cardiorespiratory fitness.¹³⁰ Several studies have shown no relationship between ACE genotype or improved endurance with VO₂ max.^{130;131;295} Indeed, individuals with similar VO₂ max can differ widely in endurance performance.⁶⁰ It is thus unlikely that the enhanced endurance performance associated with the I-allele is related to changes in cardiovascular capacity. The lack of association between VO₂ max and endurance may also explain some of the negative studies reported in Table 1.2.

Another theory proposes a local muscular effect as the underlying physiological link between the I-allele and endurance performance.²⁸⁸ One study revealed that oxygen consumption at a fixed workload in army recruits decreased significantly after general

Table 1.2Studies Showing No Association Between ACE I/D Genotype and
Physical Performance

Reference	Subjects	End-point	Findings
Taylor <i>et al.</i> ²⁶⁰ (1999)	Australian Caucasian national standard aerobic athletes of both sexes and various sports (n=120)	ACE I/D polymorphism genotype distribution among athletes compared to matched controls	No difference in ACE genotype frequencies between athletes and controls
Rankinen <i>et al.</i> ¹⁹⁶ (2000)	Male endurance athletes from various sports (n=192)	I/D allele and genotype distribution, and maximal oxygen uptake in athletes compared to sedentary controls	I/D allele and genotype frequencies similar between athletes and controls. No association between I-allele and maximal oxygen uptake
Rankinen <i>et al.</i> ¹⁹⁵ (2000)	Healthy Caucasian and black sedentary subjects of both sexes (n=476)	Changes in cardiorespiratory endurance parameters following a personalised 20 week training program	No association between ACE genotype and responses to endurance training, except in Caucasians where DD homozygotes had greatest improvements
Sonna <i>et al.</i> ²³⁸ (2001)	Male and female ethnically diverse US Army recruits (n=147)	Changes in peak oxygen uptake and performance in Army Physical Fitness Test (APFT) following an 8 week physical training programme	No significant association between ACE genotype and peak oxygen uptake or APFT score before and after training
Scott <i>et al.</i> ²²⁴ (2005)	International Kenyan distance runners (n=70)	Comparison of I/D allele frequency with national athletes and matched controls	ACE I/D polymorphism not associated with elite endurance status in Kenyans

training. This reduction was more marked in subjects with II genotype compared with DD subjects, suggesting an ability after training to perform 'more work for less oxygen'.²⁹⁵ Delta efficiency, which represents the efficiency of muscular contraction, was also examined in these recruits. Prior to training, delta efficiency was independent of genotype, but after training delta efficiency increased in II subjects, whereas no changes were seen in DD recruits.²⁸⁸ At least some of these effects on muscular efficiency are thought to be mediated by elevation of BK activity.²⁸⁷ Another study has shown that the II genotype leads to a relative sparing of energy reserves during a period of intense training, suggesting enhanced metabolic efficiency.¹⁶⁸ Thus, in summary the low ACE activity related I-allele is associated with improved responses to endurance training, a benefit which seems to be allied to an improvement in muscular efficiency.

1.3.4 ACE Polymorphism: Effects on Inflammation

Reduction of inflammation has previously been postulated as a cause for improvements in claudicants with exercise (Section 1.2.3). Moreover, increased inflammatory markers are associated with worse physical performance in elderly.⁴⁷ The RAS has an important function in regulating inflammatory responses and ACE has been shown to have a pro-inflammatory role in almost every stage of acute inflammation.¹⁶⁶ An increase in local ACE expression is associated with macrophage activation, and may play a crucial role in conducting local tissue inflammatory responses.¹⁴⁶ ACE may also be important in regulating systemic inflammation via the Ang-II stimulation of interleukin-6.³¹

Reduction in ACE activity has been shown to attenuate systemic inflammatory responses.¹⁶⁶ Likewise, AT₁ receptor antagonists have been shown to reduce levels of C-reactive protein and pro-inflammatory factors in normal individuals.⁶² Conversely, in

inflammatory diseases such as acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), patients have both elevated ACE activity and Ang-II levels, and the D-allele is associated with increased incidence and poorer outcome.^{160;285} Similarly, in meningococcal septicaemia the ACE DD genotype is associated with increased severity of sepsis and higher mortality.¹⁰⁸

1.3.5 ACE Polymorphism: Other Associations

In addition to muscular efficiency and inflammation, the ACE genotype is allied to other associations that may augment the response to exercise training in claudicants. Low ACE activity associated with the I-allele has been suggested to mediate some of its effects by improving endothelial function through the increase in half-life of BK.¹³¹ Supporting this theory is evidence which shows that endothelial dependent vasodilatation is significantly higher in endurance athletes with the II genotype, compared to those of DD genotype.²⁵⁶ The DD genotype has also been associated with endothelial dysfunction and reduced vasodilatory responses in the coronary and peripheral arteries of normal subjects.^{33;172} However, one study has shown no effect of the I/D polymorphism on endothelial function.²¹² An increase in vasodilatation has already been proposed as a mechanism for improvements in walking ability with training, and thus changes in ACE activity may modulate this effect.

The I-allele is also associated with an increase in slow twitch, fatigue resistant type I muscle fibres, and a reciprocal decrease in fast twitch, fatigable type IIb muscle fibres.³¹⁰ Likewise, elite rowers shown to have an excess of the I-allele also have a tendency to possess a high proportion of type I muscle fibres.¹³¹ Although low ACE activity related to the I-allele has been related to many benefits that could improve

claudicants' responses to exercise training, as yet no evidence is available that associates the I/D polymorphism with angiogenesis. However, the RAS has been shown to be involved in the angiogenic process, with ACE inhibitors demonstrated to modulate the process in contrasting ways within different tissues and disease states.

1.4 ACE AND ANGIOGENESIS

The sprouting of new capillaries in muscle, termed angiogenesis, has been suggested as a mechanism for improvement in claudicants after exercise training.^{253;261;292} The beneficial effects of increased capillary density in active muscles could include a redistribution of blood flow with less shunting, improved substrate delivery and the enhanced removal of metabolites, enabling best use of the limited blood supply.

1.4.1 Angiogenesis: Cellular Events

Angiogenesis is characterised by the sprouting of new capillaries from the ends or sides of pre-existing vessels (Figure 1.5). Several distinct events have been established and are described below:

Increased Vascular Permeability and Breakdown of Cell Contacts

Angiogenesis is initiated by vasodilatation and an increase in vascular permeability. This allows the extravasation of plasma proteins, which provide a provisional scaffold for migrating endothelial cells.^{39;78} Inter-endothelial cell contacts are relaxed, the underlying matrix loosens and smooth muscle cells detach, allowing the endothelial cells to migrate.¹⁵⁸ Proteinases such as the matrix metalloproteinases and plasminogen activators are also released, which degrade the extracellular matrix, causing the release of more growth factors and creating room for endothelial cells to migrate into.¹⁷⁶



Figure 1.5 Vascular Growth in the Adult

Vascular growth may occur via *Vasculogenesis* (the mobilisation of angioblasts from the bone marrow), *Angiogenesis* (capillary sprouting) or by *Arteriogenesis* (collateral growth from existing vessels). Taken from *Carmeliet*.³⁹

Migration and Lumen Development

With the physical barriers to angiogenesis degraded, endothelial cells proliferate and migrate into the cleared path. As they migrate into the extracellular matrix, the endothelial cells initially assemble into solid cords, which subsequently develop a lumen. This is achieved by intercalation and thinning of the cells, and is accompanied by fusion with pre-existing vessels to increase their diameter and length.^{39;57}

Survival and Remodelling

Once the new vessels are assembled, the endothelial cells become quiescent and can survive for years. With time remodelling occurs and the vessels mature into a structured network of branching vessels.³⁸

The angiogenic process is mediated by many different angiogenic factors including placental growth factor (PIGF), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), fibroblast growth factors (FGF) and Angiopoietin-2.^{38;153;158;189} Another crucial factor regulating angiogenesis, which is involved in many stages of the process, is VEGF.

1.4.2 Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

Vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF) is the most important mediator of neovascularisation associated with human diseases.⁸⁹ It is a multi-tasking cytokine, affecting diverse tissues and stimulating a variety of events.³⁰⁸ VEGF belongs to a family of related growth factors, which also includes VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D and PIGF. VEGF-C and VEGF-D are primarily lymphangiogenic factors, while PIGF has a primary role in arteriogenesis.²⁵³ The role of VEGF-B *in vivo* is not known, but it may act a weak angiogenic factor.²³⁵

VEGF Isoforms

The VEGF gene is located on chromosome 6p23.1 and spans approximately 14 kilobases, containing 8 exons and 7 introns.^{208,265} As a result of differential splicing and proteolytic processing, at least six isoforms are produced from the gene, which are named according to the number of amino acid residues: 121, 145, 165, 183, 189 and 206. Of these VEGF₁₂₁, VEGF₁₆₅ and VEGF₁₈₉ are the major forms secreted by most cells types.²⁰⁸ VEGF₁₂₁ lacks the amino acid residues encoded by exons 6 and 7, and exists as a freely diffusible protein as it does not bind to cell surface heparins. Although VEGF₁₂₁ mRNA transcripts are the most abundant, VEGF₁₆₅ is the most common and biologically active protein.^{201;309} VEGF₁₆₅ lacks the residues encoded by exon 6, and has intermediate properties with approximately half binding to the extracellular matrix and half freely diffusible. The importance of the VEGF₁₆₅ isoform as the principle effector of VEGF is underlined by studies showing that mice lacking the equivalent of VEGF₁₆₅ tend to die soon after birth, whilst those only expressing VEGF₁₆₅ and no other isoforms are healthy.^{42;240} Finally, VEGF₁₈₉ is almost completely bound to the extracellular matrix, making it a reservoir for VEGF that can be mobilised by proteolysis.⁹⁰

VEGF Receptors

The biological effects of VEGF are mediated via two related receptor tyrosine kinases, VEGFR-1 (fms-like tyrosine kinase, Flt-1) and VEGFR-2 (kinase-insert domain receptor, KDR) found on the vascular endothelium.^{231;262} The precise function of VEGFR-1 is still a matter for debate. However, the evidence suggests that the properties of VEGFR-1 vary depending on the developmental stage, pathology and tissue type.⁹⁰ In some circumstances, VEGFR-1 is thought to act as a 'decoy' receptor, negatively regulating the actions of VEGF by binding it but not transmitting an intracellular signal.

In other situations, VEGFR-1 is capable of VEGF signalling, but only weakly.³⁰⁸ In addition, a soluble form of VEGFR-1 exists (sVEGFR-1), created by alternative splicing of VEGFR-1 mRNA and consisting of the extracellular domain of the VEGFR-1.¹³⁵ sVEGFR-1 acts purely as a decoy, binding free VEGF to form an inactive complex and thereby inhibiting its actions.⁸⁹ Conversely, VEGFR-2 is the most biologically important of the VEGF receptors, and is the primary receptor mediating the mitogenic, angiogenic and permeability enhancing effects of VEGF in the endothelium.^{90;253} Indeed, mice lacking the equivalent of VEGFR-2 completely fail to develop a vasculature and die *in utero*.²²⁸ Lastly, VEGF may also bind to neuropilin receptors.¹³⁷ These are non-tyrosine kinase receptors, and due to the lack of any associated signalling function are not thought to be functional *per se*.³⁰⁸ The relationship between the major VEGF isoforms and receptors are summarised in Figure 1.6.

1.4.3 VEGF and Angiogenesis

The link between VEGF and angiogenesis has been demonstrated in many studies, with VEGF playing a major role in several stages of the process. As well as its importance as a factor in angiogenesis in the developing embryo, VEGF also mediates pathological angiogenesis in the adult. The effects of VEGF in angiogenesis are regulated almost entirely by VEGFR-2.⁴⁶ However, more recent data have also indicated an essential role for VEGFR-1 in pathological angiogenesis, which acts by potentiating VEGFR-2 signalling.^{46;185}

In the initial stages of angiogenesis, VEGF mediates an increase in vascular permeability by redistributing intercellular adhesion molecules and altering cell membrane structure.⁷⁸ In fact, VEGF was originally termed vascular permeability



Figure 1.6 Overview of the Interactions Between the Major VEGF Isoforms and Receptors Involved in Angiogenesis

The majority of the biological effects of VEGF are mediated by the binding of VEGF₁₆₅ to VEGFR-2 receptors. VEGFR-1 receptors can sometimes produce a weak intracellular signal, whilst sVEGFR-1 receptors are inhibitory and act by binding free VEGF.

factor.²²⁷ VEGF also subsequently stimulates the proliferation and migration of endothelial cells from existing vessels to new sites.⁸⁸ Moreover, VEGF₁₂₁ and VEGF₁₆₅ in combination with Angiopoietin-1 are critical in lumen formation and increasing vessel diameter.²⁴⁷ In the longer term, VEGF acts as a survival factor for endothelial cells, with a reduction in VEGF level associated with vessel regression.^{8;41} In concert with the local environment, VEGF is also important in the differentiation of the endothelium according to local needs, and the remodelling of new vessels into functional networks.^{40;205}

The strong link between VEGF and angiogenesis has led to attempts to manipulate VEGF in an attempt to enhance angiogenesis and produce clinical improvements in ischaemia. Activation of VEGF in rabbits with ischaemic legs has been shown to increase capillary density and improve blood flow.⁶¹ Recent trials using adenoviral VEGF gene transfer techniques to upregulate VEGF and stimulate angiogenesis have also been successful in animal models. However, human trials including the recent Regional Angiogenesis with Vascular Endothelial growth factor (RAVE) trial, using similar adenoviral gene transfer techniques to upregulate VEGF, have not been related to any clinical improvements in humans.¹⁹⁴ The results of this trial illustrate the complex processes underlying VEGF regulation.

1.4.4 VEGF Regulation

Hypoxia-Inducible Factor (HIF)-1

The major stimulus underlying VEGF transcription is hypoxia. VEGF and VEGFR regulation in hypoxia is summarised in Figure 1.7. Hypoxia triggers numerous responses in a cell including an increase in VEGF mRNA, and it has now been



Figure 1.7 VEGF and VEGF Receptor Regulation in Hypoxia

Hypoxia leads to stabilisation of HIF-1 α and increased HIF-1 levels. HIF-1 directly upregulates VEGF and VEGFR-1 expression. Growth factors and cytokines induced by HIF-1 may in turn upregulate VEGF and VEGFR-2. VEGFR-2 is also upregulated by VEGF itself.

established that hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 is the key mediator of these hypoxic responses.²²⁶ HIF-1 is a transcriptional factor which acts as the master regulator of oxygen homeostasis and has been linked to over a hundred target genes.^{192;225} It consists of a heterodimer composed of a constitutively expressed HIF-1β subunit and an inducibly expressed HIF-1α subunit, and is regulated by cellular oxygen levels and growth factors.²⁸³ The HIF-1α subunit is usually subject to rapid degradation in non-hypoxic conditions. However, this process is inhibited by hypoxia resulting in an exponential increase in HIF-1α levels as oxygen concentrations decrease.³⁰⁵ This stabilization of HIF-1α increases the formation of HIF-1 heterodimers, which in turn bind to hypoxia-responsive elements (HRE) in the promoters of hypoxia inducible genes, including VEGF and VEGFR-1, initiating transcription.^{95;102} However, the VEGFR-2 promoter lacks this site, although its expression is also increased in hypoxia.

VEGF Expression in Ischaemic Skeletal Muscle

Although ischaemia has been demonstrated to increase VEGF expression via HIF-1, studies of human skeletal muscle from patients with leg ischaemia have revealed a more complex picture. VEGF and VEGFR-2 have both been shown to be downregulated in subjects with chronic ischaemia.^{274;278} However, in cases of acute-on-chronic ischaemia HIF1- α , VEGF and VEGFR-2 gene expression are all significantly upregulated by 3-, 7- and 2-fold respectively.^{274;278} In other words, different gene expression patterns occur in different states, with increases in HIF-1 α , VEGF and VEGFR-2 associated only with acute ischaemia. Indeed, one might speculate that the repeated episodes of acute ischaemia produced by an exercise training programme could over time stimulate increases in the VEGF/VEGFR-2 axis and produce angiogenesis. However, one study

of claudicants showed no acute rise in VEGF protein levels in response to acute exercise, or any increase in VEGF levels after 6 weeks training.²⁹² As yet, no study in humans has examined the effects of exercise training in claudicants on VEGF/VEGFR gene expression.

Growth Factor and Cytokine Regulation

In addition to hypoxia and HIF-1, VEGF production is also regulated by the paracrine or autocrine release of growth factors including epidermal growth factor, transforming growth factor (TGF)- α , TGF- β , keratinocyte growth factor, insulin-like growth factor-1, FGF and PDGF.^{91;177} Inflammatory cytokines such as II-1 α and II-6 also induce VEGF expression in some cell types.¹⁷⁷ Finally, Ang-II and BK, which are both closely modulated by ACE and whose activity is altered by ACE inhibition, have also been demonstrated to regulate VEGF release.^{233;289}

1.4.5 Effects of ACE Inhibition on VEGF and Angiogenesis

The role of the RAS and of ACE in angiogenesis has recently been the subject of many studies, and is not yet fully understood. The evidence accumulated to date has often been conflicting, frequently with opposite effects observed depending on the tissues examined and experimental protocols used. Many of these studies have examined the effects of ACE inhibitors on angiogenesis. These are outlined below:

Effects of ACE Inhibitors in Cancer

The suggestion that ACE inhibitors could decrease the incidence of cancer led to the instigation of many studies examining their effects on tumour growth and angiogenesis.¹⁴⁹ One of the initial studies revealed that captopril inhibited angiogenesis

and tumour growth in rats.²⁸¹ Further studies have shown that perindopril significantly inhibits angiogenesis *in vivo* in mouse models of hepatocellular carcinoma and in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma.^{180;298} Perindopril also inhibits angiogenesis in hepatocellular carcinoma in association with a concomitant suppression of VEGF expression.³⁰² Decreased angiogenesis mediated by perindopril has been associated with a reduction in Ang-II production, reduced VEGF promoter activity and decreased VEGF transcription.²⁹⁸ Moreover, decreases in both Ang-II and VEGF have been suggested as key mechanisms underlying reduced angiogenesis following ACE inhibition.³⁰³

The relationship between Ang-II and VEGF has been investigated extensively. Ang-II has been found to stimulate angiogenesis in animal models.^{87;193} Ang-II can also induce the secretion of VEGF in several human cell types including tumour cells by upregulating HIF-1 α expression.^{184;193;289} VEGF is similarly able to induce ACE transcription and protein levels, indicating a synergistic relationship between the RAS and VEGF.²¹⁹ The induction of VEGF by Ang-II is mediated primarily via the AT₁ receptor, although blockade of the AT₁ receptor does not inhibit angiogenesis, illustrating the complexity of the process.^{51;302}

Thus, the effects of ACE inhibitors in tumour angiogenesis are likely to be result of multiple pathways, and not just VEGF transcription.²⁹⁸ It is also important to consider that tumour cells are quite different to normal cells, representing a unique environment with an often chaotic and unbalanced expression of angiogenic factors and molecular signals.⁵⁷ Tumour vessels are also structurally and functionally disorganised compared to vessels in normal tissues.⁵⁷

Effects of ACE Inhibitors in Proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy

The discovery that lisinopril could decrease the progression of diabetic proliferative retinopathy led to many studies examining the role of the RAS in retinal angiogenesis.⁴⁸ In diabetes the retinal RAS is over-activated, with the severity of retinopathy correlating with the activity of the RAS.⁶⁵ VEGF is also significantly overexpressed.⁴ Moreover, Ang-II is a stimulus for VEGF responses in the retina, as Ang-II increases VEGFR-2 expression.¹⁸² *In vivo* studies have also shown that ACE inhibition reduces VEGF expression in the retina, which is otherwise upregulated up to four fold.¹⁰³ Thus, it has been suggested that the overactive RAS in diabetic retinas upregulates VEGF most likely via Ang-II acting on AT₁ receptors, and that ACE inhibition reduces angiogenesis by decreasing Ang-II signalling.^{77;103} However, retinal VEGF expression is also closely linked to blood pressure, and it may be a reduction in blood pressure that underlies these effects rather than a direct effect of the RAS.^{103;286} Evidence showing that β-blockers are equally efficacious in reducing diabetic retinopathy support this theory.²⁷⁵

Effects of ACE Inhibitors in Ischaemic tissues

In contrast to the studies of tumour and retinal angiogenesis, studies of ischaemic tissues have demonstrated a completely opposite picture, with ACE inhibition related to increased angiogenesis in both ischaemic limbs and cardiac tissue. This differential effect was clearly illustrated in a study of diabetic mice, where perindopril was observed to increase angiogenesis in ischaemic hindlimbs but reduce vessel growth in the diabetic retina.⁷⁷ In separate studies, quinaprilat has been shown to potentiate angiogenesis in a rabbit model of hindlimb ischaemia, perindopril to improve angiogenesis and blood flow hypertensive rats (independent of changes in blood pressure), and perindopril to have a pro-angiogenic effect in ischaemic mice hindlimbs.^{85;233;250} Furthermore,

lisinopril has also been demonstrated to increase capillarisation in the hypertensive rat myocardium, an increase potentiated further in response to exercise training.³¹¹ The timing of ACE inhibition is also crucial, with ACE inhibition prior to an acute ischaemic insult impairing reparative angiogenesis compared to the positive effects of inhibition in established chronic ischaemia.⁸¹

The mechanism by which ACE inhibition increases angiogenesis in ischaemia is complex, and has not been fully elucidated. However, the evidence indicates that VEGF up-regulation plays an important role. In a rat ischaemic model, low dose perindopril was shown to induce angiogenesis in association with a rise in VEGF, but addition of a VEGF-neutralising antibody abolished this effect.²³⁴ Other studies have also shown a rise in VEGF associated with ACE inhibitor induced angiogenesis.^{77;233}

1.4.6 Role of Ang-II and BK in Ischaemia Induced Angiogenesis

ACE activity plays an important role in regulating skeletal muscle angiogenesis. In chronic heart failure, a condition characterised by poor muscle perfusion, ACE expression is inversely related to skeletal muscle capillary density.²²¹ The actions of ACE are to produce Ang-II and degrade BK. The actions of these molecules in angiogenesis are described below:

Angiotensin II

Ang-II has a predominantly pro-angiogenic role in ischaemia, similar to that described previously in tumours. Rats with ischaemic limbs treated with Ang-II have increased angiogenesis allied to increases in VEGF. Furthermore, Ang-II mediated angiogenesis is prevented by VEGF neutralising antibodies.²⁵² Ang-II mediates angiogenesis via its

AT₁ receptor, as blockade of AT₁ inhibits Ang-II related angiogenesis.^{220;251;252} AT₁ receptor knockout mice also have impaired angiogenic responses to ischaemia, an effect independent of reduced blood pressure, but related to a decrease in VEGF expression.²²⁰ In contrast, the AT₂ receptor has anti-angiogenic effects in ischaemia. AT₂ receptor knockout mice have greater angiogenesis in response to ischaemia than wild-type mice.²³⁶ These anti-angiogenic properties of the AT₂ receptor are partly mediated by its pro-apoptotic effects.²³⁶ In addition, although the AT₂ receptor does not alter VEGF levels, it has been shown to inhibit VEGF-mediated endothelial cell migration and tube formation by stopping VEGF signalling at the level of akt phosphorylation.^{19;236}

Ischaemia also modulates Ang-II receptor expression, causing marked rises in AT₂ levels but no change in AT₁ expression. This change in relative receptor level creates a potential increase in anti-angiogenic signalling by Ang-II, and could partly explain the pro-angiogenic role of ACE inhibition in ischaemia compared to tumour and diabetic retinal angiogenesis.^{19;236} However, the role of Ang-II in angiogenesis is further complicated by reports which illustrate that Ang-II levels during chronic ACE inhibition can be normal or even raised, due to increased feedback to raise renin levels and to Ang-II generation by alternative pathways.²⁷⁷ Overall, this evidence suggests that although Ang-II can modulate angiogenesis in opposing ways via its 2 main receptors, it is unlikely to be a key factor in ACE inhibitor induced angiogenesis in ischaemia.

Bradykinin

A secondary effect of ACE inhibition is decreased BK degradation, leading to raised BK levels. Interestingly, BK has been shown to be a potent activator of ischaemia induced angiogenesis. Upregulation of BK by kallikrein gene transfer enhances angiogenesis in ischaemic limbs.^{79;80} Furthermore, ischaemia induces the expression of BK₁ receptors and blockade of BK₁ or BK₂ receptors blunts angiogenesis in ischaemia.⁷⁹ As a result, it has been suggested that ACE inhibitors may stimulate angiogenesis via a BK-mediated pathway.^{85;250} In support of this, it has been demonstrated that ACE inhibitor induced angiogenesis is completely blunted in BK₂ receptor deficient mice.^{77;233} In addition, BK₂ receptor deficient mice also lack the rises in VEGF observed with ACE inhibition.⁷⁷ Stimulation of the BK pathway is thought to mediate angiogenesis by inducing endothelial NO synthase expression and stimulating NO signalling pathways. BK is also a pro-inflammatory cytokine, and can upregulate inflammatory factors such as cyclo-oxygenase 2 (COX-2). This induction of inflammation by BK could be another pathway to increase angiogenesis.^{77;233}

In summary, the role of the RAS in angiogenesis is unclear with ACE inhibitors having opposite effects on angiogenesis depending on the tissues involved. These differences may be a product of the various pathways that ACE effects, and the relative importance and activation of each pathway in each tissue and disease state. For example, in the same animal model ACE inhibition has been shown to decrease the otherwise over-expressed VEGF in the retina whilst increasing the relatively weakly expressed VEGF in ischaemic muscle.⁷⁷ In ischaemic muscle, the BK pathway appears to be the key factor in stimulating angiogenesis in response to ACE inhibition, whereas in cancer and diabetes, inhibition of the Ang-II pathway appears to be more important. The effects of ACE inhibition on VEGF and angiogenesis in ischaemic muscle are summarised in Figure 1.8. Although the crucial role of VEGF in angiogenesis has now been established, to date there have been no reports on how VEGF or its receptors change in response to an exercise program in claudicants. In addition, although ACE inhibitors



Figure 1.8 Effects of ACE Inhibition on Angiotensin II and Bradykinin in VEGF-mediated Angiogenesis in Ischaemia

In ischaemia, Ang-II produces pro-angiogenic effects via AT_1 and anti-angiogenic effects via AT_2 , whilst BK is pro-angiogenic. ACE inhibition decreases the conversion of Ang-I to Ang-II and increases BK levels. In ischaemia, potentiation of the BK signalling pathway is thought to be the most important factor in ACE inhibitor induced angiogenesis.

have been shown in animal models of ischaemia to increase angiogenesis via VEGF, there are no studies illustrating the effects of ACE inhibition on VEGF in a human model of ischaemia. Finally, although the benefits of ACE inhibitors have traditionally been attributed to a decrease in Ang-II and increase in BK, recent evidence suggests that a novel ACE signalling pathway that could also explain some of the events.

1.5 ACE REGULATION AND SIGNALLING

1.5.1 ACE Regulation

Although ACE is a critical component of the RAS, there are limited data available on its regulation at a cellular or tissue level. Drugs such as dexamethasone, bleomycin and aldosterone have been reported to induce ACE expression.^{66;68} In addition, several growth factors and cytokines, including endothelin-1, FGF, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), oncostatin M and atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) have all been demonstrated to induce ACE expression.^{14;67;92;216;218} Conversely, tumour necrosis factor- α , interleukin-1 β and Ang-II are reported to downregulate ACE expression.^{217;223}

The intra-cellular signalling pathways regulating ACE are poorly understood. However, the evidence suggests that increases in ACE mRNA are mediated by mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and protein kinase C (PKC), which activate various transcription factors.^{68;279} Both bleomycin and HGF have been shown to activate ACE gene transcription via activation of the transcription factor early growth response-1 (Egr-1), for which a binding site exists in the ACE gene promoter.^{67;68} In addition, the transcription factor activating protein 1 (AP-1) is also activated by PKC and binds in the ACE promoter upregulating ACE expression.⁸⁴ Both Egr-1 and AP-1 are activated by PKC acting on the extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 signalling pathway.⁸⁴

ACE and Hypoxia

ACE is known to be up-regulated by hypoxia, with studies showing an increase in ACE synthesis in endothelial cells, and increased activity and expression in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells.^{136;171;306} Hypoxia has also been shown to increase ACE, Ang-II and AT₁ in pulmonary artery fibroblasts via HIF-1, with Ang-II subsequently potentiating HIF-1 and cellular hypoxic responses in a positive feedback loop.¹⁴¹ The effects of repeated episodes of acute-on-chronic hypoxia, as observed in exercising claudicants on ACE expression has not yet been studied.

1.5.2 ACE Inhibitors and Cell Signalling

Another well described finding associated with chronic ACE inhibition is increased ACE gene expression and protein secretion, an effect which is independent of changes in Ang-II or BK levels.⁵⁸ In addition, some of the beneficial effects of ACE inhibition cannot be attributed to a decrease in Ang-II generation or an accumulation of BK.⁹⁴ Subsequent investigation has led to the elucidation of a novel signalling pathway with membrane bound ACE acting as a key signalling molecule.

The short cytoplasmic tail of membrane bound ACE contains several amino acid sequences that can interact with cellular proteins. For example, casein kinase 2 (CK2) physically interacts with the cytoplasmic tail and phosphorylates a serine residue (Ser¹²⁷⁰) on the amino acid chain, stabilising ACE within the cell membrane.¹⁴⁰ Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 7 (MKK-7) and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) also associate with the ACE cytoplasmic tail. Interestingly, binding of an ACE inhibitor (ramiprilat or perindoprilat), or to a lesser degree BK to the extracellular domain of ACE increases CK-2 phosphorylation of Ser¹²⁷⁰, activating ACE-associated JNK. This

subsequently leads to the translocation and accumulation of phosphorylated c-Jun in the nucleus, which alters gene expression.¹³⁸ This 'outside-in' ACE signalling pathway has been demonstrated to be responsible for increasing ACE expression and COX-2 expression via AP-1, and is summarised in Figure 1.9.^{138;139}

Thus, in addition to its traditional roles, ACE acts as a signal transduction molecule activated by binding of an ACE inhibitor. The importance of this pathway has not yet been elucidated, but one could speculate that it could account for some of the benefits of ACE inhibition. COX-2, which is upregulated by this pathway, has been demonstrated to be an important mediator of angiogenesis. COX-2 has been demonstrated to increase VEGF expression, and COX-2 null cells do not produce VEGF.^{10;214} Inhibition of COX-2 has also been shown to decrease VEGF expression.^{162;304} Reciprocally, VEGF upregulates COX-2 expression.²⁹⁶ Thus, upregulation of COX-2 expression by the ACE 'outside-in' signalling pathway could potentially enhance **VEGF-mediated** angiogenesis. Furthermore, upregulation of ACE expression by this pathway, in the continued presence of an ACE inhibitor, could lead to further increases in ACE 'outside-in' signalling.⁹⁴

The discovery of an ACE signalling pathway also leads to the notion that genetically predisposed low ACE activity, linked to the I/D polymorphism as described by Rigat *et al.*, could be a different entity to pharmacologically lowered ACE activity, which in addition to decreasing ACE activity generates other cell signalling properties. ACE inhibitors may thus have dual benefits in ischaemia, by increasing COX-2 (and potentially VEGF) gene expression via 'outside-in' signalling, while maintaining ACE activity (but not ACE level) at a low level.



Figure 1.9 The ACE Inhibitor and BK-induced 'Outside-in' ACE Signalling Pathway

ACE inhibitor or BK binding to ACE leads to phosphorylation of ACE Ser¹²⁷⁰. Depending on initial phosphorylation, ACE-associated JNK becomes activated, most likely via ACE-associated MKK-7, leading to an accumulation of phosphorylated c-Jun in the nucleus and enhancement of the DNA-binding activity of AP-1. AP-1 activation increases ACE and COX-2 gene expression. Adapted from Ryan *et al.*²¹⁵

1.6 ACE AND INTERMITTENT CLAUDICATION

In summary, besides its traditional role as a mediator of circulatory blood pressure and salt and water homeostasis, the RAS is found locally in many tissues where it regulates many processes including cell metabolism, inflammation and endothelial function. A functional polymorphism of the ACE gene exists, whereby the I-allele is associated with decreased ACE transcription and levels, and hence reduced ACE activity. Physiological links exist whereby variation in ACE activity could modulate responses to exercise training in claudicants: the I-allele and associated low ACE activity is related to improved metabolic efficiency, enhanced response to endurance training, reduced inflammation and improved vasodilatation, all areas that may positively affect the response to training in claudicants. The RAS and ACE have also been implicated in ischaemic angiogenesis, where the RAS contributes a major role in regulating VEGF production, and ACE inhibitors have been revealed to potentiate angiogenesis in ischaemia.

Despite this evidence, the effects of the ACE polymorphism and of ACE inhibition on walking ability in claudicants have not been extensively studied. The studies that have investigated the effects of the ACE polymorphism and ACE inhibitors in intermittent claudication will be discussed below:

1.6.1 ACE I/D Polymorphism and Intermittent Claudication

Very few studies have scrutinized possible links between the ACE I/D polymorphism and peripheral arterial disease. Conflicting reports have been presented regarding a potential association between the ACE polymorphism and the prevalence of peripheral arterial disease, with the majority of studies finding no significant

71

association.^{133;202;258;271} However, given the heterogeneous populations analysed, these studies were unlikely to find a significant link. Only one study of Chinese diabetics associated the D-allele with a significantly increased risk of peripheral arterial disease.²⁶³ Nevertheless, it remains doubtful that the ACE polymorphism is a major risk factor for the development of peripheral arterial disease. In another study, the II genotype was shown to be associated with a significantly reduced risk of atherosclerotic disease progression compared to subjects with the DD genotype.²⁵⁹ However, a subsequent investigation by the same group showed no relationship between the D-allele and progression of atherosclerosis in patients with peripheral arterial disease.²⁵⁷ Finally, a study of 65 subjects with hypertension secondary to renal artery stenosis reported an association between the DD genotype and increased severity of peripheral arterial disease. This association was not seen in subjects with essential hypertension and may be related to enhanced activation of the RAS in renovascular hypertension.¹⁵⁶

As yet no published study has examined the effects of the ACE genotype on responses to exercise training in peripheral arterial disease. However, previous work in our laboratory studied the association of the ACE polymorphism with responses to supervised exercise training in a group of stable claudicants. Pre-training assessments were independent of genotype. However, after training, subjects possessing an I-allele (n=12) improved claudication distance (CD) by 151% and maximum walking distance (MWD) by 251%, compared to only 46% and 29% respectively for subjects without an I-allele (n=3). Thus, the I-allele appeared to be related to improved responses to exercise training. No change in cardiovascular fitness or ankle brachial pressure index (ABPI) was found in the subjects, suggesting a local muscular effect as the mechanism for the improvement (see List of Presentations).
1.6.2 ACE Inhibitors and Intermittent Claudication

The benefits attributed to the I-allele of the ACE polymorphism are thought to be mediated by its associated low ACE activity. In contrast, ACE is known to be up-regulated by hypoxia (see Section 1.5). This activation of the RAS could be detrimental to training responses in claudicants, but a potential means of correcting this would be to suppress ACE activity pharmacologically using ACE inhibitors. These drugs are widely prescribed, and have been used for some time in the treatment of hypertension. Several different ACE inhibitors exist, which have slightly different effects according to their structure, lipid solubility and pharmacokinetics. The majority in use today are prodrugs which are metabolised by the liver into an active form.²³⁷ They are also effective in decreasing both serum and tissue ACE activity.⁸² However, the potential for tissue inhibition for each drug is related to each drug's lipid solubility. For example ramiprilat, the active form of ramipril, is 23 times more lipophilic than enalaprilat and is associated with much more pronounced tissue ACE inhibition.¹⁷

Interestingly, ACE inhibitors have been discovered to have a variety of clinical benefits unrelated to changes in blood pressure, which may all be related to the effects of tissue inhibition and could have positive implications for claudicants. In the management of heart failure, the benefits gained from ACE inhibitors exceed what can be explained by improvements in cardiovascular status, and it has been suggested that some of the benefits in these patients may be the result of increased muscular efficiency.¹⁶⁷ ACE inhibitors could also potentiate ischaemic pre-conditioning, by increasing the availability of BK, a known key trigger leading to preserved ATP generation in ischaemic conditions.^{76;300} In addition, ACE inhibition helps peripherally in chronic heart failure, improving local vasodilatation, oxygen extraction and exercise

performance more than improvements in cardiac output.⁷⁴ ACE inhibitors have also been shown to decrease inflammation by preventing Ang-II mediated II-6 production, an effect that has been linked to improved atherosclerotic plaque stability and a decrease in acute coronary syndromes.^{20;105;166} Indeed, the HOPE study has shown that ramipril reduces deaths and cardiac events in a broad range of high risk patients, leading to the widespread prescribing of ACE inhibitors in vascular patients.³⁰⁷

Studies of ACE inhibitors in Intermittent Claudication

The majority of reports on the effects of ACE inhibitors in ischaemic muscle have come from animal studies. One study reported that ACE inhibition enhanced blood flow to ischaemic muscles and increased exercise tolerance after training, a benefit potentially relevant to claudicants.²⁹⁷ Moreover, the effects of ACE inhibitors on angiogenesis has already been discussed in detail in Section 1.4.5.

Only a limited number of studies have examined the effects of ACE inhibitors in claudicants. Several reports demonstrate that captopril preserves or even increases blood flow, and increases walking ability in hypertensive claudicants.^{45;152;181;207} These benefits seem to be independent of its blood pressure lowering effects.^{118;250} However, other trials have demonstrated captopril to have no benefits in claudicants.^{21;206} Furthermore, captopril is one of the first generation of ACE inhibitors, possessing a sulphydryl group which has its own pharmacological properties completely distinct from ACE inhibition.^{11;191} Thus, any effect of captopril on claudicants in these studies cannot definitely be attributed purely to ACE inhibition. The sulphydryl group is also associated with several side-effects, and captopril has markedly less tissue activity compared to newer ACE inhibitors, and is thus now rarely prescribed.^{17;128} Amongst

other ACE inhibitors, one trial demonstrated an association between lisinopril and improved walking ability, although this was a similar effect to that of bisoprolol, and no placebo or control group was used.²⁷⁶ Another study of perindopril showed no change in ABPI, a marginal increase in claudication distance and a slight reduction in walking distance compared to placebo.¹⁸³

Many of the trials described above were poor quality studies, often with no placebo control and with low subject numbers. Indeed, a recent Cochrane review on the impact of drug treatment for hypertension on peripheral arterial disease included only 2 out of a possible 46 studies in the final review, with the others excluded due to poor quality.¹⁵⁵ However, a more recent randomised double-blind controlled trial comparing ramipril to placebo in non-diabetic, normotensive claudicants provides more compelling evidence for the benefits of ACE inhibitors in claudication, with a significant increase in both pain free and maximum walking time recorded with ramipril compared to placebo.³ As has been previously stated, ramipril is noted for its lipid solubility and hence its enhanced tissue activity.¹⁷ One could speculate that it is this tissue ACE inhibition in ischaemic limbs that would provide maximal benefit to claudicants. A summary of the studies performed to date on ACE inhibition and claudication is shown in Table 1.3.

Thus far, no randomised control trial of supervised exercise training and ACE inhibitors in claudicants has been published. However, previous work in this laboratory examined the effects of the low dose ramipril on responses to a supervised exercise training program using a randomised double-blind placebo controlled crossover study (See List of Presentations). In contrast to the study by Ahimastos *et al.*, this trial showed ramipril to be significantly detrimental to training responses. Training on placebo increased CD

Table 1.3Summary of Studies Performed to Date of ACE Inhibitors in
Intermittent Claudication

Reference	Subjects/Drugs	End-point	Findings
Catalano <i>et al.</i> ⁴⁵ (1985)	Captopril and hypertensive claudicants	Pain free walking interval and ABPI	Captopril improved both pain free walking interval and ABPI
Libretti <i>et al.</i> ¹⁵² (1986)	8 weeks of captopril or chlorthalidone in hypertensive claudicants (n=40)	ABPI, pain free and absolute walking intervals	Captopril improves ABPI, pain free and absolute walking intervals compared to chlorthalidone
Roberts <i>et al.</i> ²⁰⁷ (1987)	1 month each of captopril, atenolol, labetolol and pindolol in hypertensive claudicants (n=20)	CD, MWD and blood flow	Captopril preserved (but did not improve) blood flow, CD and MWD compared to placebo. Beta- blockers reduced BF, CD and MWD
Bernardi <i>et al.</i> ²¹ (1988)	2 weeks each of captopril, nicardipine and placebo in normotensive claudicants (n=10)	Pain free walking interval, duration of exercise and ABPI	Captopril improved ABPI but had no effect on walking ability
Roberts <i>et al.</i> ²⁰⁶ (1992)	3 months each of captopril and nifedipine in hypertensive claudicants (n=12)	Calf blood flow and treadmill walking ability	No difference in walking ability. Improved blood flow compared to nifedipine
Van der Ven <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> ²⁷⁶ (1994)	Effects of lisinopril and bisoprolol on exercise trained hypertensive claudicants (n=11)	Walking ability, blood flow and vascular resistance	Walking ability improved on both lisinopril and bisoprolol. No change in vascular resistance or blood flow
Overlack <i>et al.</i> ¹⁸³ (1994)	6 weeks of perindopril or placebo in hypertensive claudicants (n=54)	ABPI, CD and MWD	No change in ABPI. Marginal increase in CD and reduction in MWD with perindopril
Novo <i>et al.</i> ¹⁸¹ (1996)	12 weeks each of captopril, ticlopidine and placebo in hypertensive male claudicants (n=24)	CD and MWD	Captopril increased CD and MWD compared to placebo and ticlopidine
Ahimastos <i>et al.</i> ³ (2006)	24 weeks of ramipril or placebo in normotensive claudicants (n=40)	Pain free and maximum walking time	Ramipril improved pain free and maximal walking time compared to placebo

by 90 metres and MWD by 754 metres, whilst after ramipril the improvement in CD was only 35 metres and MWD 225 metres. ABPI was unaffected by either drug treatment. However, this was a pilot study involving only 8 subjects, and the data are not conclusive.

Thus, the question still remains as to whether ACE and VEGF have a significant role in improving walking ability in claudicants after exercise training, and whether reduction of ACE activity with ACE inhibitors could play a role in improving exercise training responses and increasing walking ability.

CHAPTER 2

HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS

CHAPTER 2

2.1 BACKGROUND

Intermittent claudication remains a major and widespread health problem in the western world, and can be associated with a significant impairment of walking ability and quality of life.²⁴³ The role of surgery and angioplasty for intermittent claudication is limited, and until now pharmacological treatments of the condition have provided little or no reduction in symptoms.²²⁹ However, exercise training and supervised programmes in particular, have been associated with significant improvements in symptoms, and exercise therapy continues to be the mainstay for treatment.²⁴⁴ The mechanism by which exercise improves intermittent claudication is not fully understood and has recently been identified as an area for potential research.⁸⁶ It is thought that the mechanism is multi-factorial, and includes angiogenesis, changes in muscle metabolism, improved endothelial function, and a reduction in inflammation.^{244;255}

One metabolic pathway that could influence responses to exercise training is the RAS. More specifically low ACE activity, associated either with the I-allele of the ACE I/D polymorphism or pharmacological reduction by ACE inhibitors, has been associated with increased muscular efficiency and endurance, reduced inflammation and enhanced endothelial function.^{74;166;256;288} Thus, potential physiological associations exist whereby variation in ACE activity may modulate responses to exercise training in claudicants. Furthermore, previous unpublished work in this laboratory has associated the I-allele with enhanced response to training in claudicants. However, while many studies have examined the link between the ACE polymorphism and exercise training responses or endurance performance, as yet no studies have examined the effects of an exercise training programme on ACE expression and protein levels. These phenotypic responses (gene expression and protein levels) potentially provide greater information than genotype studies, as ACE activity *per se* can be linked directly to exercise training responses. It is possible that the ACE genotype is in linkage disequilibrium with another as yet undiscovered factor, rather than being the actual factor underlying enhanced training responses. By quantifying the responses of the ACE gene to this environmental stimulus, a clearer picture on whether the gene is of influence can be established. Furthermore, ACE activity can easily be modified pharmacologically using existing widely used drugs, making it an amenable target for potential treatment of claudicants.

The RAS is also involved in regulating angiogenesis via its interaction with VEGF. Angiogenesis provides many potential advantages in claudicants, including a redistribution of blood flow, reduced shunting, improved substrate delivery and the enhanced removal of metabolites. VEGF and its receptors, in particular the VEGF₁₆₅ isoform and VEGFR-2, play a vital role in almost all the stages of angiogenesis, and in ischaemia low ACE activity is related to increased VEGF and angiogenesis.⁹⁰ However, attempts to manipulate VEGF so far in humans have produced limited clinical benefits.¹⁹⁴ Nevertheless, the link between the RAS and VEGF in ischaemia provides a possible basis for augmenting angiogenesis in claudicants. In animal models of ischaemia, VEGF is upregulated by ACE inhibitors, most likely via a mechanism primarily involving BK rather than Ang-II, leading to improved blood flow and endurance performance.^{233;297} Furthermore, other studies have shown that ACE inhibitors and BK (itself raised in association with low ACE activity) possess signalling properties via membrane bound ACE, and can cause increases in ACE and COX-2 (and potentially VEGF) expression.⁹³ Thus, ACE inhibitors may have dual benefits in ischaemia, by increasing gene expression via 'outside-in' signalling, while also

maintaining low ACE activity. It is possible that some of the beneficial effects of ACE inhibition could be accounted for by this mechanism. The effects of exercise training in claudicants, or of ACE inhibition in a human model of ischaemia, on differential VEGF isoform and receptor gene expression and protein levels has not yet been studied.

Thus, the evidence points towards low ACE activity, whether genetically inherited or pharmacologically manipulated, to be potentially of benefit to claudicants and walking ability, with an increase in VEGF-mediated angiogenesis one of the major possible improvements. However, clinical trials of ACE inhibitors in claudicants have shown mixed results, and the possible benefit from using ACE inhibitors to treat intermittent claudication remains unclear. Previous work in this laboratory indicated that ACE inhibitors were detrimental to training responses in claudicants, whilst another recently published trial showed ramipril to be related to a significant improvement in walking ability.³ One means to better understand the potential role of ACE, VEGF and ACE inhibition in claudicants would be to assess how exercise training in claudicants affects ACE and VEGF biology, as determined by mRNA expression and protein levels, and relate these molecular changes to improvements in walking ability. In addition, the effects of ACE inhibition in hypoxia on ACE and VEGF could also be studied. Thus, the following questions will be addressed by this thesis:

- How does repetitive exercise training in claudicants affect ACE and VEGF gene expression and protein levels? Are these changes related to improvements in walking ability?
- 2. Is VEGF receptor expression affected in the same way as VEGF?
- 3. How do ACE inhibitors affect ACE and VEGF in a human model of ischaemia?

In considering the first question, whilst it is known that acute exercise or hypoxia leads to an increase in ACE activity and Ang-II, the effects of repetitive exercise training and hypoxia on ACE expression are unknown.^{171;294} Interestingly, when examining inflammatory responses in claudicants, acute training is known to promote inflammation, but after a prolonged period of repetitive training inflammation becomes attenuated.²⁶⁷ As ACE acts as a pro-inflammatory cytokine, it is possible that this reduction in inflammation could be related to a concurrent decrease in ACE expression.

Secondly, VEGF is known to be increased in acute hypoxia. However, when examining the effects of exercise training on VEGF, it is important to study all the various VEGF isoforms and receptor types, as these all have varying and often opposing roles in VEGF biology, and could respond differently to training. Furthermore, the reported association between ACE and VEGF suggests a potential synergistic effect, with a decrease in ACE activity likely to amplify any increase in VEGF.

Finally, in considering the effects of ACE inhibition on ACE and VEGF in a human model of ischaemia, results of studies to date in animal models suggest that ACE inhibitors will increase both ACE protein expression and VEGF activity (while maintaining low ACE activity by its effects on binding to ACE).

2.2 HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS

The central hypothesis of this thesis is that low ACE activity is related to improved responses to exercise training in claudicants, by a mechanism involving its interaction with VEGF (in addition to its general effects on endurance performance). This thesis will concentrate specifically on the effects of exercise training in claudicants on ACE and VEGF, the interaction between ACE and VEGF, and on the effects of ACE inhibition on ACE and VEGF responses to hypoxia. A summary of the experimental hypothesis is illustrated in Figure 2.1. In more specific detail, the aims of this thesis are to:

- 1. Examine the effects of a supervised exercise training programme on walking ability in a group of claudicants.
- 2. Examine the effects of the exercise training programme on ACE gene and protein expression, together with VEGF isoform/VEGF-R gene expression and VEGF protein levels. In addition, examine the influence of these molecular changes on the physiological responses to the training programme, and investigate the link between changes in ACE and VEGF expression.
- 3. Examine in ACE I/D heterozygotes, the differential baseline allele expression and the individual responses of the I- and D-alleles to training.
- 4. Develop a stable human endothelial cell culture model of hypoxia in which ACE and VEGF are reliably expressed.
- 5. Assess how ACE inhibitors modulate ACE/VEGF expression and protein levels in a model of human tissue hypoxia.

To address these aims, the following experiments were performed.

2.3 EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

To address the first 3 aims, a randomised controlled clinical trial was developed to examine the effects of an exercise training programme on walking ability and ACE, VEGF and VEGF-R gene activity in patients with intermittent claudication. Patients were recruited to the trial and randomised to a treatment group (8 weeks supervised training) or a control group (exercise advice only). Prior to training, a set of baseline measurements was recorded. Walking ability was assessed by an incremental treadmill walking test and by a repetitive heel raise test. ACE, VEGF₁₂₁, VEGF₁₆₅, VEGF-R1, sVEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 mRNA expression were all determined by reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) of mRNA obtained from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNs) isolated from whole blood. ACE genotype was confirmed by PCR of genomic DNA isolated from PBMNs. Plasma levels of ACE and VEGF were measured using a sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay (ELISA). Differential expression of the D- and I- alleles in ACE I/D heterozygote subjects was assessed by RT-PCR as described above, using a specific primer set and restriction enzyme protocol. This protocol exploited a known linkage between the ACE I/D polymorphism and a single nucleotide polymorphism involving a G/A substitution that creates a restriction enzyme site. In the treatment group, the 8 week training period consisted of three 30 minute sessions of supervised treadmill walking exercise per week. The control group was given standard verbal advice to do as much walking as possible, and to try to walk through the claudication pain. Following the 8 week treatment period, all the initial assessments were repeated.

To address the final 2 aims, a laboratory cell culture model of hypoxia was developed using a human umbilical vein endothelial cell line (ECV 304) treated with Diethylenetriamine-nitric oxide (DETA-NO). DETA-NO is a nitric oxide donor which has been shown previously to create a 'metabolic hypoxia' by inhibiting the electron transport chain and cellular respiration, thus driving cells into anaerobic metabolism.⁶ Once a stable and viable model had been established the effects of hypoxia alone, ACE inhibition alone, and of ACE inhibition combined with hypoxia on ACE and VEGF gene activity was measured. ACE, $VEGF_{121}$ and $VEGF_{165}$ mRNA expression was determined by RT-PCR of mRNA extracted from cell lysates. ACE and VEGF protein levels were measured by ELISA of cellular protein extracted from the same cell lysates.



Figure 2.1 Summary of Hypothesis

Both ACE and VEGF potentially play a role in the improvements in walking ability noted after exercise training. However, the effects of exercise training in claudicants on ACE and VEGF are unknown. Furthermore, evidence suggests that inhibition of ACE could potentiate VEGF responses in addition to decreasing ACE activity, both effects that could increase the benefits of training in claudicants. Thus, the central aim of this thesis was to examine the effects of exercise training on ACE and VEGF, and to assess the effects of ACE inhibition on ACE and VEGF responses in ischaemia.

CHAPTER 3

MATERIALS AND METHODS

CHAPTER 3

3.1 CLINICAL TRIAL: TRAINING RESPONSES IN CLAUDICANTS

The aim of this trial was to examine the responses of a cohort of claudicants to a supervised exercise training programme, specifically looking at measurements of walking ability in relation to changes in ACE, VEGF and VEGF receptor expression and protein levels. A separate group of claudicants who were given exercise advice alone were used as a control.

3.1.1 Ethical Approval and Study Outline

Ethical approval for the study was granted by the Joint UCL/UCLH Ethics Committee in Ethics of Human Research: Committee A. An overall outline of the study is illustrated in Figure 3.1. In summary, patients fulfilling the study inclusion criteria were recruited. A series of baseline measurements were initially made. Demographic data and general measurements including height, weight, blood pressure and ABPI were recorded. Walking ability was assessed on a treadmill using an incremental treadmill test and calf endurance by repetitive calf raises. A blood sample was taken for DNA, RNA and protein analysis. ACE, VEGF₁₂₁, VEGF₁₆₅, VEGF-R1, sVEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 mRNA expression were all determined by RT-PCR of mRNA obtained from PBMNs isolated from blood. ACE genotype was confirmed by PCR of genomic DNA also isolated from PBMNs. Plasma levels of ACE and VEGF protein were measured using an ELISA. Differential expression of the D- and I- alleles in ACE I/D heterozygote subjects was assessed by RT-PCR and a restriction enzyme protocol. Subjects were then randomised to receive either supervised treadmill exercise training three times a week or exercise advice alone for 8 weeks, following which all the baseline assessments were repeated.



Figure 3.1 Study Outline

* Patients Randomized to Treadmill Training or Exercise Advice Only For 8 Weeks.

3.1.2 Patient Recruitment and Randomisation

Patients were identified and recruited from vascular surgery clinics at the Middlesex and University College Hospitals, London. Some subjects were also referred directly by their GPs for assessment. Subjects with stable but limiting intermittent claudication were evaluated to take part in the trial. Eligibility was assessed by taking a full medical history, clinical examination and arterial duplex scanning. Only patients with a good history for intermittent claudication, signs of arterial disease on examination, an anklebrachial pressure index (ABPI) of ≤ 0.9 , and an arterial duplex scan confirming arterial stenoses were included. Intermittent claudication was defined by a history of muscular leg pain associated with walking, which increased on further walking and subsided within a few minutes on resting. Subjects with evidence of other significant disease processes that could limit walking distance or the subsequent response to an exercise programme were excluded. Patients prescribed ACE inhibitors or angiotensin II receptor antagonists, which potentially alter ACE and VEGF expression, were also excluded. Full inclusion and exclusion criteria are shown in Table 3.1. Once the patient had been identified as suitable for the trial, they were informed and given an information leaflet about the trial, and offered an appointment to attend the exercise laboratory at the Middlesex Hospital. At this appointment, they were briefed in detail about the trial, assessed for their ability to walk on a treadmill and if in agreement full written informed consent was obtained.

On entry, demographic data such as age, sex, and cardiovascular risk factors were recorded. A detailed vascular history including estimated walking distance, affected leg(s) and previous vascular interventions was taken. The disease distribution on arterial duplex scan was noted. Each subject then completed a 1 week run-in period, consisting

Table 3.1Study Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

INCLUSION CRITERIA

History and examination findings consistent with intermittent claudication

Arterial duplex scan confirming arterial stenoses and resting ABPI ≤ 0.9

Claudication symptoms stable for > 3 months

EXCLUSION CRITERIA

Unlimited walking distance

Unable to walk on a treadmill

Evidence of critical ischaemia (rest pain or ulceration)

Severe cardiac or respiratory disease

Walking distance limited by other factors such as osteoarthritis or back pain

Patient prescribed ACE inhibitors or angiotensin II receptor antagonists

Angioplasty or surgical intervention within the last 6 months

Diabetic neuropathy

Claudication symptoms not stable

of 3 half hour sessions walking on a treadmill (Cardiokinetics Meditrack), allowing them to familiarise themselves with the treadmill prior to taking the initial walking test. This important adaptation period reduced the potential error in measuring a subject's initial walking distance, which could have been underestimated due to the subject's unfamiliarity with walking on a treadmill. These sessions took the format of a training session, as described in Section 3.1.5. Subjects were subsequently randomly assigned to either the treatment group (supervised training) or control group (exercise advice). Randomisation was achieved using identical sealed envelopes containing a card marked either 'Training Group' or 'Control Group'. Twenty five of each card was initially produced and placed in an envelope. Once sealed, the envelopes were randomly marked from 1 to 50, and the envelopes allocated in numerical order to each recruited patient. Although a large number of patients were screened for inclusion in the study, only 11 subjects were recruited, 6 of whom were randomised to the training group and 5 to the control group. Although chronic obstructive airways disease (and hypoxia) is known to have adverse effects on skeletal muscle performance and metabolism, it was not excluded as this would have severely limited available recruits.¹⁵⁹ Nevertheless, none of the recruited subjects had significant symptomatic pulmonary disease.

3.1.3 Patient Assessments

At initial and final assessments, a blood sample was taken and general measurements recorded first. This was followed by measurement of walking ability on a treadmill and after a 5-10 minute break, calf muscle endurance. The protocols are described below:

General Measurements

Height, weight, resting heart rate and blood pressure were recorded in each subject.

Walking Distance

A graded treadmill protocol was chosen to assess patient walking ability, using testing protocols based on those recommended by the TASC working group.¹⁴² Graded treadmill protocols have advantages compared to constant protocols. The results of a graded test are more reproducible and the same test can also be applied to claudicants with a broad range of walking ability.^{112;143} Both the distance to the onset of claudication pain (claudication distance, CD) and the distance at which the pain caused the subject to stop (maximum walking distance, MWD) were recorded. Prior to assessment, subjects were given advice to avoid vigorous activity, caffeine and excessive alcohol intake for 24 hours. All tests were performed in the morning, and one person conducted all the tests in this study. The treadmill speed was set at 3.2 km/hr, and the gradient initially set at 0% and increased by 2% every 2 minutes. The subject was asked to report the onset of claudication symptoms, and then encouraged to walk as far as possible through the pain. Use of the handrails was avoided, as this has been shown to potentially reduce the reliability of measurements.¹⁰⁰ Maximum heart rate was recorded at the end of the test. Perceived leg pain and perceived exertion scores were also recorded using Borg scales (RPE for exertion and CR10 for pain; Appendix 1). These are reliable and reproducible measures of perceived exertion and pain, and enabled the perceived exertion and pain to be assessed between different tests.²⁴

Calf Muscle Endurance

Another endpoint measured was calf muscle endurance. Subjects were asked to perform repetitive heel raises until forced to stop by calf pain. This technique has been suggested as a screening test for peripheral arterial disease, and has been shown to have a similar effect on ankle pressures as treadmill walking.⁹ Changes in the number of heel raises

also correlate to changes in walking distance, but could have the added benefit over treadmill testing of not having a 'learning curve' or be affected by changes in biomechanics that occur after a period of treadmill training.^{112;178} Subjects were required to perform heel raises at a standardised rate of 20 per minute. At the end of each test, perceived pain and exertion were recorded using Borg scales. This test was performed about 5-10 minutes after the treadmill test. This non-standardised time delay could have affected the results of this test. In addition, the previous test of maximal walking distance could have subsequently affected this test, due to ischaemic preconditioning.

Ankle-Brachial Pressure Index

The ankle-brachial pressure index (ABPI) was used as an outcome measure as a simple estimator of leg perfusion. A sphygmomanometer blood pressure cuff and doppler probe (Huntleigh Diagnostics Dopplex II) were used to measure systolic blood pressures in both arms and ankles, from which ABPIs were calculated.

3.1.4 Blood Sample Collection and Processing

In order to determine genotype and measure changes in gene expression and protein levels, blood was collected from each patient at the beginning of each assessment session. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNs) were isolated from the blood for DNA and RNA extraction, and plasma taken for measurement of protein levels. Ideally, it would have been preferable to have taken muscle biopsy specimens from each subject to examine for local tissue changes in gene expression and protein levels. However, this would not have been practical or acceptable for the patients. Thus, PBMNs and plasma were used, and should give an indication of changes occurring locally in the tissues. Approximately 8 ml of blood was taken into Vacutainer[®] EDTA Blood tubes (Becton Dickinson). These samples were all processed within 20 minutes of collection, using a sterile polysaccharide (5.7% w/v) and sodium diatrizoate (9.1% w/v) solution (LymphoprepTM; Axis Shield) to separate the blood into its constituent components. The following protocol was used:

Centrifugation

Three ml of LymphoprepTM was added to two sterile 15 ml centrifuge tubes (Corning). Four ml of blood was then carefully layered on top of the LymphoprepTM layer (Figure 3.2), and centrifuged (ALC PK120 centrifuge) at 400 g for 30 minutes at room temperature. LymphoprepTM caused the erythrocytes and granulocytes to aggregate, increasing their sedimentation rate significantly, while having little effect on PBMN sedimentation.¹⁰⁹ Thus, after centrifugation the mixture separated into distinct bands (Figure 3.2), with the plasma uppermost, the PBMNs in a thin band or 'buffy coat' at the plasma-medium interface, and the red blood cells and granulocytes in the bottom layers.

Plasma Extraction

The upper plasma layer was aspirated into a 15 ml centrifuge tube, spun at 800 g for 5 minutes to remove cellular debris, transferred to and frozen in a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube (Starsted) at -20° C.

Extraction and Lysis of PBMNs

The 'buffy coat' layer containing PBMNs was carefully aspirated using a Pasteur pipette, added to a 15 ml centrifuge tube containing 3 ml of Phosphate buffered saline



Figure 3.2 Schematic Diagram of the Blood/LymphoprepTM Layers Before and After Centrifugation

Whole blood was layered onto LymphoprepTM in a centrifuge tube. Following centrifugation, the mixture separated out into distinct layers containing different cell types.

(PBS; Sigma[®]), and made up to 10 ml with more PBS. Following centrifugation at 250 g for 10 minutes the supernatant was discarded, the PBMN pellet re-suspended in another 10 ml of PBS and spun again at 250 g for 10 minutes. These washes served to remove extraneous platelets. After discarding the supernatant, the pellet was resuspended in 200 µl PBS by gentle agitation and 3 ml of TRI reagentTM (Sigma[®]) was added. This mixture was vortexed for 10 seconds (Vortex-GenieTM; Scientific Industries) to lyse the cells and dissolve the RNA and DNA for future isolation. The solution was transferred to sterile 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes and frozen at -20 °C. Protocols for the extraction of DNA and RNA from TRI reagentTM, and the subsequent measurement of genotype, gene expression and protein levels are described in Sections 3.3 and 3.4.

3.1.5 Supervised Training Programme

Following the baseline assessments, subjects randomised to the treatment group entered an 8 week supervised training programme. A supervised programme was chosen as they are known to be more effective than unsupervised training, and would therefore produce maximal increases in walking distance.^{18;49;243} Patient compliance was also ensured. Each subject was required to train 3 times a week, with each training session lasting approximately 30 minutes. The sessions consisted of 10 cycles of 90 seconds walking on a treadmill followed by 90 seconds rest. The aim of this training protocol was to stimulate a moderate to high level of claudication pain during each walking phase, and to allow enough time for the pain to subside between each walk. Training intensity was tailored to each patient according to their original walking ability and the following equation used as a guide to determine initial training speed:

Speed (km/hr) = (Claudication Distance (m)/90 s) x 3.6

This equation simply used the subject's measured CD (taken at initial assessment) to calculate the necessary speed to reach CD in 90 seconds. Treadmill gradient was initially set to 1%. For some individuals with mild symptoms, this equation required a speed that was unacceptably high. For these subjects, treadmill speed was set as high as the individual could tolerate (typically 5km/hour) and the gradient increased accordingly to generate claudication within the 90 seconds.

As a subject's symptoms improved over the training period, treadmill speed was increased to continue to stimulate claudication pain. If the subject improved to a degree such that claudication pain was not stimulated despite using high treadmill speeds and that treadmill speed could not be increased further (to prevent running- typically at 5km/hour), treadmill gradient was increased in 0.5% increments. No other advice was given to the subjects. This training protocol is similar to those that have been recommended to provide greatest improvements in walking.^{71;99} Although some groups have recommended 6 month training programmes, shorter programs (6 weeks) have also been shown to work.^{99;282} This exact programme has also been shown to be effective in previous studies in this laboratory.¹⁷⁸ During each session, heart rate was continuously monitored (Polar S-series precision toolkit), and the session halted if the heart rate exceeded 80% of the maximal predicted heart rate.

3.1.6 Exercise Advice

Subjects randomised to the control group were given verbal advice on taking exercise similar to what they would have been advised in a vascular outpatients clinic. They were encouraged to take walks 3 times a week, if possible for 20 minutes or more, and to try to walk through the claudication pain as much as possible.

3.2 CELL CULTURE EXPERIMENTS

In the second part of this thesis, a cell culture model of hypoxia was developed using the nitric oxide (NO) donor Diethylenetriamine-NO (DETA-NO) to produce a 'metabolic hypoxia' in an endothelial cell line. The effects of hypoxia on ACE and VEGF in these cells, and on cell viability were examined. Subsequently, the manner by which presence of the ACE inhibitor ramiprilat modulated these responses was then examined. ACE, VEGF₁₂₁ and VEGF₁₆₅ mRNA expression was determined by RT-PCR of mRNA extracted from cell lysates. ACE and VEGF protein levels were measured by ELISA of cell protein obtained from cell lysates. The use of a cell culture model has several advantages over a clinical trial using claudicants. One of the major limitations affecting most clinical trials in claudicants is the heterogeneity of the subjects used. To state a few factors, subjects vary immensely in age, co-morbidities, severity of disease, baseline activity levels and lifestyle. To overcome these limitations large sample sizes are preferable, but claudicants are difficult to recruit to trials.⁶⁹ Cell culture experiments have the advantage of using a single population of cells treated identically apart from the specific treatments, allowing a much 'cleaner' experiment to be performed. However, a limiting factor is the loss of interaction between different cell types that would occur in vivo.

3.2.1 Culture Conditions

Materials

A cell line, ECV 304 (Rayne Institute, UCL) was used for these experiments. The ECV 304 cell line were originally reported to have derived from HUVECs by spontaneous transformation, and have been used for over a decade as an endothelial cell model.²⁴⁹ However, recent studies have shown that they were in fact derived from the bladder

cancer epithelial cell line T24.³⁰ Despite these findings, ECV 304 cells still show many characteristics of endothelial cells, have been shown to express ACE activity, and are still considered an attractive in vitro model for endothelia, given the scarcity of other suitable endothelial cell lines.²⁴⁵ Thus they were chosen to be used in these experiments. However, as yet no evidence is available to confirm that ECV 304 cells express bradykinin, a vital link in the RAS. In the following experiments, unless stated otherwise, ECV 304 cells were cultured in medium consisting of Medium 199 with Earle's Salts and GlutamaxTM (Gibco/Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% sterile foetal calf serum (FCS; First link (UK) Ltd), 100 u/ml penicillin and 100 μg/ml of streptomycin (Gibco BRL[®]/Life Technologies). Culture medium and all reagents were warmed to 37°C prior to use.

Resurrecting Cells from Storage

A vial of ECV 304 cells frozen at passage 174 was removed from storage and thawed in a water bath at 37°C. Using a sterile pipette, these cells were transferred to a 50 ml centrifuge tube (Techno Plastic Products AG; $TPP^{\text{(B)}}$) containing 19 ml of warm culture medium to wash the cells, and centrifuged at 200 g for 5 minutes to form a pellet. The medium was discarded, the cells re-suspended in 5 ml of fresh medium and added to a 75 cm² culture flask (BD FalconTM) containing 25 ml of culture medium. The cells were incubated in a humidified chamber at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

Passaging Cells

These cells were sub-cultured at 70 hours at about 80% confluency. The medium was carefully aspirated from the flask and the cells rinsed with 15 ml sterile Hanks' balanced salt solution (HBSS; Sigma) without magnesium or calcium. This rinse removed

residual FCS which could have inhibited the subsequent trypsin reaction. Magnesium and calcium free HBSS was used to facilitate the dissociation process, as these ions allow cells to stick together. A cell dissociation solution consisting of 0.25x Trypsin with EDTA (Gibco BRL[®]/Life Technologies) in Sigma cell dissociation solution with PBS was used. After removing the HBSS, 13 ml of the dissociation solution was added and the flask incubated for up to 15 minutes at 37°C. During this time, the cells were intermittently monitored for rounding and detachment under a microscope. Once this was evident, the cells were released by a sharp tap on the flask, and 35 ml medium added to the flask to neutralise the trypsin and prevent further activity that may have damaged the cells. This solution was aspirated, added to a 50 ml centrifuge tube and centrifuged at 200 g for 5 minutes to pellet the cells. After discarding the medium, the pellet was re-suspended in a further 10 ml medium, and 5 ml added to each of two 175 cm² flasks (Nunc filter cap). These flasks were made up to 40 ml total volume with medium and incubated humidified at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

Flasks were monitored routinely under the microscope to check for contamination and confluency. Subsequently passages were performed every 48-72 hours, when the cells reached about 80% confluency. Typically, each 175 cm² flask was split into 3 flasks, using the same protocol as above. At intervals, some cells were frozen in liquid nitrogen for storage.

Freezing Down Cells for Storage

When passaging the cells, some cells were removed and suspended in medium at a density of $2x10^6$ cells/ml (see Section 3.2.2 for counting cells). Glycerol (Sigma), a cryoprotectant that reduces cell rupture due to ice crystal formation, was added to make

up 10% by volume and mixed well. One ml aliquots were then added to freezer tubes, which were placed in a bath of isopropanol overnight in a -80°C freezer. This bath allowed a controlled decrease in temperature of 1°C/minute, and prevented cell disruption by ice crystals. The following day the tubes were transferred into liquid nitrogen for storage.

3.2.2 Preparation of Cells for Experiments

Only clean confluent cultures from 175 cm^2 flasks were used. All experiments in this thesis were performed on cells between passages 178 and 190. Microscopic examination revealed the ECV cells to grow in monolayers with the typical 'cobblestone appearance' of endothelial cells.

Harvesting Cells

Cells were harvested using the same dissociation protocol as for passaging the cells. However, after the initial removal of the cells and centrifugation to form a pellet, the cells were resuspended in 5 ml medium containing either 10% FCS or 1% FCS. Cell viability and number was then measured.

Counting the Total Number and the Percentage of Viable Cells

Cells were counted using a haemocytometer combined with a Trypan blue (TB) exclusion assay to allow cell density and the percentage of viable cells to be determined. A haemocytometer consists of a slide with a grid marked on of known area. There are 9 large squares on the grid, each with a volume of 0.1 mm³ once a cover slip is placed on top. Thus if the mean number of cells in a square is counted, it is possible to determine cell density and hence the total number of cells. TB is taken up by dead cells, turning

them blue and thus allowing the proportion of dead to viable cells to be calculated. Half a ml of 0.4% TB (Sigma) was combined with 0.4 ml of PBS, to which was added 0.1 ml of the cell suspension to be counted. This solution was mixed well and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature, allowing the dead cells to absorb the dye. After placing the cover slip onto the haemocytometer, 10 μ l of the cell/TB mixture was placed onto the area between the cover slip and slide and allowed to be drawn under the cover slip by capillary action. The number of unstained and blue stained cells on 5 quadrants (the centre and 4 corner squares) of the haemocytometer grid was counted and a mean figure recorded. A specific counting pattern was used to avoid bias. For cells overlapping a boundary, a cell was counted if it overlapped the top or left grid border, but not if it overlapped the bottom or right grid border (Figure 3.3).

The following equation was used to calculate the density of the original cell suspension:

Cells/ml= Mean number of cells (in 0.1 mm³) x 10000 x Dilution Factor in TB/PBS

To calculate the total number of cells present, the number of cells/ml was multiplied by the total volume of the original cell suspension. To determine the percentage of viable cells, the following equation was used:

% Viable Cells= (Number of Unstained Cells/Total Number of Cells) x 100

Only cultures with greater than 90% viability were used for experiments, and from each 175 cm^2 flask the yield was typically between 8-10 million cells.

Plating Out Cells

After counting the cells, working solutions of 1×10^6 cells/ml were prepared by adding an appropriate volume of culture medium. For cell viability assays, cells were plated out onto 96 well plates (Techno Plastic Products AG) with the appropriate drug(s) and the



Figure 3.3 Counting Cells Using a Haemocytometer

This diagram shows a schematic representation of a haemocytometer with its grid of 9 quadrants, and a magnified view of one quadrant. For cells overlapping grid boundaries, a cell was counted if it overlapped the top or left grid border, but not if it overlapped the bottom or right grid border. Thus in this example, 11 viable cells would be counted and 1 non-viable cell.

volume in each well made up to 100 µl. Concurrently, some cells were plated out on 6 well plates (BD FalconTM) with the appropriate drug(s) and the volume in each well made up to 3 ml. These plates were used to examine for changes in gene expression and protein levels. For all experiments cells were incubated in a humidified chamber at 37° C and 5% CO₂ until ready for processing. Further details on the preparation of specific experiments are described in Section 5.3.

3.2.3 Preparation of Drugs for Experiments

Diethylenetriamine-nitric oxide (DETA-NO)

While it would have been preferable to use hypoxic chambers to create the hypoxic conditions to be used in this experimental model, they are difficult to obtain and also significantly expensive. Thus, given its ready availability and in addition its significantly lower cost, a decision was made to use DETA-NO (2,2'-(Hydroxynitrosohydrazono) bis-ethanimine; Sigma) to create a metabolic model of hypoxia in these experiments.

DETA-NO is a slow releasing NO donor, which has been used widely to study the effects of NO on cellular respiration.⁵⁵ It allows the controlled release of NO to tissues at physiological levels. Evidence has shown that NO affects mitochondrial function, specifically by inhibiting the electron transport chain by competing with oxygen for binding to cytochrome oxidase at the inner mitochondrial membrane. By binding to cytochrome oxidase and preventing the mitochondria from utilising available oxygen, NO inhibits cellular respiration producing a 'metabolic hypoxia', driving cells into anaerobic metabolism.⁶ Pathways associated with hypoxia are also activated, for example the stabilization of HIF-1α is increased.¹⁶⁴

Doses of DETA-NO ranging from 0.008 mM to 0.5 mM were chosen for these experiments, and are similar to doses used in other studies.^{6;16;164} Half mM of DETA-NO can generate 1.5 μ M of NO locally for up to 18 hours at 37°C and inhibit respiration by up to 80%.^{16;55} For these experiments DETA-NO was solubilised using ultra-pure water (Simplicity 185TM; Millipore) as the vehicle. A 50 mM master solution was prepared, from which appropriate dilutions for experiments were made. The final vehicle/water concentration in all experiments was 1%, and all experiments had a control consisting of medium with vehicle, and of medium alone. Further details on the preparation of specific experiments are described in Section 5.3.

Ramiprilat

Ramiprilat (Toronto Research Chemicals Inc.) was chosen as the ACE inhibitor for this experiment. Ramiprilat is the active form of the pro-drug ramipril, which *in* vivo is normally converted to its active form in the liver.

Doses of ramiprilat ranging from 1000 nM/l to 1 nM/l were used in these experiments, being similar doses to those used in other studies examining ACE signalling in endothelial cells.^{138;139} For these experiments, ramiprilat was solubilised using dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO; Sigma) as the drug vehicle. A 20 mM/l master solution of ramiprilat in DMSO was prepared, from which appropriate dilutions for subsequent experiments were made. The final DMSO concentration in all experiments was 0.05%, a level chosen to minimalise its potential effects on cellular metabolism.²¹⁰ All experiments involving ramiprilat included controls consisting of medium with vehicle, and of medium alone. Further details on the preparation of specific experiments are described in Section 5.3.

3.2.4 Assessing Cell Viability

At the end of each experiment, cell viability was assessed using the CellTiter $96^{\text{(B)}}$ AQ_{ueous} One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay (Promega). This assay uses a novel tetrazolium compound: 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium (MTS) combined with an electron coupling reagent phenazine ethosulfate. This produces a simple one step assay that can be performed in 96-well plates without the need for harvesting the cells. The MTS is reduced by NADPH or NADH present in metabolically active cells into formazan, a blue coloured product which can then be measured.²² The following protocol was utilised:

The 96-well plates were assessed under the microscope for confluence and signs of infection. Twenty μ l of the assay solution was added to each well, and the plate incubated in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C and with 5% CO₂. In addition to the experimental wells, a series of triplicate wells containing culture medium only (no cells) were prepared and used as a 'blank control'. After 2 to 4 hours (see Section 5.3 for details of specific timings), the plates were placed in a plate reader (Dynex Technologies Ltd) and light absorbance at 525 nm recorded. Two separate plate readings were taken and a mean of the 2 readings recorded. The mean reading from the 'blank control' wells was then subtracted from the readings of the experimental wells to correct for background absorbance.

3.2.5 Processing Cells for RNA and Protein Extraction

At the end of each experiment, the 6-well plates were processed for RNA and protein extraction. Prior to harvesting the plates, they were examined microscopically to assess confluence and exclude infection. Rather than preparing individual wells to be harvested separately for RNA and protein, each experimental well was processed to obtain both protein and RNA. This method allowed a direct comparison between RNA expression and protein levels in a specific population of cells to be made. To achieve this, the cells were lysed with TRI reagentTM, from which RNA and protein were later extracted. The culture medium was aspirated from each well and the cells washed with 3 ml HBSS. After discarding the HBSS, 1 ml of TRI reagentTM was added to each well. Lysis was aided by repeat pipetting, and confirmed by microscopy. The products were transferred to 1.5 ml eppendorf tubes and frozen for later processing. Protocols for the extraction of RNA and protein from TRI reagentTM, and the subsequent measurement of gene expression and protein levels are described in Sections 3.3 and 3.6.

3.3 DETERMINATION OF GENE EXPRESSION

Gene expression, defined as the amount of messenger RNA (mRNA) produced from the DNA gene template, was measured semi-quantitatively by RT-PCR. In summary, total RNA was extracted from TRI reagentTM and converted to complimentary DNA (cDNA) in a reverse transcriptase (RT) reaction. This cDNA was then amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using specific primers to target the mRNA sequences of interest. The quantity of product was measured with a scanning densitometer, and the amount expressed relative to the concurrent expression of Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH-3), which was used as an internal control.

3.3.1 Nucleic Acid Extraction from TRI reagentTM

TRI reagentTM is a solution of guanidine thiocyanate and phenol in a mono-phase solution, which enables the simultaneous extraction of DNA, RNA and protein from cells as described by Chomczynski.⁵⁰ The following protocol was used:
Separation of the Mixture into 3 Phases

Samples frozen in TRI reagentTM were thawed by standing at room temperature for 5 minutes. A fifth of a ml of Chloroform (BDH Laboratory Supplies) for each 1 ml of TRI was added to each sample and the tubes vortexed for 15 seconds. After standing at room temperature for 10 minutes, the samples were centrifuged at 12,000 g for 15 minutes. This separated the solution into 3 phases (Figure 3.4): an upper clear inorganic phase (containing RNA), a fine interphase layer (containing DNA) and a lower red organic phase (containing protein).

RNA Extraction

For RNA extraction, the upper aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh Eppendorf tube, with care taken not to disturb the interphase. Half a ml of Isopropanol (BDH Laboratory Supplies) per original 1 ml of TRI reagentTM was added to precipitate the RNA, the solution mixed and left to stand for 10 minutes at room temperature and then centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 minutes to form an RNA pellet. The supernatant was removed and the RNA pellet washed in 1 ml of 75% ethanol (BDH Laboratory Supplies) per original ml of TRI reagentTM. After centrifuging at 7,500 g for 5 minutes, the supernatant was removed and the pellet allowed to partially dry. The pellets from individual samples were combined and dissolved in an appropriate volume of ultrapure water (usually 60 µl), and stored at -40°C.

DNA extraction

The interphase and organic phase were used for DNA and protein extraction. After carefully removing all of the aqueous phase (to reduce RNA contamination), 0.3 ml of 100% ethanol per original 1 ml of TRI reagentTM was added to precipitate the DNA.



Figure 3.4Schematic Diagram Showing the 3 Phases after Centrifugation of the
TRI reagentTM and Sample Mixture

Following centrifugation the TRI reagentTM, chloroform and sample mixture separated into 3 distinct phases: the upper aqueous phase containing dissolved RNA, the interphase precipitated DNA and the lower organic phase dissolved protein.

The solution was gently mixed by inversion, allowed to stand for 3 minutes at room temperature, and centrifuged at 2000 g for 5 minutes to pellet the DNA. The protein containing supernatant was then removed and stored at -40° C (see Section 3.6.3 for protein extraction). The DNA pellet was washed for 40 minutes in a 0.1 M Sodium Citrate/10% Ethanol solution to remove residual phenol. One ml of wash solution was used for each original 1 ml of TRI reagentTM. The pellet was centrifuged at 4000 g for 5 minutes and the wash repeated. The supernatant was then discarded, 1.5 ml of 75% ethanol wash added and the pellet left to stand for 20 minutes. After removing the ethanol, the pellet was then dried out and dissolved in an appropriate volume of ultrapure water (usually 200 µl). To help dissolution of the pellet, the tubes were placed in a water bath at 50°C for 30 minutes. DNA in solution was stored at -20°C.

3.3.2 Quantifying the Amount of Available DNA and RNA

The extraction of nucleic acids from TRI reagentTM produced differing concentrations of DNA and RNA for each sample. It was important to quantify the amount of nucleic acid present so that an equal amount of RNA could be added to subsequent reverse transcriptase (RT) reactions and DNA in polymerase chain reaction (PCR) experiments. Quantification was performed using an ultraviolet (UV) light spectrophotometer (WPA UV1101) set to measure light at a wavelength of 260 nm. RNA and DNA both absorb UV light maximally at this wavelength, with 50 ng/µl of DNA and 40 ng/µl of RNA in a quartz cuvette corresponding to a recorded optical density (OD₂₆₀) of 1.

Nucleic acid samples were thawed on ice. To 'zero' the machine, a 'blank' sample containing 150 μ l of water in a clean quartz cuvette was used. For test samples, a 50 fold dilution of the DNA/RNA solution (3 μ l of DNA/RNA solution and 147 μ l water)

was placed in the cuvette and measured. Between samples, the cuvette was cleaned carefully. To calculate the concentration of DNA or RNA in the samples, the following equations were used:

DNA concentration $(ng/\mu l) = (OD_{260} \text{ reading})/(1/50) \text{ x dilution factor (50)}$

RNA concentration
$$(ng/\mu l) = (OD_{260} \text{ reading})/(1/40) \times dilution factor (50)$$

(1/50 and 1/40 correspond to the OD_{260} of $1ng/\mu l$ DNA and RNA respectively.)

3.3.3 Reverse Transcriptase Reaction

Prior to amplification, it was necessary to convert the relatively unstable single stranded RNA into double stranded cDNA by adding a strand of 'complimentary' bases to the RNA template in an RT reaction. A schematic diagram of an RT reaction is shown in Figure 3.5. cDNA provides a much more stable platform than RNA, allowing it to be used as a template in PCR reactions.

Reagents

The complimentary strand was formed using an RNA-dependent DNA polymerase derived from the Moloney-Murine Leukaemia Virus (M-MLV; Sigma). This was supplied with a buffer (10x M-MLV RT buffer; Sigma) containing 500 mM Tris-HCL, 500 mM KCl, 30 mM MgCl₂ and 50 mM DTT to optimise the reaction. To initiate the RT reaction, the RNA template needed to be 'primed' by short strands of nucleotides (primers) bound to the RNA template. Random nonamers (Sigma) were chosen and came as a 50 μ M solution. These are random sequences of 9 nucleotides that bind randomly to complimentary segments on the RNA template. The use of random primers allowed total RNA to be converted to cDNA. They have the advantage over oligo-dTs in that they do not require the presence of intact poly-A tails on messenger RNA



Figure 3.5 Schematic Diagram of a Reverse Transcriptase Reaction

In an RT reaction, unstable single-stranded RNA is converted to stable double-stranded cDNA. Random nonamers (primers) and dNTPs are initially combined with RNA template. After allowing the primers to bind, the enzyme M-MLV is added, which transcribes a complimentary sequence of bases in a 5' to 3' direction, forming a cDNA strand. Primers and dNTPs are added in excess to ensure the complete conversion of RNA into cDNA.

(mRNA) to bind. The poly-A tails can often be damaged during processing, resulting in a decreased yield of cDNA if oligo-dTs are used and hence a false negative result. Finally, a deoxynucleotide-triphosphate mix (dNTPs; Sigma), containing 10 mM of dATP, dCTP, dGTP and dTTP was used. These nucleotides formed the building blocks of the reaction by being incorporated into the new complimentary strands.

Protocol

The following protocol based on that recommended by Sigma[®] was employed. All reactions were set up on ice. For each reaction, 2 μ l of dNTPs and 2 μ l of random nonamers were added to a clean, nuclease-free 0.5 ml eppendorf tube. A volume of RNA sample equivalent to 2 μ g total RNA was added to each tube, and the volume made up to 30 μ l with ultrapure water. After gently mixing, the tubes were centrifuged briefly to get all components to the bottom of the tube. They were then placed in a Progene thermal cycler (Techne Ltd) and heated at 70°C for 10 minutes to eradicate any tertiary RNA structures and subsequently allow efficient primer binding. The tubes were then cooled rapidly on ice to allow the primers to bind, before 10 μ l of a 'mastermix' containing 2 μ l M-MLV (400 units), 4 μ l M-MLV buffer and 4 μ l water was added. The tubes were then incubated in the thermal cycler at 20°C for 10 minutes, and then at 37°C for 50 minutes to allow the cDNA stand to be synthesised. Finally, the tubes were heated to 94°C for 10 minutes to denature the M-MLV enzyme and terminate the reaction.

In summary, as the amount of RNA (2 μ g) used in every reaction was the same, each reaction produced 2 μ g of cDNA in 40 μ l total volume, resulting in a cDNA concentration of 50 ng/ μ l. The cDNA was stored at -20°C.

3.3.4 Polymerase Chain Reaction: Overview

The processes described above produced only a tiny quantity of the target mRNA sequences in the form of stable cDNA. In order to quantify gene expression, these target sequences needed to be amplified until the relevant cDNA products were present in large enough quantities to be measured macroscopically. The technique chosen to amplify the cDNA was PCR. This technique allows millions of copies of a target sequence to be produced in a short length of time. It utilises a cyclical process in which the target cDNA sequence is duplicated during each cycle, resulting in an exponential increase in the amount of product. Thus, a very small amount of starting product can quickly be amplified to a level which can easily be measured.

The PCR Cycle

Each cycle of a PCR reaction has 3 stages: denaturation, annealing and elongation. Denaturation involves heating the cDNA to a high temperature (90-94°C) to break it down into its 2 component strands, and thereby expose the nucleotide bases. The temperature is subsequently reduced during the annealing stage, to provide optimum conditions for the binding of specifically designed oligonucleotide primers to their complimentary nucleotide sequences. The temperature is then raised to the optimum temperature for the action of DNA polymerase which, using the primers as a starting point, adds a strand of nucleotide bases in a 5' to 3' direction to form a double stranded product. As each denatured strand is converted into a new DNA strand, there is effectively a doubling of the target DNA sequence with each cycle. Therefore after 35-40 cycles, the amount of target DNA present will be substantial. A schematic diagram of the first 2 cycles of a PCR reaction is shown in Figure 3.6. A diagram illustrating the exponential increase in target DNA sequences is shown in Figure 3.7. At the end of a



Figure 3.6 Diagram Showing the First 2 Cycles of a PCR Reaction

Heat denaturation separates the cDNA strand into 2 single stranded templates. Lowering the temperature allows oligonucleotide primers specific to the target sequence to anneal. DNA polymerase (TAQ), using the primers as a starting point adds a strand of complimentary dNTPs producing 2 new DNA strands. A further doubling occurs in cycle 2, resulting in 4 DNA strands.



Figure 3.7 Diagram Showing the Doubling of cDNA with Each PCR Cycle

At the end of 6 cycles, there are 64 copies of the original single template. After 35 cycles, depending on the dynamics of the reaction, there is potential for up to 2^{35} copies.

PCR reaction, the amount of target DNA present will be proportionate to the amount of starting template. In these studies, all reactions for a specific target used the same amount of starting template, making it possible to form comparisons between the results from different samples. However, it was also necessary to control for the general activation level of a cell, and also for variation in the efficiency of each reaction. For this purpose, a 'house-keeping' gene or internal control was used.

Internal Control: GAPDH-3

Even very small variations in the efficiency of separate PCR reactions can have a significant effect on the final yield of product, and need to be controlled for. These differences can occur due to disparity in the efficiency of separate RT reactions, loading errors, or even due to slight differences between individual PCR machines. In addition, it is also necessary to control for the general level of cell activation. For example, in proliferative or inflammatory states, gene expression as a whole within cells is increased. If target gene expression alone is measured, it is not possible to determine whether any changes in expression are due to specific changes in the target gene's expression or to a more general change in cell activity. To control for both of these problems, target gene expression was expressed semi-quantitatively as a ratio relative to the expression of the 'house-keeping' gene glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH-3). GAPDH-3 is a key enzyme in glycolysis and is constitutively expressed at a level reflecting general cell activation.²⁴⁸ Thus, any change in the ratio of target gene expression relative to GAPDH-3 could only have been due to specific gene activation or suppression, and not to changes in general cell activity. Likewise, any variation in the efficiency of PCR reactions would have affected the final yield of both the target gene and GAPDH-3, but not the ratio between them. Therefore, for each sample and each target gene, 2 reactions were set up to quantify target gene and concurrent GAPDH-3 expression. To further increase the accuracy of the results, all RT-PCR experiments were performed twice and a mean value of recorded.

Reagents

All reagents were supplied by Sigma[®] unless stated otherwise. REDTag, a heat-stable DNA polymerase which can tolerate temperatures of up to 100°C (and thus not be denatured in the PCR reaction) was used to synthesize the DNA strands. It was supplied in a 1 unit DNA polymerase/µl solution with 20 mM Tris-HCL at pH 8.0, 100 mM KCl, 0.1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 0.5% Tween 20, 0.5% Igepal CA-630, inert red dye and 50% glycerol. For some reactions, JumpstartTM REDTaq DNA polymerase was used. It was provided as a 1 unit/ μ l solution and in an identical buffer to REDTaq. JumpstartTM REDTaq consists of REDTaq blended with an antibody that binds to the enzyme at low temperatures, inactivating it. During the initial denaturation stage of the PCR reaction, the antibody is displaced, activating the enzyme. This system enables each PCR reaction to be completely assembled in one step, eliminating the need for the 'hot-start' stage required with REDTaq alone, and thus reduces set up time and the potential for contamination. The DNA polymerases were provided with a PCR buffer (10x concentration) containing 100 mM Trizama[®]-HCL at pH 8.3 and 500 mM KCl, which was diluted 10 fold in the final reaction. A separate 25 mM solution of magnesium chloride was also supplied. Magnesium is an essential co-factor for DNA polymerase, and adjustment of the final magnesium level (1.5-2.5 mM) allowed the stringency or efficacy of each PCR reaction to be optimised. A dNTP mix containing 10 mM of dATP, dCTP, dGTP and dTTP formed the building blocks of the reaction. Finally, oligonucleotide primers specific for each target were obtained.

Primers

The sequences for the primer sets used in these experiments were taken from published work in the literature or from primers previously used in our own laboratory.^{269;273} The primer sets all conformed to basic principles of primer design. Each set was designed to amplify a small section of the target cDNA sequence between 100-400 base pairs (bp) in length, with one primer binding to the sense strand and the other to the anti-sense strand of the cDNA target. The primers were all around 20 bp long, to enable a sequence of nucleotides to be designed to allow specific binding to only one location on the genome. This was checked using the Basic Alignment Sequence Homology Tool (BLAST) on the NCBI website. The target sequences chosen also spanned at least one exon-exon boundary on the original mRNA sequence, to prevent the amplification of contaminating genomic DNA. The primer annealing temperature (T_m), defined as the temperature at which half of the primer will anneal to the target sequence, was approximated for each primer using the "Wallace formula":

 T_m (°C) = [4(No. of G/C bases) + 2(No. of A/T bases)]

The G/C bases contribute more to the Tm as they have stronger hydrogen bonds than A/T bases, conferring greater stability. The estimated T_m for each primer set obtained using this formula was used as a guide when subsequently optimising the PCR reactions (see Section 3.3.5). Details of specific primer sets are shown in Table 3.2.

General PCR Protocols

The PCR protocols used were based on the protocols recommended by Sigma[®] but were optimised for each primer set. All experiments were performed in a clean environment with sterile technique used throughout, and all plastic wear autoclaved prior to use. Reactions using REDTaq were prepared as follows: Aliquots of sample cDNA were

Table 3.2Primer Sequences

Forward (F) and reverse (R) primers for each target, primer sequences, calculated annealing temperatures (T_m) and product sizes are shown.

Primer	Sequence (5' to 3')	Tm (°C)	Product Size (bp)	
ACE 216 (F)	CACCAATGACACGGAAAGTG	64	240	
ACE 216 (R)	GCATCAAAGTGGGTTTCGTT	64	210	
VEGF (F)	CATCCTGTGTGCCCCTGATG	64	243 (VEGF ₁₂₁)	
VEGF (R)	TTCCTCCTGCCCGGCTCAC	64	375 (VEGF ₁₆₅)	
VEGFR-1 (F)	TCATGAATGTTTCCCTGCAA	56	077	
VEGFR-1 (R)	GTGCTGCTTCCTGGTCCTAA	62	211	
sVEGFR-1 (F)	TCATGAATGTTTCCCTGCAA	56	110	
sVEGFR-1 (R)	TTTGTTGCAGTGCTCACCTC	60	119	
VEGFR-2 (F)	AGACTTTGAGCATGGAAG	52	210	
VEGFR-2 (R)	CCATTCCACCAAAAGATG	52	312	
GAPDH-3 (F)	GAGTCAACGGATTTGGTCGT	64	195	
GAPDH-3 (R)	GACAAGCTTCCCGTTCTCAG	64	COI	

added to 500 µl eppendorf tubes. Positive and negative control tubes, containing proven cDNA and ultrapure water respectively, were also set up for each experiment. A preprepared master-mix solution containing 10x PCR buffer, magnesium chloride, dNTPs, ultrapure water and primers was then added to each tube to make the volume up to 45 μ l. The tubes were then vortexed for 5 seconds to ensure mixing, and centrifuged briefly at 2000 g to collect the tube contents at the base. Each reaction tube was then placed in a Progene thermal cycler (Techne Ltd) and heated to 94°C for 4 minutes to denature the DNA template. The temperature was reduced to 65°C and 5 µl of a master-mix containing 0.5 µl REDTaq, 0.5 µl 10x PCR buffer and 4 µl water added. Adding the REDTaq at this stage in a 'hot-start' protocol helped to decrease non-specific amplification. Each tube then underwent 35 cycles of denaturation, annealing and elongation, followed by a final 10 minute elongation period at 72°C to ensure complete sequence extension. Final protocols for each primer set are described in Section 3.3.5. Jumpstart REDTaq was used for all the RT-PCR reactions in the cell culture experiments, and for the VEGF receptor RT-PCR reactions in the claudication trial. The experiments were prepared as follows: Aliquots of sample cDNA were carefully added to the bottom of the wells on 96-well PCR plates. A pre-prepared master-mix solution containing 10x PCR buffer, magnesium chloride, dNTPs, ultrapure water, primers and jumpstart REDTaq was then added to each well to make a total reaction volume of 50 µl. Each plate also had positive control and negative control wells. The plate was then covered with a PCR film, placed in a Progene thermal cycler and heated to 94°C for 4 minutes to denature the DNA template and activate the REDTaq. Each plate then underwent 35 cycles of denaturation, annealing and elongation, followed by a final period of 10 minutes of elongation at 72°C to ensure complete sequence extension. The specific optimised protocols for each primer set are described in Section 3.3.5.

3.3.5 PCR: Optimisation and Final Experimental Conditions

Variations in primer properties, PCR product length and cDNA template availability all alter the dynamics of a PCR reaction. Given these variables, it was necessary to adapt the basic PCR protocols for each primer set to produce consistent, clean and measurable products. This optimisation process was performed by:

Altering Reaction Stringency

The stringency of a reaction describes its efficacy and specificity, and was altered by varying T_m and MgCl₂ concentration (see Appendix 2). A stringent reaction will produce clean products but will have lower yields than a less stringent reaction, which will conversely have a less clean product. Lowering T_m increases primer binding to the target site, but it also increases non-specific primer binding, resulting in spurious PCR products. Raising T_m has the opposite effect, increasing the stringency of the reaction. MgCl₂ acts as a co-factor for DNA polymerase. High levels of MgCl₂ increase the efficacy of DNA polymerase, but allow sequencing errors to occur (low stringency), whilst low magnesium levels have the opposite effect (high stringency). Initially, a T_m slightly lower than that predicted by the Wallace formula was chosen, combined with a high MgCl₂ concentration to produce a low stringency reaction. The stringency was then gradually increased (by increasing T_m or lowering MgCl₂) until a clean product was produced. For these experiments, a final MgCl₂ of between 1.0 mM and 2.5 mM was used, and annealing temperatures varied between 56°C and 60°C.

Varying the Amount of Template

If raising the stringency of the reaction to obtain a clean product resulted in low product yields, the amount of starting template was increased to circumvent this problem (see Appendix 2). For these experiments, between 50 and 400 ng of cDNA per reaction was used. In addition, the concentration of primer could also be altered (0.5 to 1.0 μ M used).

Altering PCR Cycle Conditions

Finally, the PCR reactions could be optimised by varying the PCR cycle conditions (see Appendix 2). Annealing time was varied between 30-45 seconds, elongation time between 45-60 seconds, and total number of PCR cycles between 35-40 cycles. Increasing annealing and elongation times allowed greater time for primer binding or DNA synthesis to occur respectively. Increasing the cycle number allowed more amplification to occur.

Therefore, following the optimisation process, a specific protocol was developed for each primer set. The exact conditions used for ACE 216, VEGF, VEGFR-1, sVEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 primers are described in Tables 3.3 to 3.6. For the GAPDH-3 internal controls, identical PCR conditions to the study primer set being examined were used. The GAPDH-3 controls were prepared concurrently, using the same reagents and run in the same thermal cycler or plate as the study experiments. The only difference was that the GAPDH-3 experiments required only 50 ng $(1 \ \mu l)$ of cDNA template, with the volume made up to 50 μl with ultrapure water.

3.3.6 Analysis of PCR Products

The products of the PCR reactions were analysed by gel electrophoresis to visualise the products and separate them by size. A photograph of the gel was scanned, and scanning densitometry performed to quantify the amount of product present.

Table 3.3Final ACE 216 PCR Conditions

For reactions using Jumpstart REDTaq, the initial master-mix was prepared containing all the constituents of the reaction (using the same quantities shown below), and the PCR cycling conditions were identical except that the hot-start stage was omitted.

Reagent	[Stock]	Volume added (µl)	[Reaction]
cDNA Template	50 ng/µl	6	-
PCR Master-mix			
PCR Buffer	10x	4.5	1x
MgCl ₂	25 mM	3	1.5 mM
dNTPs	10 mM	1	0.2 mM
Primers (F+R)	50 µM	0.5	0.5 µM
Ultrapure water		30	-
TAQ Master-mix			
PCR Buffer	10x	0.5	1x
REDTaq	1 u/µl	0.5	0.01 u/µl
Ultrapure water		4	-
Total PCR R	eaction Volume	50	

	Temperature (ºC)	Time
Denaturation	94	4 minutes
Hot-start	65	
35 Cycles		
Denaturation	94	30 seconds
Annealing	60	45 seconds
Elongation	72	45 seconds
Polyadenylation	72	10 minutes

Table 3.4Final VEGF PCR Conditions

For reactions using Jumpstart REDTaq, the initial master-mix was prepared containing all the constituents of the reaction (using the same quantities shown below), and the PCR cycling conditions were identical except that the hot-start stage was omitted.

Reagent	[Stock]	Volume added (µl)	[Reaction]
cDNA Template	50 ng/µl	4	-
PCR Master-mix			
PCR Buffer	10x	4.5	1x
MgCl ₂	25 mM	3	1.5 mM
dNTPs	10 mM	1	0.2 mM
Primers (F+R)	50 µM	1	1 µM
Ultrapure water		31.5	-
TAQ Master-mix			
PCR Buffer	10x	0.5	1x
REDTaq	1 u/µl	0.5	0.01 u/µl
Ultrapure water		4	-
Total PCR R	eaction Volume	50	

	Temperature (°C)	Time
Denaturation	94	4 minutes
Hot-start	65	
35 Cycles		
Denaturation	94	30 seconds
Annealing	58	45 seconds
Elongation	72	60 seconds
Polyadenylation	72	10 minutes

Table 3.5Final VEGFR-1 and sVEGFR-1 PCR Conditions

VEGFR-1 and sVEGFR-1 PCR conditions were identical. The same forward primer was used for both primer sets, with the distinct reverse primers targeting the specific RNA sequences for each receptor.

Reagent	[Stock]	Volume added (µl)	[Reaction]
cDNA Template	50 ng/µl	6	-
Jumpstart Master-mix			
PCR Buffer	10x	5	1x
MgCl ₂	25 mM	2	1 mM
dNTPs	10 mM	1	0.2 mM
Primers (F+R)	50 µM	1	1 µM
Jumpstart REDTaq	1 u/µl	0.5	0.01 u/µl
Ultrapure water		34.5	-
Total PCR F	Reaction Volume	50	

	Temperature (°C)	Time
Denaturation	94	4 minutes
35 Cycles		
Denaturation	94	45 seconds
Annealing	58	45 seconds
Elongation	72	60 seconds
Polyadenylation	72	10 minutes

Table 3.6Final VEGFR-2 PCR Conditions

_

•	volume added (µl)	[Reaction]
0 ng/µl	8	-
10x	5	1x
25 mM	4	2 mM
l0 mM	1	0.2 mM
50 µM	1	1 µM
1 u/µl	0.5	0.01 u/µl
	30.5	-
n Volume	50	
	0 ng/μl 10x 25 mM 0 mM 50 μM 1 u/μl n Volume	0 ng/μl 8 10x 5 25 mM 4 0 mM 1 50 μM 1 1 u/μl 0.5 30.5 n Volume 50

	Temperature (ºC)	Time
Denaturation	94	4 minutes
40 Cycles		
Denaturation	94	45 seconds
Annealing	56	45 seconds
Elongation	72	60 seconds
Polyadenylation	72	10 minutes

Gel Electrophoresis

Gel electrophoresis was used to separate the PCR products by size, allowing confirmation of the presence of correct sized PCR product, and excluding the presence of spurious products. Gel electrophoresis involves using an electric field to pull the PCR products across a gel matrix, which acts as a sieve separating out the molecules. As DNA is uniformly negatively charged, the products migrate towards the positive electrode at a rate according to their size with smaller molecules migrating faster than large molecules. All reagents were supplied by Sigma[®] unless stated otherwise. A 2% agarose gel was prepared by adding 2 g of agarose to 100 ml 1x Tris-Borate-EDTA (TBE; 89 mM Tris-borate, 2 mM EDTA, pH 8.3) buffer and heating in a microwave until the agarose had completely dissolved. Ten μ l of ethidium bromide was then added which, by later intercalating with DNA bases allowed PCR products to be visualised under ultraviolet (UV) light. The mixture was poured into a gel tray and combs placed to create wells for the loading of PCR products. After setting, the gel was placed in a gel rig and immersed in TBE buffer. Ten µl of PCR product, combined with 2 µl of loading buffer (30% glycerol in water and 0.25% bromophenol blue) was loaded into each well. In each lane, a well was loaded with 3 µl of a 100 bp ladder (fragment sizes 100-1000 bp) to allow product size to be judged. A 120 V, 60 mA current was run across the gel for 30 minutes. The gel was then placed on a UV-light illuminator box and a Polaroid photo taken using standardised exposure settings (F-stop 8, shutter speed 0.5 seconds). A photograph of a typical gel is shown in Figure 3.8.

Scanning Densitometry

Scanning densitometry was used to quantify band intensity in the gel photographs, and hence measure the amount of PCR product present, allowing the level of gene



Figure 3.8 Photograph of a Typical Agarose Gel

The products from a VEGF RT-PCR reaction and a concurrently run GAPDH-3 control reaction are shown. The direction of migration (towards the positive electrode) is illustrated, with smaller fragments migrating further through the gel matrix than larger products. The size of the products can be assessed using the 100 bp ladder.

transcription to be determined. The photographs were scanned using an Epson GT-9500 scanner using Epson Twain software. Labworks[™] Image Acquisition and Analysis software (Ultra-Violet Products Ltd) was used to identify the bands on the photograph, and the integrated optical density (IOD) of each band recorded. As stated previously, gene transcription was expressed semi-quantitatively, as a ratio of the IOD of the target gene band to the IOD of the GAPDH-3 band.

3.3.7 Alternatives to RT-PCR for Measuring Gene Expression

Although RT-PCR was chosen to quantify RNA and gene transcription in this thesis, other well recognised methods are available. However, for the following reasons these techniques were discounted: Northern blotting analysis and nuclease protection assays were discounted as they are less sensitive than RT-PCR. In-situ hybridization was considered inappropriate as it was not necessary to measure gene expression within the tissues, and it is also less sensitive than RT-PCR. Gene arrays were also regarded as inappropriate due to extreme cost, decreased sensitivity and as only a few target genes were being examined.²³² Another more recently developed technique for measuring RNA levels is Real-time RT-PCR. This highly sensitive technique is based on the same principles as RT-PCR, but has the additional advantage of allowing the quantification of PCR products in 'real-time' as they are manufactured in each cycle. This is usually achieved by using a direct fluorescence system. The benefits of this system include the elimination of the electrophoresis and scanning densitometry stages, increased sensitivity and increased accuracy in the quantitation of mRNA.²⁹¹ However, disadvantages include the large number of preliminary experiments required to optimise reactions, and the considerable expense of the required equipment. Although RT-PCR has some limitations compared to real-time RT-PCR, it still remains a sensitive and

robust technique for RNA quantification. Therefore, due to its availability and cost advantages, it was chosen to measure gene expression for this thesis.

3.4 ACE GENOTYPE DETERMINATION

ACE genotype was determined by PCR of patient DNA extracted from whole blood. In summary, genomic DNA was extracted from whole blood, as described in Section 3.3.1, amplified using primers specific to the polymorphic region on the ACE gene, and the products examined by gel electrophoresis to determine genotype.

3.4.1 Overview

The method used for establishing ACE genotype was first described by Lindpaintner *et al* in 1995.¹⁵⁴ This technique employs two sets of primers: H ACE 3 primers were designed to flank the polymorphic region in the ACE gene, amplifying both the deletion and insertion alleles, producing two possible products (319 and 597 bp respectively). However, in heterozygous (ID) subjects, the D-allele was preferentially amplified by these primers, to the extent that the product from the I-allele was difficult to detect after gel electrophoresis. This created a potential problem of mistyping ID heterozygotes with the DD genotype. To circumvent this problem, a second pair of primers (H ACE 5), with a binding site specific to the 287 insertion sequence was designed. These 'insertion specific' primers produced a 335 bp product only in the presence of the I-allele, and therefore helped to differentiate between the ID and DD genotypes.

3.4.2 PCR conditions

PCR was performed on patient DNA samples using REDTaq and a 'hot-start' protocol as described in Section 3.3.4. Details of the primers used and possible PCR products are

illustrated in Figure 3.9. Details of the exact conditions used following an optimisation process are shown in Table 3.7. The PCR products were separated by gel electrophoresis as described in Section 3.3.6 and genotype interpreted from the gel photograph. A gel picture illustrating the 3 possible genotypes is shown in Figure 3.10.

3.5 DIFFERENTIAL TRANSCRIPTION OF ACE I/D ALLELES ANALYSIS

The mechanism by which the I/D polymorphism at intron 16 alters ACE gene expression may relate to increased production or stability of mRNA originating from the D-allele, but still remains unclear. However, in healthy I/D heterozygotes, more ACE mRNA has been shown to arise from the D-allele compared to the I-allele.²⁴⁶ In this study, the transcription of mRNA from each allele in heterozygotes, and also the potential differential effects of training on each allele were examined. In summary, cDNA was obtained from patient PBMNs as described in Sections 3.1.4 and 3.3.1. The cDNA was amplified by RT-PCR using primers targeting a segment of ACE mRNA containing a potential restriction enzyme site specific to mRNA originating from the I-allele. Following a restriction enzyme reaction, the products were examined by gel electrophoresis and scanning densitometry. All experiments were performed twice on separate occasions and the mean result taken.

3.5.1 Overview

The method used for quantifying mRNA expression from the I/D alleles was based on a protocol first described by Suehiro *et al* in 2004.²⁴⁶ Since the ACE I/D polymorphism is located at intron 16, it is spliced out of the RNA sequence as it is converted to mRNA and thus cannot be used to determine the origin of mRNA strands. However, a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) is known to exist in exon 15, which is directly linked

Duine	Sequence (El to 21)	Tm	Product Size (bp)	
Primer	ter Sequence (5° to 3')		D-allele	I- allele
H ACE 3 (F)	GCCCTGCAGGTGTCTGCAGCATGT	64	210	507
H ACE 3 (R)	GGATGGCTCTCCCCGCCTTGTCTC	64	319	597
H ACE 5 (F)	TGGGACCACAGCGCCCGCCACTAC	64	No	225
H ACE 5 (R)	TCGCCAGCCCTCCCATGCCCATAA	64	Product	335



Figure 3.9 ACE Genotyping: Primers and Possible Products

The H ACE 3 primer binding sites flank the insertion site on intron 16, resulting in 2 possible products depending on the presence of the 287 bp insertion. The 'insertion specific' H ACE 5 primers generate only 1 possible product, indicating the presence of the insertion sequence.

Table 3.7 Final ACE Genotype PCR Conditions

Both H ACE 3 and H ACE 5 primer sets used same PCR conditions.

Reagent	[Stock]	Volume added (µl)	[Reaction]
cDNA Template	50 ng/µl	2	-
PCR Master-mix			
PCR Buffer	10x	4.5	1x
MgCl ₂	25 mM	3	1.5 mM
dNTPs	10 mM	1	0.2 mM
Primers (F+R)	50 µM	1	1 µM
Ultrapure water		33.5	-
TAQ Master-mix			
PCR Buffer	10x	0.5	1x
REDTaq	1 u/µl	0.5	0.01 u/µl
Ultrapure water		4	-
Total PCR R	Reaction Volume	50	

	Temperature (ºC)	Time
Denaturation	94	4 minutes
Hot-start	65	
35 Cycles		
Denaturation	94	45 seconds
Annealing	64	45 seconds
Elongation	72	60 seconds
Polyadenylation	72	10 minutes



Figure 3.10 Gel Electrophoresis of ACE PCR Products

PCR using H ACE 3 and H ACE 5 primers allowed ACE genotype to be determined. H ACE 3 primers produced 2 possible products depending on the presence or not of the 287 bp insertion. In heterozygotes (ID) the product representing the I-allele was often faint or undetectable. Therefore, H ACE 5 primers specific for the insertion sequence were used to confirm or refute presence of the I-allele. to the I/D polymorphism. This SNP involves a G for A substitution at position 2215 (G2215A) on the cDNA strand, with the 2215G allele directly linked with the 287bp insertion, and the 2215A allele with the deletion.¹³⁴ The G2215A SNP is 'silent' and does not change the amino acid sequence, but as it is exonic and thus present in the final mRNA strand, can be used to distinguish between mRNA originating from each allele. In addition to its direct link to the 287bp insertion, the 2215G allele also creates a restriction site in the cDNA which is recognised by the restriction enzyme HAE II. Restriction enzymes were first described in bacteria, where they degrade DNA from invading viruses and thereby 'restrict' viral replication. They act by recognising specific nucleotide sequences (restriction sites), and cleaving the DNA at that site. Thus, the specific properties of the 2215G allele were exploited to measure mRNA transcription from each I/D allele. Flanking primers were used to amplify a 242 bp segment of cDNA containing the G2215A polymorphism by RT-PCR. The PCR products were then incubated with HAE II, which cleaved all cDNA strands containing the 2215G allele into 2 smaller fragments (153 and 89 bp), whilst strands with the 2215A allele were unaffected (Figure 3.11). Thus, for II subjects, all the cDNA products were cleaved whilst in DD subjects no cleavage occurred. In ID heterozygotes, the products originating from the I-allele were cleaved but the products from the D-allele were unaffected. Gel electrophoresis was used to separate the products by size, and scanning densitometry used to quantify the relative amounts of each product from each allele.

3.5.2 Protocols

RT-PCR Reaction

RT-PCR was performed on patient cDNA samples using REDTaq and a 'hot-start' protocol as described in Section 3.3.4. Details of the ACE primers (New England

Biolabs) and exact details of the conditions used following optimisation are shown in Table 3.8. Samples from subjects of all ACE I/D genotypes (II,ID,DD) were studied to enable the 100% linkage between the I/D and G2215A polymorphism to be confirmed.

Restriction Enzyme Reaction

The HAE II restriction enzyme protocol used was based on the manufacturer's recommendations (New England Biolabs). HAE II was supplied as a 20,000 unit/ml solution, with 1 unit of enzyme able to digest 1 µg of DNA in 1 hour in a reaction volume of 50 µl at 37°C. It was supplied with a buffer (10x NEBuffer 4) containing 50 mM potassium acetate, 20 mM Tris-acetate, 10 mM magnesium acetate and 1 mM dithiothreiotol when diluted to a 1x solution. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) was also provided in a 100x solution. Twenty µl of a master-mix solution containing 10 units HAE II, 1x NEBuffer 4, 1x BSA and ultrapure water was added to each 0.5 ml eppendorf tube on ice. Thirty µl of PCR product from each sample was then added to make the volume up to 50 μ l (Figure 3.11). The tubes were vortexed briefly to mix the contents, and pulse centrifuged at 2000 g to collect the tube contents at the base. Finally, the tubes were placed in a Progene thermal cycler and incubated at 37°C for 2 hours, before the reaction was terminated by denaturing the enzyme at 80°C for 20 minutes. This protocol enabled a complete digestion of all the products containing the restriction site, with control experiments using 12 hours digestion time providing identical results.

Gel Electrophoresis and Scanning Densitometry

The products from the original PCR reaction and the restriction enzyme reaction were separated by gel electrophoresis and analysed by scanning densitometry, as described in

Table 3.8	ACE 2215 Primer Details and Final PCR Conditions
-----------	--

Primer	Sequence (5' to 3')	Т _m (°С)	Product Size (bp)	
ACE 2215 (F)	CACACCCTGAAGTACGGCAC	64	242	
ACE 2215 (R)	GTGGCCATCACATTCGTCAG	62	242	

Reagent	[Stock]	Volume added (µl)	[Reaction]
cDNA Template	50 ng/µl	4	-
PCR Master-mix			
PCR Buffer	10x	4.5	1x
MgCl ₂	25 mM	4	1.5 mM
dNTPs	10 mM	1	0.2 mM
Primers (F+R)	50 µM	1	1 µM
Ultrapure water		30.5	-
TAQ Master-mix			
PCR Buffer	10x	0.5	1x
REDTaq	1 u/µl	0.5	0.01 u/µl
Ultrapure water		4	-
Total PCR Re	eaction Volume	50	

	Temperature (°C)	Time
Denaturation	94	4 minutes
Hot-start	65	
35 Cycles		
Denaturation	94	30 seconds
Annealing	60	30 seconds
Elongation	72	45 seconds
Polyadenylation	72	10 minutes

Reagent	Stock Concentration	Volume/reaction (µl)	Final Concentration
HAE II Master-mix			
HAE II Enzyme	20,000 U/ml	0.5	10 U/reaction
NEBuffer x4	x10	5	x1
BSA	x100	0.5	x1
Ultrapure Water	-	14	-
PCR Product	-	30	-
	Total Reaction Volume	50	



Figure 3.11 ACE mRNA Analysis: HAE II Reaction Conditions and Products

The recognition site of *HAE II* on exon 15 of the ACE cDNA and the potential products of the restriction reaction with each allele are shown.

Section 3.3.6. The analysis of the original 242 bp PCR product in all the samples enabled ACE gene expression to be quantified. In the results section, ACE gene transcription in the claudicant trial was taken as the mean of the results obtained from the ACE 216 and ACE 2215 primers combined. Ten μ l of each restriction enzyme reaction was loaded onto the agarose gels. In I/D heterozygotes, the IOD of the single band from the uncleaved D-allele (2215A) was compared to the sum of the IOD from the 2 fragments representing the I-allele (2215G), to give a ratio of D/I allele mRNA. An example of a gel photograph with all the potential products is shown in Figure 3.12.

3.6 MEASUREMENT OF PROTEIN LEVELS

Measurement of changes in gene expression provides an indication of cellular activation. However, the end-result of any change in cellular activity or processes is an alteration in protein expression. The level of protein present reflects the entire pathway of gene activation, RNA transcription, post-transcriptional modifications, translation into amino acid chains and finally post-translational modifications. Thus, measuring protein levels is a significant consideration when determining changes resulting from any intervention.

Two main techniques are used to quantify soluble proteins. Western blotting allows target proteins to be identified according to their molecular weight and by the binding of specific antibodies.²⁷⁰ Enzyme-linked immunosorbant assays (ELISAs) also use highly specific antibodies to identify target proteins, but do not discriminate proteins by size and cannot discriminate between different isoforms. The main advantages of ELISAs are the increased sensitivity and simplicity of the assays.²⁸⁰ Thus, ELISAs were chosen to measure ACE and VEGF levels in this thesis.



Figure 3.12 Photograph Demonstrating the Products from an ACE 2215 Reaction

PCR products from the original RT-PCR reaction were used to determine ACE expression semi-quantitatively. ACE genotype as established by PCR of genomic DNA is shown. Samples from II subjects (2215G homozygotes) are completely digested following the *HAE II* reaction. Samples from DD subjects (2215A homozygotes) demonstrate no digestion, whilst ID heterozygotes demonstrate partial digestion, allowing the relative expression of I and D-allele derived mRNA to be analysed.

3.6.1 ELISA: Overview

An ELISA is a simple, sensitive and reliable technique for measuring protein levels. A sandwich ELISA was used in these experiments. In a sandwich ELISA, an antibody is used to 'capture' the target protein onto a plate well. A second or 'detection' antibody, which recognises a separate epitope on the protein, is then added. The detection antibodies are conjugated to an enzyme assay, which allows the protein to be quantified.

Reagents

DuoSet ELISA development kits (R&D Systems) for detecting human ACE and VEGF were obtained, which use a Streptavidin-HRP colorimetric detection system to quantify the amount of target protein. These assays work by exploiting the binding properties of biotin and streptavidin. The detection antibodies used are linked to biotin molecules. When streptavidin-HRP conjugates are subsequently added, the streptavidin component binds tightly to the biotin on the detection antibody, and the active HRP component acts on a colour substrate, developing its colour. The intensity of colour produced reflects the amount of bound streptavidin-HRP, which is determined by the quantity of detection antibodies bound to captured target protein, which in turn is determined by the concentration of target protein in the original sample. In addition, each detection antibody is associated with several biotin molecules, allowing a number of streptavidin-HRP conjugates to bind to each antibody, amplifying the signal and increasing the sensitivity of the assay.

The ACE and VEGF kits both utilised the same protocols, with the only differences being the antibodies employed and the diluent used for the samples being measured. Goat anti-human ACE antibody at a working concentration of 0.8 μ g/ml in PBS (Sigma)

and 1.0 µg/ml mouse anti-human VEGF antibody in PBS were used as the 'capture' antibodies. The VEGF antibodies recognized both VEGF₁₆₅ and VEGF₁₂₁ isoforms. One percent BSA dissolved in PBS (Sigma) was used to dilute all the other reagents (Reagent diluent), to 'block' the plates, and also used as the sample diluent for VEGF samples. Twenty percent FCS (First Link Ltd) diluted in PBS was used as the sample diluent for ACE samples. Biotinylated goat anti-human ACE and VEGF antibodies diluted in reagent diluent to working concentrations of 200 ng/ml and 50 ng/ml respectively, were used as the 'detection' antibodies. Streptavidin-HRP (1 in 200 in reagent diluent) and a colour substrate (a 1:1 mixture of H_2O_2 and tetramethylbenzidine) comprised the detection system. 2N H_2SO_4 was used to stop the detection assay.

Recombinant human ACE and VEGF in reagent diluent were used to produce standard curves to allow the quantification of protein. Seven-point standard curves were produced using 2-fold serial dilutions of the recombinant protein, with a high standard of 8000 pg/ml used for ACE and 2000 pg/ml for VEGF. Between stages, 0.05% TWEEN[®] 20 (Sigma) in PBS was used as a wash buffer.

Protocols

The protocols used were based on those recommended by the manufacturer (R&D Systems) and used for both the claudicant and cell culture studies. All experiments were performed at room temperature on 96-well microplates (Nunc[™] Products) with the samples and standards prepared in duplicate wells.

One hundred μ l of diluted capture antibody was used to coat the plate wells. The plate was sealed and incubated overnight in a fridge to allow the antibodies to attach to the
well surface. The wells were then aspirated, and washed 3 times with wash buffer using a squirt bottle to completely fill the wells, with attention taken to completely remove the wash buffer after each wash by blotting the plate against clean paper towels. Three hundred µl of 1% BSA in PBS was then added to 'block' the plate, by coating the surfaces of the well not already covered in capture antibody with protein. This minimised subsequent non-specific substrate binding. After 1 hour the wells were aspirated and washed 3 times as described above. One hundred µl of sample or standards in diluent (see Sections 3.6.2 and 3.6.3 for details) were added to the wells. After incubating for 1³/₄ hours, the wells were again aspirated, washed 3 times to remove unbound protein and 100 µl of diluted detection antibody added. The plates were incubated for another 1³/₄ hours. Following 3 washes to remove unbound detection antibodies, the streptavidin-HRP conjugate was added and allowed to bind to the remaining detection antibodies. The plate was left in a dark room for 15 minutes to prevent HRP activation, and then washed 3 times to remove unbound streptavidin-HRP. One hundred µl of colour substrate (clear) was then added to the wells and left for 15 minutes. This substrate was catalysed by HRP into a blue solution, with the intensity of the solution relating to the amount of bound streptavidin-HRP present. Fifty µl of stop solution was added after 15 minutes, which turned the substrate yellow and halted the HRP reaction. The colour in each well was immediately assessed using a plate-reader (Dynex Technologies Ltd) set to measure optical density at 450 nm (the wavelength of the colour produced). A correction wavelength of 540 nm was used to adjust for nonspecific absorbance caused by the plate and reagents. The absorption values obtained from the samples were then compared to the standard curves obtained from the standards of known concentration to calculate the amount of protein present. A summary of the protocol can be seen in Figure 3.13.



Figure 3.13 Schematic Diagram of an ELISA Reaction

The steps involved in the sandwich ELISA are illustrated. A thorough wash was performed after steps 1-5 to remove excess unbound proteins or antibodies. With all assay conditions being equal, the final colour intensity was determined by the amount of target protein bound by the capture antibody, and hence by the concentration of target protein in the samples.

3.6.2 Clinical Trial Subjects

ACE and VEGF levels were measured in plasma obtained from whole blood as described in Section 3.1.4. Although it would have been preferable to have measured local (muscle) changes in protein levels, this would not have been practical or acceptable for the patients. Thus, plasma was used and should give an indication of changes occurring locally in the tissues.

Optimisation and Final Protocols

The final ELISA protocols were established after the period of optimisation to provide an assay that was sensitive within the range of plasma concentrations encountered. Separate optimisation was required for the ACE and VEGF assays, with each assay requiring a different sample diluent and dilution factor for the patient samples.

For the ACE ELISA, the plasma samples were initially diluted 1 in 2 with 1% BSA. However, the absorbance readings obtained were all above the upper end of the standard curve, and thus unusable. Increasing the dilution factor successively to 1 in 10, 1 in 20, and 1 in 40 still resulted in absorbance values above the upper level of the standard curve. The sample diluent was therefore changed to FCS in PBS to provide a greater degree of block and decrease non-specific substrate binding. Finally, a sample diluent of 20% FCS with a 1 in 40 dilution factor was utilised. These conditions produced absorbance values for the samples consistently within the linear section of the standard curve. For the VEGF ELISA, the initial 1 in 2 sample dilution in 1% BSA provided absorbance readings in the lower part of the standard curve. Decreasing the concentration of BSA to 0.1% produced readings consistently within the linear section of the standard curve.

3.6.3 Cell Culture Experiments

In the cell culture experiments, each experimental well was processed to obtain both protein and RNA as described in Section 3.2.5. This method allowed a direct comparison between RNA expression and protein levels in the same population of cells to be made. Although the original intention was to measure cellular ACE and VEGF levels using Western blotting, the protein yields after extraction from TRI reagentTM were too low to permit this. The total protein yields obtained ranged from approximately 10-20 μ g. Thus, as there was insufficient protein to perform Western blotts, the more sensitive ELISA technique was employed.

Protein Extraction from TRI reagentTM

During the processing of cells lysed in TRI reagentTM for the extraction of nucleic acids, the protein containing organic phase was separated and frozen as described in Section 3.3.1. The following protocol based on manufacturer's guidelines (Sigma) was used to extract and solubilise the protein for later measurement. After thawing, 1.5 ml of isopropanol for each 1 ml of original TRI reagentTM was added to each tube. The tubes were inverted several times, and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature to precipitate the dissolved proteins. After centrifuging for 4 minutes at 400 g to pellet the protein, the supernatant was discarded and the pellet washed in 1.5 ml 0.3 M guanidine hydrochloride in 95% ethanol per original 1 ml of TRI reagentTM for 20 minutes. The tubes were then centrifuged for 4 minutes at 400 g, the supernatant discarded and the guanidine hydrochloride wash repeated twice for total of 3 washes. Following this, 1.5 ml 100% ethanol was added to each tube, the pellet vortexed and incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes. The pellet was then centrifuged for 4 minutes at 400 g and the ethanol supernatant discarded. Excess ethanol was then removed by placing the

tubes in an oven at low temperature for 2 hours. The dried pellets were then crushed into a powder with a clean spatula, and 100 μ l 1% sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) added to dissolve the pellet. To aid pellet dissolution, the tubes were incubated in a water bath at 50°C for up to an hour, with repeat pipetting and vortexing used every 15 minutes. Insoluble protein was then removed by centrifuging at 10,000 g for 10 minutes, the supernatant removed and stored at -20°C.

Total Protein Measurement

Although each experimental well originally contained the same number of cells and the same extraction protocol used for each sample, the protein yield obtained from each well was slightly different. Measuring the total protein yield allowed the results of subsequent ELISAs to be corrected for these varying yields. Total protein obtained from each sample was thus measured using a Bradford assay.²⁶ This is a simple, sensitive assay which utilises the colour change or absorbance shift in Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 (CBB) dye when it binds to protein to determine the concentration of protein present in a sample. When unbound, the dye absorbs light at a peak of 465 nm, whereas the protein bound form has an absorbance maximum at 595 nm.

Bio-Rad protein assay dye reagent (Bio-Rad Laboratories) was obtained. A working solution of CBB reagent was prepared immediately prior to use by diluting the dye 1 in 4 with water. The protein samples stored in 1% SDS were diluted to 0.1% SDS using ultrapure water. This step was necessary to prevent the SDS from interfering with the assay. Ten μ l of each protein sample then was added in duplicate to the wells of a 96-well plate (NuncTM Products). A series of protein standards were prepared using BSA containing between 0 and 10 mg/ml. Ten μ l of each of these standards was each added

to 1 ml of CBB and mixed thoroughly. Two hundred μ l from each standard was then added in duplicate to the plate. Two hundred μ l of CBB reagent was added into each sample well. The plate was transferred immediately to a plate reader (Dynex Technologies Ltd), shaken for 10 seconds and absorbance measured at 595 nm. The results from the sample wells were then compared to the standard curve generated by the standards, allowing protein concentration to be calculated. From the results of these assays, the mean protein yield for each experimental series was calculated, and the yield from each well expressed as a ratio of the mean yield. This ratio was used as a corrective factor for subsequent ELISA results, with the measured protein level corrected by dividing the value obtained by the correction factor from the associated well.

ELISA Optimisation and Final Protocols

For the VEGF ELISAs, the protein samples in 0.1% SDS were diluted 1 in 5 with 0.1% BSA in PBS as the sample diluent, and 100 µl added to each well. This maintained the SDS concentration at 0.02%, a level previously shown not to interfere with ELISAs.¹⁴⁷ A 2000 pg/ml top standard was used and a 7-point standard curve produced using serial 2-fold dilutions. The remainder of the ELISA protocol was followed as described above. The VEGF levels measured were corrected according to the total protein yields attained by the Bradford assay, by dividing the measured VEGF level by the ratio of protein yield. For ACE ELISAs, the protein samples were again diluted 1 in 5 with various sample diluents to achieve a final SDS concentration of 0.02%. However, despite varying the protocols and using different sample diluents including BSA and FCS, it was not possible to produce a consistently measurable result with ACE, as the levels present were too low to detect.

3.7 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Graphpad Prism 4 was used for statistical analyses and nQuery Advisor 4.0 for power and sample size calculations. Non-parametric data are presented as the median with range in parentheses, while parametric data is presented as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Two-tailed tests were performed throughout, and p-values of ≤ 0.05 regarded to indicate statistical significance.

Clinical Trial Data Analysis

Due to the small numbers involved, the data were analysed using non-parametric tests as a normal distribution could not be assumed, and tests of normality were of little use with such small sample sizes. All analyses comparing the control and exercise groups were performed using the Mann Whitney U-test. Comparisons between pre- and postmeasurements within each group were made using the Wilcoxon matched pairs test. Spearman's rank correlation test was used for all tests analysing relationships between gene expression and protein levels, and between changes in ACE and VEGF. For these comparisons, the data from the control and exercise groups were combined. Power analyses were performed using 1- and 2-sample t-tests.

Cell Culture Data Analysis

Comparisons between Medium and Vehicle control groups were made using unpaired ttests. Multiple group comparisons were all made by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Dunnett's multiple comparison test was performed to assess differences within each treatment group compared to the experimental control. Bonferroni's Multiple Comparison test was used to identify differences between the 3 treatment groups. Power analyses were performed using a 2-sample t-test.

CHAPTER 4

ACE AND VEGF RESPONSES TO EXERCISE

TRAINING IN CLAUDICANTS

CHAPTER 4

4.1 BACKGROUND

Exercise training is well known to improve the symptoms of intermittent claudication, although the precise mechanism by which this occurs is relatively less well recognized.^{244;255} Several studies have revealed a role for ACE in exercise performance, with low ACE activity related to increased endurance after training in elite athletes and army recruits.^{170;288} Previous work in this laboratory has demonstrated that the I-allele of the ACE I/D polymorphism, which is associated with decreased ACE activity, is related to increased improvements in walking ability in claudicants after an exercise training programme. Furthermore, in other studies reduction in ACE activity has also been linked with increased VEGF-related angiogenesis, with suppression of ACE activity resulting in increased VEGF production.^{85;233} This relationship between ACE and VEGF provides a further potential benefit of reduced ACE activity.

The effects of an exercise training programme in claudicants on VEGF and ACE has not yet been reported. A greater understanding of how ACE and VEGF interact and react to an exercise training programme, and how these changes relate to improvements in walking ability will allow potential treatments that modulate ACE and VEGF, such as ACE inhibition, to be targeted effectively.

4.2 AIMS

The aim of this study was to assess the effects of an exercise training programme on ACE mRNA and protein expression, VEGF isoform/VEGFR mRNA expression and VEGF protein levels, and to examine these changes in relation to improvements in walking ability. The link between changes in ACE and VEGF expression was also examined, as well as differential allele expression and allelic responses in ACE ID heterozygotes.

4.3 METHODS

Patients were recruited to the trial and managed as described in Section 3.1. Determination of ACE, VEGF₁₂₁, VEGF₁₆₅, VEGFR-1, sVEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 mRNA expression was performed as described in detail in Section 3.3. ACE genotype was recorded as illustrated in Section 3.4, and differential transcription of ACE I/D alleles measured as stated in Section 3.5. ACE and VEGF protein levels were measured as described in Section 3.6. All experiments were run twice and a mean value taken apart from experiments measuring VEGF receptor expression, which were only run once using Jumpstart REDTaq. Overall ACE gene expression was expressed as a mean of the results obtained from the ACE 216 and ACE 2215 primers combined. All ELISA experiments were run twice in duplicate.

4.4 RESULTS

Eleven patients consented to take part in the trial, with 6 subjects (5 female, 1 male) randomised to the supervised exercise group and 5 subjects (2 female, 3 male) to the exercise advice only group. All subjects were Caucasian apart from 1 control of Asian origin. Demographic data and medications for each subject are summarised in Appendix 3. All demographic variables and baseline measurements were independent of treatment group at the start of the trial (Table 4.1). In the exercise group, 1 subject was ACE II genotype, 3 were ID and 2 were DD genotype. In the control group, 3 subjects were ID and 2 were MD genotype. All subjects completed all aspects of the trial successfully, with no deaths or adverse effects reported from the exercise training programme.

Table 4.1Baseline Data and Demographics

All measurements were independent of treatment group at initial assessment (Mann Whitney test). Values shown are medians (range).

	Group		
	Exercise	Control	p-value
Number	6	5	
Age (years)	77 (56-82)	65 (54-80)	0.33
Height (cm)	165 (162-169)	167 (155-173)	>0.50
Weight (kg)	61.8 (55.5-84.4)	72.3 (51.2-76.0)	0.43
BMI (kg/m²)	22.3 (21.2-30.6)	24.49 (21.3-31.0)	0.25
Mean Arterial Pressure (mmHg)	107.5 (96.7-108.3)	101.7 (91.7-111.7)	0.33
Resting Heart Rate (bpm)	76 (60-80)	72 (60-84)	>0.50
ABPI	0.82 (0.68-0.92)	0.72 (0.71-1.30)	>0.50
CD (m)	300 (175-482)	124 (74-482)	0.25
MWD (m)	490 (353-718)	366 (134-859)	>0.50
Heel Raises	55 (25-208)	85 (25-139)	>0.50
ACE Genotype	1 II;3 ID;2 DD	2 II; 3 ID	-
ACE mRNA Expression	0.56 (0.35-0.93)	0.54 (0.39-0.99)	>0.50
VEGF ₁₂₁ mRNA Expression	0.36 (0.23-0.68)	0.47 (0.40-0.66)	0.25
VEGF ₁₆₅ mRNA Expression	0.14 (0.05-0.48)	0.21 (0.11-0.43)	>0.50
VEGFR-1 mRNA Expression	0.36 (0.19-0.46)	0.35 (0.22-0.45)	>0.50
sVEGFR-1 mRNA Expression	0.15 (0.09-0.24)	0.15 (0.09-0.23)	>0.50
VEGFR-2 mRNA Expression	0.11 (0.02-0.25)	0.15 (0.13-0.19)	0.33
ACE Protein Levels	187 (87-229)	186 (107-266)	>0.50
VEGF Protein Levels	16.9 (7.2-82.3)	25.8 (3.1-49.0)	>0.50

4.4.1 Physiological Responses to Exercise Training

General Responses

After the 8 week training period, no changes were noted in weight, resting heart rate, mean arterial pressure and ABPI in either the exercise or the control groups (Table 4.2).

Walking Ability

In the control group, there was no improvement in CD (pre 124 (74-482) metres, post 158 (88-418) metres; p = 0.44) or MWD (pre 366 (134-859) metres, post 361 (135-835) metres; p = 0.625). However, in the exercise group CD improved significantly from an initial 300 (175-482) metres to 406 (221-705) metres after training (p < 0.05), and MWD improved from 490 (353-718) metres to 634 (460-864) metres after training (p < 0.05). When comparing the two groups, the increase in MWD in the exercise group was significant (p < 0.01) compared to the control group, but no difference (p = 0.25) was found between the groups for the change in CD (Figures 4.1 and 4.2). Maximum heart rate and perceived exertion and pain scores at MWD were also unchanged in both groups (Table 4.2).

Heel Raises

In the control group, there was no change in heel raises (p = 0.06; pre 85 (25-139), post 54 (18-129)) after 8 weeks. In the exercise group, heel raises increased in 5 of the 6 subjects, although the increase was not significant (p = 0.06; pre 55 (25-208), post 136 (42-360); Figure 4.3a). However, the change in heel raises in the exercise group was significant compared to the control group (P < 0.005; Figure 4.3b). Perceived exertion and pain scores at the end of the heel raise test were also unchanged in both groups (Table 4.2).

Table 4.2Changes in General Measurements after 8 weeks.

No significant changes were noted in general measurements after 8 weeks (Wilcoxon signed rank test). Values shown are medians (range).

	Control Group		
	Pre	Post	p-value
Weight (kg)	72.3 (51.2-76.0)	72.6 (52.5-75.2)	>0.50
Resting Heart Rate (bpm)	72 (60-84)	76 (68-92)	0.25
Mean Arterial Pressure (mmHg)	101.7 (91.7-111.7)	100.0 (85.0-113.3)	>0.50
ABPI	0.72 (0.71-1.30)	0.79 (0.67-1.33)	>0.50
Heart Rate at MWD (bpm)	100 (76-126)	100 (76-116)	>0.50
Perceived Pain (RPP) at MWD	4 (3-6)	5 (3-7)	0.50
Perceived Exertion (RPE) at MWD	15 (13-17)	13 (11-17)	0.50
RPP at maximum heel raises	5 (4-5)	5 (3-5)	>0.50
RPE at maximum heel raises	14 (11-17)	15 (11-17)	>0.50

	Evereice Crown		
	Exercise Group		_
	Pre	Post	p-value
Weight (kg)	61.8 (55.5-84.4)	60.0 (54.6-85.2)	0.13
Resting Heart Rate (bpm)	76 (60-80)	76 (64-84)	0.16
Mean Arterial Pressure (mmHg)	107.5 (96.7-108.3)	105 (91.7-113.3)	>0.50
ABPI	0.82 (0.68-0.92)	0.77 (0.64-0.93)	>0.50
Heart Rate at MWD (bpm)	92 (68-114)	90 (80-104)	>0.50
Perceived Pain at MWD (RPP)	4.5 (3-6)	5 (3-7)	>0.50
Perceived Exertion at MWD (RPE)	15 (13-15)	15 (13-15)	>0.50
RPP at maximum heel raises	4.5 (3-7)	5 (3-7)	>0.50
RPE at maximum heel raises	13 (11-17)	14 (13-15)	>0.50



Figure 4.1 Changes in CD after Exercise Training

A Pre and post CD in the control and exercise groups. CD in the exercise group increased significantly, but no change was found in the controls (Wilcoxon signed rank test). **B** The exercise group increased CD by 105 (10-223) metres after training, but this increase was not significant compared to the controls (Mann Whitney test).



Figure 4.2 Changes in MWD after Exercise Training

A Pre and post MWD in the control and exercise groups. MWD in the exercise group increased significantly, but no change was found in the controls (Wilcoxon signed rank test). **B** The exercise group increased MWD by 141 (28-426) metres after training, which was a significant increase compared to the control group (Mann Whitney test).



Figure 4.3 Changes in Heel Raises after Exercise Training

A No significant changes in heel raises were noted (Wilcoxon signed rank test) although in the exercise group 5 of the 6 subjects recorded an increase in heel raises. **B** Post training, repetitive heel raises in the control group decreased by 9 (-44 to -6) while the exercise group increased by 36 (0-196). The change in number of repetitive heel raises between the 2 groups was significant (Mann Whitney test). A correlation between the change in number of repetitive heel raises and change in MWD was noted (R = 0.81, p < 0.005; Figure 4.4).

4.4.2 Molecular Responses to Exercise Training

ACE Responses to Exercise Training

ACE gene expression was unchanged in the control group, but increased 30% (7-57%) in the exercise group after 8 weeks training (p < 0.05). The difference between the two groups was not significant (Figure 4.5). However, the increases in ACE gene expression in the exercise group were not reflected by increases in plasma ACE levels, which were unchanged in both groups (Figure 4.6). Interestingly, changes in ACE gene expression appeared to be genotype influenced, with DD subjects having a median increase of 50%, ID subjects 19% and II subjects 16%. In comparing ACE gene expression with ACE protein level, there was no correlation between baseline ACE gene expression and ACE protein levels (R = -0.536; p < 0.10), and no correlation was found between the percentage change in gene expression and protein levels (R = 0.21; p>0.50).

Analysis of the ACE 2215 G/A polymorphism revealed that all patients genotyped (by standard PCR of genomic DNA) as DD expressed only the 2215A allele. Likewise, all subjects genotyped as II expressed only the 2215G allele, and all ID heterozygotes expressed both the 2215A and 2215G alleles. Thus, the direct linkage between the 2215A and the ACE D-alleles, and between the 2215G and ACE I-alleles, as shown previously by Suehiro *et al* was confirmed.²⁴⁶ When examining I/D (G/A) heterozygote subjects at initial assessment, in all bar one subject expression of the D-allele was greater than the I-allele (Figure 4.7a). Furthermore, in the 3 subjects from the exercise group, the D:I allele ratio increased further after the training period, in conjunction with



Figure 4.4 Correlation Between Changes in Heel Raises and MWD

The changes in the number of heel raises correlated to the changes in MWD (Spearman's correlation test).



Figure 4.5 Changes in ACE Expression after Exercise Training

A Pre and post ACE expression in the control and exercise groups. In the exercise group, ACE expression increased significantly but no change was found in the controls (Wilcoxon signed rank test). **B** In the exercise group, ACE expression increased by 30% (7-57%) following the training period, but this increase was not significant compared to the controls (Mann Whitney test).



Figure 4.6 Changes in Plasma ACE Levels after Exercise Training

A Pre and post ACE levels in the control and exercise groups. No significant change was noted in plasma ACE levels for the exercise group or the control group (Wilcoxon signed rank test). **B** No significant difference was noted between the groups (Mann Whitney test).



Figure 4.7 ACE D:I Allele Ratio and ACE Expression

A Among the ID heterozygotes, all bar one subject had a D:I ratio greater than 1 at initial assessment. All 3 subjects in the exercise group increased D:I ratio after 8 weeks training. **B** A significant correlation between ACE expression and D:I ratio was noted (Spearman's correlation test).

an overall increase in ACE gene expression, indicating preferential activation of the D allele in these subjects. In the control group, 2 out of 3 subjects decreased the D:I ratio after 8 weeks, with 1 subject showing a slight increase (Figure 4.7a).

When examining the link between ACE expression and D:I allele ratio, the results from both groups and assessments were combined. Analysis showed a significant correlation between ACE expression and the D:I ratio (R = 0.58; p < 0.05, Figure 4.7b). However, the correlation between ACE protein level and D:I ratio was not statistically significant (R = -0.50; p < 0.10).

VEGF Responses to Exercise Training

In the exercise group, VEGF₁₂₁ expression increased by 43% (6-158%, p < 0.05) whilst no change was found in the control group (Figure 4.8a). The increase in VEGF₁₂₁ expression in the exercise group was significant compared to the controls (Figure 4.8b). Similarly, VEGF₁₆₅ expression also significantly increased by 70% (3-255%; p < 0.05) in the exercise group compared to the controls, which did not change (Figure 4.9). Although VEGF protein levels increased in 5 of the 6 subjects in the exercise group, no significant change was found (94% (-7-359%); p < 0.10), and no change detected in the control group (Figure 4.10).

No correlation was noted between initial VEGF₁₂₁ expression and baseline VEGF protein levels (R = 0.16; p > 0.50), or between initial VEGF₁₆₅ expression and VEGF levels (R = -0.08; p > 0.50). In addition, there was no correlation between the percentage change in VEGF₁₂₁ expression (R = 0.16; p > 0.50) or VEGF₁₆₅ expression (R = 0.06; p > 0.50) compared to the percentage change in VEGF protein levels.



Figure 4.8 Changes in VEGF₁₂₁ Expression after Exercise Training

A Pre and post VEGF₁₂₁ expression in the control and exercise groups. VEGF₁₂₁ expression increased significantly in the exercise group, with no change in the controls (Wilcoxon signed rank test). **B** VEGF₁₂₁ expression increased by 43% (6-158%) in the exercise group, which was a significant increase compared to the control group (Mann Whitney test).



Figure 4.9 Changes in VEGF₁₆₅ Expression after Exercise Training

A Pre and post VEGF₁₆₅ expression in the control and exercise groups. VEGF₁₆₅ expression increased significantly in the exercise group, but not in the controls (Wilcoxon signed rank test). **B** In the exercise group, VEGF₁₆₅ expression increased by 70% (3-255%), which was significant compared to the controls (Mann Whitney test).



Figure 4.10 Changes in Plasma VEGF Levels after Exercise Training

A Pre and post VEGF levels in the control and exercise groups. VEGF levels in the control group were unchanged, while VEGF increased in 5 of 6 of the exercise group although this was not significant (Wilcoxon signed rank test). **B** An increase of 94% (-7-359%) in VEGF levels in the exercise group was found, but this was not significant when compared to the controls (Mann Whitney test).

VEGF Receptor Responses to Exercise Training

No significant increase in VEGFR-1 receptor expression was noted in the exercise group, the control group or between the 2 groups (Figure 4.11). For sVEGFR-1 receptors, expression increased by 63% (2-149%) in the exercise group (P < 0.05), but was unchanged in the control group (Figure 4.12a). However, the increase in expression in the exercise group was not significant compared to the controls (Figure 4.12b). Finally, for VEGFR-2 the exercise group again showed a significant (p < 0.05) increase in gene expression, with a rise of 72% (22-633%). No change was noted in the controls. The increase in VEGFR-2 expression in the exercise group was significant compared to the control to the controls.

Relationship between ACE and VEGF

A correlation was found between baseline ACE gene expression and both VEGF₁₂₁ expression (R = 0.65, p < 0.05) and VEGF₁₆₅ expression (R = 0.64, P < 0.05; Figure 4.14). However, no correlation was noted between percentage change in ACE and VEGF₁₂₁ (R = -0.136, p>0.50) or VEGF₁₆₅ (R = -0.06, p>0.50) expression. For protein levels, there was no correlation between initial ACE and VEGF levels (R = -0.09, p>0.50), or in percentage change in ACE and VEGF levels (R = -0.33, p = 0.31).

4.4.3 Correlation between Physiological and Molecular Responses

No relationship was found between any physiological measurements (CD, MWD, heel raises) and initial or changes in ACE, VEGF, or VEGF receptor gene expression and protein levels. None of the measured physiological parameters appeared to be influenced by ACE genotype, original ACE concentration or changes in ACE mRNA or protein levels.



Figure 4.11 Changes in VEGFR-1 Expression after Exercise Training

A Pre and post VEGFR-1 expression in the control and exercise groups. No change in VEGFR-1 expression was found in the exercise or control groups (Wilcoxon signed rank test). **B** An increase of 28% (-6-122%) in VEGFR-1 receptor expression was found in the exercise group, but this was not significant compared to the controls (Mann Whitney test).



Figure 4.12 Changes in sVEGFR-1 Expression after Exercise Training

A Pre and post sVEGFR-1 expression in the control and exercise groups. In the exercise group, sVEGFR-1 expression increased significantly while the control group was unchanged (Wilcoxon signed rank test). **B** sVEGFR-1 expression increased by 63% (2-149%) in the exercise group, but this was not significant compared to the controls (Mann Whitney test).



Figure 4.13 Changes in VEGFR-2 Expression after Exercise Training

A Pre and post VEGFR-2 expression in the control and exercise groups. VEGFR-2 expression increased significantly in the exercise group but not in the control group (Wilcoxon signed rank test). **B** VEGFR-2 expression increased by 72% (22-633%) in the exercise group, which was significant when compared to the controls (Mann Whitney test).



Figure 4.14 Correlation Between ACE and VEGF Gene Expression

A correlation was found between ACE gene expression with A VEGF₁₂₁ expression and **B** VEGF₁₆₅ expression (Spearman's correlation test).

4.5 **DISCUSSION**

Evidence from gene-association studies and gene-environment interaction studies have demonstrated that low ACE activity (related to the I-allele of the ACE I/D polymorphism) is linked to improved endurance performance in athletes and army recruits.^{123;170;173} Patients with intermittent claudication represent a unique group quite different from elite athletes and army recruits. Nevertheless, a pilot study performed in this laboratory also suggested that the I-allele was beneficial to training responses in claudicants. To date, studies examining the effects of ACE on endurance performance have only investigated the link between ACE genotype and endurance. Of potentially more relevance is the association between ACE phenotype (gene expression and protein activity) and endurance, as a connection between ACE gene activity and endurance would provide stronger evidence of a link. Moreover, ACE phenotype can be readily altered using ACE inhibitors. However, before considering the potential benefits from modulating ACE, it is important to assess how exercise training alone affects ACE gene activity. Thus, in this study the association between changes in walking ability in claudicants after training and responses in ACE gene activity were studied.

A further possible benefit from reduced ACE activity in claudicants is an increase in angiogenesis. Animal models of ischaemia have revealed an increase in VEGF-mediated angiogenesis with the use of ACE inhibitors.^{77;85;233} Indeed, the regulation of ACE and VEGF appears to be linked, with variations in ACE affecting VEGF and *vice-versa*.^{141;219;233} Thus, this study also examined the links between the effects of exercise training and changes in VEGF, and the links between changes in VEGF and ACE. To appropriately study the effects of the training programme on VEGF, it was necessary to examine changes in both VEGF isoform and receptor expression, as these all have

contrasting roles in VEGF biology.^{39;46;90} Thus, this study examined the relationship between changes in walking ability with changes in ACE and VEGF. It was hypothesised that exercise training would lead to increased walking ability, with an associated suppression of ACE gene expression and protein levels (already elevated by ischaemia), and that there would also be an associated increase in VEGF/VEGFR gene expression and protein levels.

Patient Recruitment

Prior to discussing the results, it is important to consider that the study sample sizes were small, with only 6 subjects in the 'exercise' group and 5 subjects in the 'control' group. Thus, statistical analysis of the results often gave non-significant results. Unfortunately, poor recruitment to exercise programmes and clinical trials among claudicants is not uncommon and has been well documented in the past.^{69;119} Our experience in this trial was that many patients had contraindications to entry, such as severe heart disease, respiratory disease, and osteoarthritis. Furthermore, a significant proportion of potential recruits were already prescribed ACE inhibitors and were thus unsuitable for the trial. Many were also reluctant to participate due to having long distances to travel, or were unwilling to commit the necessary time to training sessions. As a result, it is questionable as to whether the findings from this trial can be extended to cover the claudicant population as a whole. The recruited subjects are likely to reflect a select group of well motivated claudicants with limited co-morbidities, a group that probably represents a minority of the general claudicant population.

There was also marked heterogeneity between the exercise and control groups (Table 4.1). Most of the exercise group (5 of 6) were female, whereas the control group was

predominantly male (3 of 5). The exercise group also tended to be older (median ages: subjects 77, controls 65), and lighter (median BMIs: subjects 22.3, controls 24.5). Furthermore, CD and MWD were respectively 142% and 33% greater in the exercise group at baseline. However, although the subjects were lighter, they performed fewer heel raises (median heel raises: subjects 55, controls 85) at baseline. VEGF protein levels at baseline were also notably different between the groups (median VEGF level: subjects 17, controls 26). This heterogeneity between the groups could have affected the responses in the trial, making comparisons between the groups potentially unreliable.

Trial Limitations

When considering the results, other limitations of the study must also be addressed. The results from this trial among claudicants cannot be extended to relate to other groups of individuals such as athletes. One must also take into consideration the varied medications the participants were prescribed, such as Aspirin (all participants bar 1 control), Beta-blockers (1 control, 1 subject) and Statins (4 controls, 3 subjects). Aspirin and statins would have had potential anti-inflammatory effects that could have affected the responses to training. Likewise, Beta-blockers would have affected the responses to exercise by limiting cardiovascular responses, and also had effects on renin release and glucose metabolism. However, to design a trial to control for the potential effects of all these medications would not have been feasible.

Another major limitation of this study was that ACE/VEGF mRNA expression were determined from PBMNs isolated from peripheral blood and ACE/VEGF protein levels measured from plasma. Although baseline expression and changes in expression measured in this study may reflect changes occurring locally in the leg muscles, there is

no rationale for this and in this study can only be presumed. It is entirely possible that direct measurement of gene activity and protein levels from muscle tissue could have produced different results, and experience from previous studies has often shown a differential effect of a stimulus on ACE depending upon the tissue involved.⁷⁷ However, in designing this study it was decided that taking muscle biopsies from subjects would have been too invasive and thus unacceptable.

Physiological Responses to Exercise Training

This study confirmed the already well described finding that supervised exercise training improves walking ability among claudicants. In the training group, significant increases in CD (105 metres) and MWD (141 metres) were recorded without any significant change in perceived pain or exertion scores, demonstrating decreased symptoms rather than an increased ability to walk through pain. These results are comparable to other studies of supervised exercise programmes, and add to the weight of evidence supporting the widespread introduction of these programmes.^{18;99;243} In addition, this trial also suggests that 8 weeks of training is sufficient to produce significant increases in walking distance, in contrast to the 6 month period that has been previously recommended.⁷¹ Furthermore, no changes were noted in ABPI or maximum heart rate, indicating no major changes in gross blood flow or cardiovascular fitness underlying these improvements.

Calf muscle endurance, as measured by repetitive heel raises, was also improved in the exercise group. Interestingly, as described previously, improvements in heel raises were closely correlated to increases in MWD.¹⁷⁸ If confirmed in larger-scale studies, assessment of the number of repetitive heel raises could function as a simple and fast

method to objectively gauge a patient's claudication symptoms without the need for more extensive testing procedures, and so be of use in an outpatient setting. Using a heel raise test as an endpoint in studies of claudication may also have benefits compared to treadmill testing. A heel raise test is unaffected by changes in walking gait that contribute to improvements in treadmill walking after training.¹⁴² In addition, a heel raise test is independent of the training mode, and gains produced by familiarity with the testing apparatus are negated.

Responses of ACE to Exercise Training

No previous studies have examined the effects of endurance training on ACE mRNA expression or ACE levels. In contrary to expectations, this study revealed an increase of 30% in ACE mRNA expression after exercise training. However, when examining plasma ACE levels, the increase in gene expression was not reflected by a significant increase in ACE protein levels. Protein levels are more likely to be reflective of the physiological relevance of ACE, as they are directly related to ACE activity.²⁸ Thus, these results suggest that a decrease in ACE activity is not an important mechanism underlying improvements in walking ability in claudicants.

The small numbers of subjects also prevented any statistical analysis of ACE genotype data. However, when combining the data from both study groups, changes in ACE gene expression appeared to be genotype influenced, with DD subjects having a median increase of 50%, ID subjects 19% and II subjects 16%. It is possible to speculate that subjects with different genotypes could have responded in a different way to the training programme. For example, those with II genotype could have increased ACE expression less than those with DD genotype, still conferring a theoretical advantage. However,

significantly more numbers of subjects would have been needed to perform such an analysis. Finally, this study only assessed the impact of training on ACE expression and levels. To get a full picture of how exercise training affects the RAS, the whole system including Ang-II levels and AT receptor levels would need to be assessed.

Analysis of baseline ACE D- and I-allele expression in ID heterozygotes revealed that in 5 out of 6 subjects, more ACE mRNA was produced from the D-allele than the Iallele. This substantiates the findings of Suehiro *et al.*, who performed their original experiment in healthy individuals.²⁴⁶ In addition, in the 3 ID subjects who underwent exercise training, the D:I ratio increased further in conjunction with an overall increase in ACE expression, suggesting preferential activation of the D-allele. Furthermore, there was a correlation between overall ACE gene expression and D:I ratio, also suggesting a link between D-allele activation and overall ACE gene activity. The mechanism underlying the predominance of mRNA originating from the D-allele is not understood. However, it has been speculated that it may relate to selective enhancement of transcription of the D-allele or increased stability of mRNA produced from the Dallele.²⁴⁶ Further studies would be required to elucidate this mechanism.

Responses of VEGF to Exercise Training

No previous studies have examined the effects of training in claudicants on VEGF isoform mRNA expression in conjunction with VEGF levels and VEGF receptor expression. Analysis of transcriptional data revealed a substantial increase in the VEGF₁₂₁ isoform (43%) and an even greater increase in the more biologically active VEGF₁₆₅ isoform (70%) in the exercise group. This increase was significant compared to the control group. On examining VEGF protein levels, baseline levels were
comparable to those recorded in previous studies.^{190;292} After exercise training, no significant increase in VEGF protein was recorded, although 5 of the 6 subjects studied had an increase in VEGF protein level after training, giving a median increase of 94%. These findings are in line with the only previous study of VEGF responses to exercise training in claudicants, which showed that exercise training had no acute effect on plasma VEGF levels or on baseline VEGF levels after 6 weeks training.²⁹² However, the sample sizes in both studies were small (n=6 and n=7), and larger scale studies are required to fully clarify the situation.

The results obtained from VEGF receptor expression analysis also point towards an overall increase in VEGF signalling capacity. Although the expression of sVEGFR-1, an inhibitory 'decoy' receptor was increased (63%), the expression of the signal transducing VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 receptors was also increased. Indeed, the transcription of VEGFR-2, which has the strongest signalling properties and is most important VEGF receptor in producing the signal for angiogenesis, showed the greatest increase of all (72%).⁹⁰ The recorded increases in VEGF receptors may also have masked the true rise in VEGF protein levels, due to increased binding of plasma VEGF to endothelial bound VEGF receptors and sVEGFR-1.¹²⁹ However, in order to confirm the increase in VEGF signalling potential indicated by these mRNA expression studies, future studies would also need to assess tissue and plasma VEGF receptor protein levels. When considering these results, it is again important to consider the limitations of the trial. As discussed above, these results relate to mRNA expression in PBMNs and plasma levels of VEGF, and cannot be guaranteed to reflect changes occurring locally within the tissues. This issue could help explain the lack of correlation between mRNA and protein levels both ACE and VEGF in this study. Overall, the results reveal that

exercise training leads to an overall increase in potential VEGF signalling activity, as determined by $VEGF_{121}/VEGF_{165}$ expression, plasma VEGF levels and VEGF receptor expression. Given that these increases in VEGF signalling capacity occur in conjunction with increases in walking ability, it is possible to speculate that VEGF and its receptors could be a viable target for treatment of intermittent claudication.

Relationship Between ACE and VEGF

On examining the relationship between VEGF and ACE, a strong positive correlation was found between baseline VEGF₁₂₁/VEGF₁₆₅ mRNA expression and ACE mRNA expression. However, no relationship was noted between changes in ACE and VEGF expression after training, or between ACE and VEGF protein levels. The simultaneous increase in both ACE and VEGF expression is comparable to that described by Saijonmaa et al., who noted that VEGF up-regulated ACE expression in endothelial cells, suggesting a synergistic relationship between ACE and VEGF.²¹⁹ Conversely, the results do not corroborate with evidence from animal models of ischaemia, in which reduction of ACE activity increased VEGF expression.^{77;233;250} The differences between these studies could be related to the use of ACE inhibitors in the animal models. ACE inhibitors, as previously described in Section 1.5, can alter gene expression directly via their own cell signalling properties, independent from their actions in reducing in ACE activity.^{93;94} Furthermore, although ACE and VEGF expression both increased in this trial, this does not indicate a direct link, and it is possible that the increases occurred independently from each other. The lack of a relationship between protein levels also counts against a link, although the results for protein could have been affected by issues such as the level of receptor binding.¹²⁹ Issues relating to the interpretation of mRNA and protein data are discussed below.

Relationship Between mRNA Expression and Protein Levels

In this study, no strong correlation between mRNA expression and protein levels was found for VEGF or ACE. In addition, no link was found between changes in mRNA expression and protein levels. These findings could be explained by the complexity of the process in the progression from genotype to phenotype. The central dogma of genetics states that genetic information progresses from DNA to mRNA to protein. However, in practice this is a hugely complex system and at each stage in this hierarchy variation can be introduced, for example by differential transcription of mRNA and differential translation of protein.²⁰⁰ Thus, to an extent the findings in this study are not surprising, and many studies have also been published regarding the poor correlation between mRNA expression and protein.¹⁰⁴ The discrepancies between mRNA and protein expression could have been caused by post-transcriptional regulation, as well as variation in mRNA/protein stability and turnover.^{59;106} However, the measurement of both mRNA and protein, as well as the determination of gene polymorphisms, allows a more meaningful understanding of complex phenotypes to be established, and is set to become a standard method for studying complex human diseases.²⁰⁰

Relationship Between Physiological Changes and Molecular Changes

Although the results of this study reveal increases in walking distance, ACE gene expression, and an increase in VEGF signalling potential, no correlation was found between any of the physiological and molecular changes. There are several reasons to explain this. Firstly, the number of subjects was small, and thus statistical tests would have been unlikely to detect any correlation. In addition, the mechanism for improvement with exercise in intermittent claudication is multi-factorial (as described in Section 1.2.3), and therefore the effects of a single factor would be difficult to detect

amongst the others.^{244;255} The patient group was also quite heterogeneous in terms of comorbidities, disease distribution, and baseline gene activity, making it more difficult to link the physiological improvements with specific gene targets.

Nevertheless, despite the absence of correlation described above, the findings of this study were that exercise training improved measurements of walking ability, and these improvements were noted in association with increases in VEGF mRNA expression, VEGF receptor expression, VEGF protein levels and ACE expression. Whether these molecular changes underlie some of the improvements, and the extent to which they do, is uncertain. However, an increase in VEGF signalling and hence angiogenesis is likely to be of benefit to subjects with intermittent claudication.

Study Power and Sample Size

In analysing the data, several results for changes observed in this study were found to be statistically insignificant. It is likely that this was at least in part related to the small sample sizes attained by this study, which resulted in statistical analyses that were often underpowered. In this trial, power for insignificant results typically varied from between 30-40%. Post-hoc power studies reveal that if sample sizes were increased to 18 in each group (control and exercise), then this trial would have had at least an 80% power to detect differences of the sizes measured for: CD (exercise vs. control groups), heel raises (exercise and control groups- pre vs. post), ACE mRNA expression (exercise vs. control group- pre vs. post; exercise vs. control groups) and sVEGFR-1 (exercise vs. control groups). Thus, increased sample sizes would have probably produced more statistically significant results.

Future studies

Larger scale studies in claudicants are required to confirm the findings of this study, although problems with recruitment will still remain an issue. Furthermore, additional studies could, if admissible, use leg muscle biopsies to assess local changes in mRNA and protein expression. Muscle biopsies would also give the additional benefit of allowing assessment of changes in capillary density with exercise training. An increase in capillary density after training in relation to increased VEGF would provide stronger evidence for the role of VEGF in walking improvements. Future studies could also examine the effects of exercise training on the products downstream of ACE (Ang-II and BK) and on Ang-II receptors.

4.6 SUMMARY

The results of this study relate to a small number of subjects, and so few firm conclusions can be drawn. However, the exercise training programme produced significant increases in treadmill walking ability and calf muscle endurance. Exercise training was associated with an increase in ACE, VEGF₁₂₁, VEGF₁₆₅, sVEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 mRNA expression. In ACE I/D heterozygotes, more mRNA appeared to originate from the D-allele than from the I-allele. These results suggest that increased VEGF signalling may play a role in exercise associated improvements in walking ability and VEGF may thus be a viable target for modulation in the treatment of claudicants.

CHAPTER 5

EFFECTS OF ACE INHIBITION ON ACE AND VEGF RESPONSES TO HYPOXIA

CHAPTER 5

5.1 BACKGROUND

Several studies have revealed the potential role of ACE in exercise performance. Low ACE activity allied to the I-allele of the ACE I/D polymorphism is associated with improved endurance performance.^{170;288} Furthermore, pharmacological reduction of ACE activity using ACE inhibitors has also been linked with increased muscular efficiency and endurance, reduced inflammation, ischaemic preconditioning and enhanced endothelial function.74;166;256;288;300 Thus, the use of ACE inhibitors in claudicants could be of therapeutic benefit by improving endurance performance and hence walking ability. Another potential gain from ACE inhibition is an increase in angiogenesis. Several animal models of ischaemia have confirmed that ACE inhibitors augment angiogenesis by up-regulating VEGF expression.^{77;233} Thus, ACE inhibitors may have dual benefits in ischaemia, by increasing VEGF activity while also maintaining low ACE activity. However, the results of clinical trials of ACE inhibitors in claudicants have shown conflicting results, and the possible benefit from using ACE inhibitors to treat intermittent claudication remains unclear.^{3;155} One way to better understand the potential role of ACE inhibition in claudicants would be to assess how ACE inhibition in a human model of hypoxia affects ACE and VEGF biology, as determined by mRNA expression and protein levels.

5.2 AIMS

The first aim of this study was to develop a human endothelial cell culture model of hypoxia in which the cells were stable and viable, and in which ACE and VEGF were reliably expressed. This subsequently allowed the effects of ACE inhibition on ACE and VEGF in a human model of hypoxia to be assessed.

5.3 METHODS

Genomic DNA was harvested from ECV 304 cells and ACE genotype determined as described in Section 3.4. ECV 304 cells possessed the DD genotype (linked to intrinsically high ACE activity). This high ACE activity was considered an advantage when studying the effects of ACE inhibition. However, the differential expression of I-and D-alleles was not able to be assessed. ACE, VEGF₁₂₁ and VEGF₁₆₅ mRNA expression was determined by RT-PCR as described in Section 3.3. ACE and VEGF protein levels were measured by ELISA as stated in Section 3.6.

5.3.1 Work up Experiments

A series of work-up experiments were initially performed in order to determine the optimal cell culture conditions and drug doses for use in the final experiments. Control experiments were performed using medium supplemented with 1% or 10% FCS. This allowed the viability and stability of cells in low nutrient conditions (1% FCS), and also the potential stimulatory and proliferative effects of a growth factor rich medium (10% FCS) to be assessed.

Cell Viability Control Experiment

The first control experiment examined ECV 304 cell viability over time for different nutrient concentrations and cell densities. The aim was to find a cell number and medium concentration where cell viability was stable over time, with the cells quiescent but viable and not proliferating.

ECV cells at passage number 178 were prepared as described in Section 3.2.2. On 96well plates 1500, 3000, 15,000 and 30,000 cells were seeded in triplicate for both FCS concentrations. Four identical plates were set up, with viability assessed immediately in one plate (as described in Section 3.2.4) and subsequently at 24, 48 and 72 hours. The medium was refreshed every day for unprocessed plates. When assessing cell viability, the plates were read 4 hours after incubation with the assay solution. From the results of this experiment (Appendix 5) a density of 15,000 cells per well was chosen for future experiments. However, to help with time restrictions all experiments were subsequently processed at 18 hours and viability assessed 3 hours after adding the assay solution.

Effects of DETA-NO or Ramiprilat alone

These experiments examined the individual effects of DETA-NO and ramiprilat on ECV 304 cell viability and gene expression. Again, the effect of low nutrient (1% FCS) and growth factor rich conditions (10% FCS) was examined. The aim was to examine the dose-response curves for both drugs and thus choose the drug doses and medium concentration for the final experiment.

Cells at passage 183 were prepared as described in Section 3.2.2 in both 1% and 10% FCS. Fifteen thousand cells were seeded per well for the cell viability experiments and 5x10⁵ cells seeded per well on 6-well plates for examination of gene expression. The cell numbers were chosen so that the cell density was the same in both the 6- and 96-well plates. Doubling doses of DETA-NO from 0.008 to 0.5 mM and ten-fold increases of ramiprilat from 1 to 1000 nM/l were used in these experiments. 'Medium control' experiments (containing cells and medium), and 'vehicle control' experiments (containing cells, medium and drug vehicle) were also set up. All cell viability experiments were run in quadruplicate, while gene expression experiments were run in single wells, with one RT-PCR run used to assess gene expression. The plates were

processed after 18 hours for cell viability and ACE/VEGF gene expression as described in Sections 3.2.4, 3.2.5 and 3.3. The results are shown in Appendix 5.

5.3.2 Final Experiment

The conditions for the final experiment were decided from the results of the work up experiments (Appendix 5). In all the work-up experiments, no major differences in viability or gene expression were noted between the 1% and 10% FCS experiments. However, as medium with 1% FCS contains less growth factors and has less stimulatory properties that could interfere with the results, 1% FCS was chosen for the final experiments. Doubling doses of DETA-NO from 0.008 to 0.250 mM were used to create a 'metabolic hypoxia', and the effects of 2 doses of ramiprilat (100 and 1000 nM/l) on these responses to hypoxia studied.

The final experiment was run twice on 2 separate occasions using identical conditions. For the first run, ECV cells at passage 188 were used, and for the second ECV cells at passage 190. For each run, the effects of DETA-NO alone, DETA-NO with 100 nM/l ramiprilat, and DETA-NO with 1000 nM/l ramiprilat were examined.

ECV 304 cells were harvested and the experiments were set up as described in Sections 3.2.2 and 3.2.3. Specifically, the wells used as the overall experimental controls contained ECV cells, medium and both drug vehicles. In the DETA-NO only experiment, all wells also contained 0.05% DMSO, the drug vehicle used for ramiprilat. In the DETA-NO with ramiprilat experiments, all wells contained either 100 or 1000 nM/l ramiprilat. The 'medium control' wells in these experiments contained ECV cells in medium and ramiprilat, while the 'vehicle control' wells contained ECV cells in

medium, ramiprilat and the drug vehicle for DETA-NO (water). These control wells allowed the effects of ramiprilat alone to be studied. The experiments were all run for 18 hours. A summary of experimental well contents is described in Appendix 6.

Cell viability was assessed as described in Section 3.2.4. Cells from 6 well plates were harvested for RNA and protein as described in Section 3.2.5. ACE and VEGF gene expression was determined as described in Section 3.3, and VEGF protein levels measured as described in Section 3.6. The viability studies for both experimental runs were run in quadruplicate. Due to a lack of time and resources only a single RT-PCR run was used to assess gene expression from each experiment, and thus no statistical tests were able to be performed on the gene expression results. RT-PCR results for ACE expression were obtained using the ACE 216 primer set. For ELISA measurements, each experimental run was measured once in triplicate. The raw data obtained is illustrated in Appendix 7.

5.4 RESULTS

All experimental wells were examined microscopically to assess confluence and infection at the end of the 18 hour experiment period. In all experiments, the wells were found to be free of infection and the cells confluent. Wells containing ECV cells in medium and both drug vehicles were used as the experimental controls throughout.

5.4.1 Effects of DETA-NO Alone

Cell Viability

In the cell viability experiments, there was no difference in viability between the medium and the vehicle controls (Medium 1.99 \pm 0.07, Vehicle 2.04 \pm 0.06; unpaired t-

test: p>0.50). On examining the effects of DETA-NO, doses ranging from 0.008 to 0.25 mM did not have significant effects on ECV 304 cell viability (Figure 5.1).

ACE and VEGF Gene Expression

As only 2 experimental runs were performed statistical testing was not possible on the gene expression data, and thus broad observations only could be made. DETA-NO generally produced an increase in ACE expression, with a 42% increase in expression observed at 0.06 mM (Figure 5.2). DETA-NO did not appear to elicit any clear effect on VEGF₁₂₁ and VEGF₁₆₅ expression (Figure 5.3).

VEGF Protein Levels

Unfortunately, due to low protein yields ACE levels were not consistently detectable using our ELISA kit. However, VEGF levels increased significantly at the highest DETA-NO dose, with a $53 \pm 11\%$ increase in VEGF protein noted at 0.25 mM DETA-NO (Figure 5.4). There was no difference in VEGF levels between the medium and vehicle controls (Medium 132.2 ± 10.6, Vehicle 118.2 ± 12.9; unpaired t-test: p = 0.42).

5.4.2 Effects of Ramiprilat Alone

To assess the effects of ramiprilat alone the gene expression results from the two final experiment runs were combined with the results from the ramiprilat control experiment, which used identical conditions.

Cell Viability

There was no difference in viability between the medium and the vehicle controls in either the 100 nM/l ramiprilat (Medium 2.0 ± 0.1 , Vehicle 2.1 ± 0.1 ; unpaired t-test: p =



Figure 5.1 Effects of DETA-NO on Cell Viability

Increasing doses of DETA-NO from 0.008 to 0.250 mM did not have a significant effect on ECV 304 cell viability (1-way ANOVA, p>0.50). The bars represent the mean values, and error bars SEM, of 2 repeat experiments each run in quadruplicate wells.



Figure 5.2 Effects of DETA-NO on ACE Expression

With increasing DETA-NO, ACE gene expression also generally appeared to increase, with a maximal increase of 42% noted at 0.063 mM DETA-NO. The points represent individual values and the horizontal bars the mean from 2 repeat experiments.



Figure 5.3 Effects of DETA-NO on VEGF Gene Expression

The effects of DETA-NO on **A** VEGF₁₂₁ and **B** VEGF₁₆₅ expression are shown. DETA-NO did not appear to have any noticeable effects on VEGF₁₂₁ and VEGF₁₆₅ expression. The points represent individual values and the horizontal bars the mean from 2 repeat experiments.



Figure 5.4 Effects of DETA-NO on VEGF Protein Levels

There was a 53 \pm 11% increase in VEGF protein level recorded at 0.250 mM DETA-NO (1-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparison test; * p < 0.05 vs Control). The bars represent the mean values, and error bars SEM, of 2 repeat experiments each run in triplicate wells. 0.37) or 1000 nM/l ramiprilat (Medium 1.9 \pm 0.0, Vehicle 2.0 \pm 0.1; p = 0.43) experiments. In addition, neither dose of ramiprilat had any significant effect on cell viability (Figure 5.5).

ACE and VEGF Gene Expression

Ramiprilat augmented ACE gene expression, with a $40 \pm 10\%$ increase recorded with 1000 nM/l ramiprilat (Figure 5.6). In contrast, ramiprilat lowered VEGF expression. VEGF₁₆₅ expression was reduced 16 ± 0.4% and 22 ± 2% by 100 nM/l and 1000 nM/l ramiprilat respectively (Figure 5.7). Ramiprilat did not significantly decrease the expression of VEGF₁₂₁ (Figure 5.7).

VEGF Protein Levels

There was no difference in VEGF levels between the medium and the vehicle controls in either the 100 nM/l ramiprilat (Medium 180 \pm 16, Vehicle 186 \pm 3; unpaired t-test: p>0.50) or 1000 nM/l ramiprilat (Medium 199 \pm 5, Vehicle 211 \pm 23; p>0.50) experiments. While ramiprilat decreased VEGF₁₆₅ gene expression at 18 hours, the amount of VEGF protein increased. Increasing doses of ramiprilat progressively augmented VEGF levels, with a 58 \pm 3% increase with 100 nM/l ramiprilat and a 79 \pm 19% increase with 1000 nM/l ramiprilat (Figure 5.8).

5.4.3 Effects of Ramiprilat on Responses to Metabolic Hypoxia

Cell Viability

Ramiprilat combined with increasing doses of DETA-NO did not have any significant effect on cell viability compared to the experimental control (1-way ANOVA: 100 nM/l ramiprilat/DETA p = 0.82, 1000 nM/l ramiprilat/DETA p = 0.98). In addition, at each



Figure 5.5 Effects of Ramiprilat on Cell Viability

Ramiprilat at 100 and 1000 nM/l did not have an effect on cell viability (1-way ANOVA, p = 0.69). The bars represent the mean values, and error bars SEM, of 2 repeat experiments each run in quadruplicate wells.



Figure 5.6 Effects of Ramiprilat on ACE Gene Expression

Ramiprilat stimulated ACE gene expression at the highest dose, with a $40 \pm 10\%$ increase in expression noted with 1000 nM/l ramiprilat (1-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparison test; ** p < 0.01 vs Control). The bars represent the mean values, and error bars SEM, of 3 repeat experiments.



Figure 5.7 Effects of Ramiprilat on VEGF Gene Expression

The effects of ramiprilat on **A** VEGF₁₂₁ and **B** VEGF₁₆₅ expression are shown. Ramiprilat did not reduce VEGF₁₂₁ expression. However, a significant decrease in VEGF₁₆₅ expression was recorded with 1000 nM/l ramiprilat causing a 22 \pm 2% reduction (1-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparison test; * p < 0.05 vs Control, ** p < 0.01 vs Control). The bars represent the mean values, and error bars SEM, of 3 repeat experiments.



Figure 5.8 Effects of Ramiprilat on VEGF Protein Levels

Increasing doses of ramiprilat significantly augmented VEGF levels, with a $58 \pm 3\%$ increase noted with 100 nM/l ramiprilat and a $79 \pm 19\%$ increase with 1000 nM/l ramiprilat (1-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparison test; * p < 0.05 vs Control, ** p < 0.01 vs Control). The bars represent the mean values, and error bars SEM, of 2 repeat experiments each run in triplicate wells.

DETA-NO dose there was no significant change in cell viability with either 100 or 1000 nM/l ramiprilat compared to DETA-NO alone (Figure 5.9).

ACE and VEGF Gene Expression

To compare the medium (M) and vehicle (V) controls for ACE and VEGF₁₂₁/VEGF₁₆₅ expression, gene expression results for the DETA only, DETA/100 nM/l ramiprilat and DETA/1000 nM/l ramiprilat control groups were combined. The results showed no difference between the control experiments for ACE expression (M 0.28 ± 0.02 , V 2.53 ± 0.02 ; unpaired t-test p = 0.32), VEGF₁₂₁ expression (M 0.56 ± 0.02 , V 0.55 ± 0.03 ; p > 0.50) or VEGF₁₆₅ expression (M 0.44 ± 0.02 , V 0.44 ± 0.02 ; p > 0.50).

As stated previously, only 2 experimental runs were performed, not allowing statistical tests to be performed. Thus, only broad observations can be made. On examining ACE gene expression, there was an apparent increase in ACE expression with the ramiprilat groups compared to DETA-NO alone. At every DETA-NO dose, ACE gene expression was greater (by 12-71%) with both 100 and 1000 nM/l ramiprilat than for DETA-NO alone (Figure 5.10). On studying VEGF₁₂₁ gene expression, there was an apparent decrease in VEGF₁₂₁ expression with both 100 nM/l and 1000 nM/l ramiprilat compared to DETA-NO alone. At every DETA-NO dose, VEGF₁₂₁ gene expression was reduced by both ramiprilat doses (by 8-27%) than with DETA-NO alone (Figure 5.11). For VEGF₁₆₅ gene expression, the tendency again appeared to be for ramiprilat to decrease VEGF₁₆₅ expression in hypoxia (Figure 5.12). VEGF₁₆₅ gene expression was lower with both ramiprilat doses (by 6-21%) at all DETA-NO doses compared to DETA-NO alone. There was no obvious difference between the 2 ramiprilat groups for ACE, VEGF₁₂₁ or VEGF₁₆₅.



Figure 5.9 Effects of Ramiprilat and Metabolic Hypoxia on Cell Viability

At each dose of DETA-NO there was no significant change in cell viability with ramiprilat (1-way ANOVA). Each bar represents the mean, and the error bars SEM, of 2 repeat experiments each run in quadruplicate wells.



Figure 5.10 Effects of Ramiprilat on ACE Expression in Response to Hypoxia

100 nM/l and 1000 nM/l ramiprilat appear to increase ACE gene expression compared to DETA-NO alone. At every DETA-NO dose, both 100 and 1000 nM/l ramiprilat produced an increase in ACE expression. Each point represents the value obtained from 2 repeat experiments, and the horizontal bars the mean.



DETA Only

Figure 5.11 Effects of Ramiprilat on VEGF₁₂₁ Expression in Response to Hypoxia

An apparent decrease in VEGF₁₂₁ expression with both 100 nM/l and 1000 nM/l ramiprilat compared to DETA-NO alone is noted. At every dose of DETA-NO, 100 and 1000 nM/l ramiprilat decreased VEGF₁₂₁ mRNA expression compared to DETA-NO alone. Each point represents the mean, and the error bars SEM, of 2 repeat experiments.



Figure 5.12 Effects of Ramiprilat on VEGF₁₆₅ Expression in Response to Hypoxia

VEGF₁₆₅ expression appears to be suppressed with 100 nM/l and 1000 nM/l ramiprilat compared to DETA-NO alone. Both doses of ramiprilat consistently decreased VEGF₁₆₅ expression compared to DETA-NO alone, although these differences are small. Each point represents the mean, and the error bars SEM, of 2 repeat experiments.

VEGF Protein Levels

Ramiprilat augmented increases in VEGF levels in response to hypoxia (Figure 5.13). 100 nM/l ramiprilat significantly increased VEGF levels over the experimental control at all DETA-NO doses (1-way ANOVA with Dunnett's test: 0.008 to 0.125 mM p < 0.05, 0.250 mM p < 0.01). 1000 nM/l ramiprilat also significantly increased VEGF levels compared to the experimental control at all DETA-NO doses (1-way ANOVA with Dunnett's test: 0.008 to 0.250 mM p < 0.01). There was no significant change in VEGF levels with either dose of ramiprilat compared to DETA alone, apart from at 0.016 mM DETA-NO, where 100 nM/l and 1000 nM/l ramiprilat increased VEGF levels by 54 ± 26% (p < 0.05) and $60 \pm 7\%$ (p < 0.01) respectively (1-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparison test). However, at each DETA-NO dose VEGF levels were higher (but not significantly) in the 2 ramiprilat groups than for DETA-NO alone. There was no significant difference between the 2 ramiprilat groups (Figure 5.13).

5.5 **DISCUSSION**

Studies of ACE inhibition in patients with heart failure and in animal models of ischaemia suggest that ACE inhibitors could produce several benefits in patients with intermittent claudication. Heart failure, like peripheral arterial disease, is characterised by poor tissue perfusion.⁵³ The use of ACE inhibitors in patients with heart failure has been linked with benefits including increased oxygen extraction and exercise performance.^{73;74} Interestingly, these effects are appear to be separate from the effects of ACE inhibitors on cardiac output and blood pressure, and have been suggested to result from increased metabolic efficiency.¹⁶⁷ Low ACE activity related to the I-allele of the ACE I/D polymorphism has also been related to enhanced metabolic efficiency and





Figure 5.13 Effects of Ramiprilat on VEGF Protein Levels in Response to Hypoxia

There was no significant change in VEGF levels with either dose of ramiprilat compared to DETA alone, apart from at 0.016 mM DETA-NO where both ramiprilat doses increased levels significantly (1-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparison test: * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01). Each bar represents the mean, and the error bars SEM, of 2 separate repeat experiments with each ELISA run twice in triplicate wells.

endurance performance.^{170;288} In addition, animal models of ischaemia have revealed that ACE inhibitors increase VEGF expression and subsequently increase angiogenesis, an effect related to the accumulation of BK.^{85;233} Moreover, ACE inhibitors also possess cell-signalling properties, directly increasing ACE, COX-2 and potentially VEGF expression, while maintaining low ACE activity.^{10;23;93} Thus, ACE inhibitors have potential dual benefits for improving walking ability in claudicants, by increasing metabolic efficiency and by potentiating angiogenesis. Small scale clinical trials have to date produced conflicting results regarding the benefits of ACE inhibitors in claudication, although the largest study to date showed a marked improvement.³ This study was designed to assess the effects of ACE inhibition on VEGF and ACE in a human model of hypoxia. A cell model of hypoxia was developed, and the effects of the ACE inhibitor ramiprilat on ACE and VEGF expression examined. The hypothesis was that ramiprilat would increase both ACE and VEGF expression in hypoxia.

Effects of Hypoxia on ACE and VEGF

DETA-NO, a nitric oxide donor, was used in ECV 304 cells to produce a 'metabolic hypoxia', as described previously by Moncada *et al.*¹⁶⁴ No significant effect of DETA-NO on cell viability was noted. Increasing doses of DETA-NO mediated an apparent increase in ACE mRNA levels, although more experimental runs would be required to confirm this statistically. However, previous studies that have shown hypoxia to up-regulate ACE.^{136;171;306} The mechanism for this increase has been demonstrated to occur via HIF-1, with Ang-II and HIF-1 acting in a positive feedback loop.¹⁴¹ DETA-NO did not appear to have any noticeable effect on VEGF₁₂₁ and VEGF₁₆₅ mRNA expression. However, in contrast DETA-NO produced an increase in VEGF protein levels of 53% at 0.250 mM. Of note, the changes ACE and VEGF recorded in this cell culture model

of hypoxia are comparable to those found after exercise training in claudicants, as described in Chapter 4. In these subjects, repetitive ischaemia caused by regular exercise training resulted in increased ACE gene expression, and raised VEGF levels, suggesting a similar response to hypoxia in both models. The increases in VEGF expression with hypoxia in this study conform with previous reports of raised VEGF levels with hypoxia.^{29;174} A HIF-1 mediated mechanism is likely to underlie these increases in VEGF transcription.^{95;226} Hypoxia also stabilises VEGF mRNA, which is normally intrinsically unstable due to destabilising elements in its 3' and 5' UTR/coding regions, and thereby increases the half-life of VEGF mRNA.^{70;242}

In this study, hypoxia did not appear to affect VEGF₁₂₁ or VEGF₁₆₅ mRNA expression but did increase VEGF protein levels. This disparity has been noted previously, with VEGF mRNA and protein not always adapting in parallel. Indeed, low VEGF mRNA levels with conversely high VEGF protein levels has been linked with angiogenesis.¹⁶¹ Increased VEGF protein in a time of low mRNA expression could partly be explained by post-transcriptional events such as translation via an alternative ribosome entry site.²⁴¹ Finally, it is possible that the high VEGF protein levels could downregulate transcription in a negative feedback loop, although thus far there is no evidence to support this. In summary, the evidence in this study supports the notion that hypoxia stimulates VEGF production, creating a favourable environment for angiogenesis.

Effects of Ramiprilat on ACE and VEGF

The doses of ramiprilat used did not have a significant effect on cell viability. However, ACE inhibition in normoxic conditions did influence ACE and VEGF expression. Ramiprilat produced an increase in ACE mRNA expression, with 1000 nM/l ramiprilat

inducing a 40% rise in ACE mRNA levels. This stimulation of ACE transcription as a result of ACE inhibition is in keeping with previous studies.^{58;138} Increases in ACE expression during ACE inhibition have been attributed to a lack of negative feedback by Ang-II.²²³ In addition, the cell signalling properties of ACE mediated by ACE inhibitors, as described by Kohlstedt *et al.* could also contribute to the increases in gene expression.^{138;139} However, even with these increases in ACE levels, overall ACE activity would still be likely to be suppressed due to the continued presence of the ACE inhibitor.²³

Ramiprilat had an inhibitory effect on VEGF mRNA levels, reducing levels by up to 22% in the case of the more biologically active VEGF₁₆₅. However, in contrast to these decreases in VEGF gene transcription, significant increases in VEGF protein levels of up to 79% were noted. This paradox is similar to that seen with DETA-NO, and possible explanations for this have been discussed above. The increases in VEGF protein levels with ACE inhibition are also similar to those previously described in animal studies on the effects of ACE inhibitors in angiogenesis.^{77;233} Given the measured increases in VEGF protein, these results suggest that ACE inhibition amplifies VEGF production in an endothelial cell model, thereby increasing the potential for angiogenesis.

Effects of Ramiprilat on Responses to Hypoxia

Lastly, the effect of ramiprilat on ACE and VEGF expression in the cell culture model of hypoxia was studied. No effect on cell viability was recorded. Given that cell viability remained stable and confluent cultures were used in all experiments, changes were likely to reflect changes in gene expression rather than cell proliferation or death.

Ramiprilat appeared to potentiated ACE gene expression compared with hypoxia alone, although more experimental runs are needed to confirm this statistically. However, ramiprilat significantly increased VEGF protein levels in hypoxic conditions. The increases in VEGF promoted by ACE inhibition in hypoxia indicate a potential role for the use of ACE inhibitors to augment angiogenesis in claudicants. This effect is similar to that previously described in animal models of ischaemia.^{77;85;233;234} The mechanism for this increase has been suggested to involve the induction of VEGF expression secondary to the accumulation of BK during ACE inhibition.^{85;233} Another possible mechanism could relate to the 'outside-in' signalling pathway triggered by the binding of an ACE inhibitor to membrane-bound ACE.^{93;138} This pathway has been demonstrated to up-regulate COX-2 expression, which itself can increase VEGF expression.^{10;139} This same pathway could also partially account for the potential increases in ACE gene expression observed in this study. Although an increase in ACE expression would not appear to be beneficial in hypoxia, the continued presence of an ACE inhibitor would negate these increases, maintaining low overall ACE activity.²³ Thus, in this model of hypoxia, ACE inhibition produced 2 effects that could be of benefit if repeated in claudicants: an increase VEGF expression (thereby enhancing the potential for angiogenesis), and secondly an inhibition of ACE activity (thereby providing metabolic advantages and improved endothelial function).

Limitations of the Experimental Protocol

It is important to discuss several limitations associated with the experimental protocol. Unfortunately, ACE levels were not reliably detected in our experimental protocol. One possible reason for this was the processing of the same experimental wells to harvest both RNA and protein, resulting in low yields. The use of separate wells for protein and RNA could have increased yields and allowed better protein analysis, using techniques such as Western blotting. Furthermore an assumption, based on previous studies, was also made in the discussion that ACE activity remained decreased during ACE inhibition despite increases in ACE expression.²³ However, to confirm this it would be preferable to measure ACE activity in addition to ACE expression and levels.

The cell culture model used in this study also had several limitations. It consisted of a simple experiment created in an endothelial cell model using DETA-NO to create a 'metabolic hypoxia'. This model could not expect to replicate the very complex environment and processes occurring in a claudicant, with the repeated episodes of ischaemia and reperfusion, or the complex interactions between different cell types. For example, peri-endothelial cells, VSMCs and the extracellular matrix play a large role in angiogenesis by interacting with the endothelium, which could not be replicated in our model.⁵⁷ Moreover, ECV 304 cells are not proven to express bradykinin, a vital link in both the RAS and angiogenesis. However, our model did give an insight into how endothelial cells react to a hypoxic environment, and the effects of an ACE inhibitor on these responses. Another limitation of the experimental protocol was the use of DETA-NO to produce the hypoxic conditions in our model. DETA-NO acts as a slow releasing NO-donor, and has been shown to inhibit mitochondrial function by binding cytochrome oxidase, interrupting the electron transport chain and preventing aerobic metabolism.⁷ However, although the effects of NO in this study could be attributed to 'metabolic hypoxia', other effects of NO cannot be excluded as a cause. The majority of the physiological actions of NO have been attributed to its ability to bind to soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC), an enzyme that acts to produce the second messenger cyclic GMP (cGMP) from GTP. cGMP acts on cGMP-dependent protein kinases or cGMP-

gated ion channels to mediate many physiological actions.^{5;165} To exclude this pathway as a possible mechanism for the changes noted in this study, further experiments using a sGC inhibitor such as oxadiazolo-quinoxalin are required to differentiate the cGMPmediated effects from the cytochrome oxidase effects of NO. Alternatively, hypoxic chambers could be used to generate hypoxia, although these too have their own limitations.

Study Power and Sample Size

A major consideration in this study is the restricted number of experimental runs performed due to the limited time and resources available. For the final experiment, only 2 runs were conducted (each associated with a single RT-PCR or multiple-well ELISA run). As a result, only a few statistically significant results were obtained when comparing the three treatment groups. As only 2 RT-PCR experiments were performed in total, no statistical testing was allowable for mRNA expression, and only general impressions from the data could be made. The small sample sizes also resulted in statistical analyses that were often underpowered, with power typically between 15-40%. Post-hoc power studies reveal that if the number of experimental runs (sample size) was increased to 4, the power of the analyses in the study would have increased substantially. With this sample size, at least an 80% power would have been attained to detect differences of the sizes measured for the effects of 100nM ramiprilat alone on ACE expression and 1000 nM/l ramiprilat on VEGF protein levels.

Future Studies

As described above, a simple experimental protocol of hypoxia was used in this study, which provided a only a limited amount of information. Further experiments using the same experimental model could use intermittent episodes of hypoxia (ischaemia) followed by re-oxygenation (reperfusion) to create a more representative model of claudication. In addition, other experiments could examine the time course for changes in gene expression and protein levels. It would also be important to study the effects of ACE inhibition on VEGF receptor expression, as changes in the various VEGF receptor types could potentiate or diminish the effects of the increases in VEGF protein levels. Another study could examine changes in AT_1 and AT_2 receptors, as these have opposing effects in angiogenesis.

To further elucidate the mechanism underlying the increases in VEGF expression with ACE inhibition, other studies could be performed to assess the role of each potential pathway. The role of BK could be assessed by using a BK-antagonist such as HOE-140.¹²⁰ The contribution of the ACE 'outside-in' signalling pathway could be studied using an endothelial cell line expressing a non-phosphorylatable ACE mutant (Ser1270), which would interrupt this pathway.^{138;139} Finally, the involvement of COX-2 on ACE inhibitor mediated increases in VEGF could be assessed using COX-2 inhibitors.

Although in-vitro studies can provide information about how ACE inhibitors effect cellular responses to ischaemia, the only way to ascertain the potential benefits of ACE inhibition in claudicants would be to perform a large scale clinical trial. This would need to be a randomised double blind trial of an ACE inhibitor against placebo in humans enrolled on an exercise training programme, measuring changes in walking ability as the key endpoint. However, given the difficulty in recruiting suitable patients, this study would be difficult to achieve. The other possible beneficial effects of ACE inhibition, namely decreased inflammation, improved endothelial function, and enhanced metabolic efficiency, could also be studied in these patients.

5.6 SUMMARY

This study suggests that in ECV 304 cells, hypoxia stimulates VEGF expression. ACE inhibition with ramiprilat appears to potentiate this increase. These results concur with previous reports showing that ACE inhibitors are pro-angiogenic in animal models of ischaemia. Thus, ACE inhibitors could be of benefit in the treatment of intermittent claudication, by reducing ACE activity and enhancing angiogenesis.
CHAPTER 6

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

CHAPTER 6

Although exercise training has long been associated with improvements in walking ability in claudicants, the precise mechanism by which exercise results in these improvements is not completely appreciated. The process is likely to involve several facets, which include improvements in blood flow or distribution, and peripheral changes in the muscle physiology.²⁴⁴ The RAS, and low ACE activity in particular, has been linked with improved endurance performance, enhanced metabolic efficiency, improved endothelial function, and reduced inflammation; all associations that could improve walking ability in claudicants.^{166;288} Similarly, VEGF is known to play a crucial role in angiogenesis, another phenomenon that could aid claudicants.²⁵³ Moreover, interactions are known to exist between the RAS and VEGF, with low ACE activity linked to increased VEGF levels. Studies of ACE inhibitors in animal models of ischaemia have demonstrated both increased VEGF and enhanced angiogenesis in animal models of ischaemia.²³³ The aim of this thesis was to investigate the role of ACE and VEGF in exercise associated improvements in walking ability. The potential benefits of ACE inhibition with regards ACE and VEGF were also studied. The main findings of the thesis are as follows:

6.1 EFFECTS OF EXERCISE TRAINING ON WALKING ABILITY, ACE AND VEGF

The first part of this thesis examined the effect of repetitive supervised exercise training in claudicants on ACE and VEGF mRNA and protein levels, and related these to changes in walking ability. In accordance with the accepted literature, supervised exercise training produced significant increases measures of walking ability and calf muscle endurance.^{178;198;244} However, contrary to predictions, exercise training did not

lead to a suppression of ACE, with increases in ACE mRNA expression recorded, although there was no increase in measured ACE protein levels. Given the concurrent improvements in walking ability noted in this study, it is unlikely that suppression of ACE is a mechanism that contributes to improvements in walking ability after exercise training in claudicants. Nevertheless, these findings do not exclude suppression of ACE as a potential means to improve claudication, but only exclude the likelihood of ACE being important in exercise induced improvements. On examining differential I/D allele expression in ACE ID heterozygotes, more mRNA was shown to be produced from the D-allele than the I-allele, in corroboration with previous reports.²⁴⁶ Exercise training also appeared to preferentially activate the D-allele, further increasing the D:I ratio. The mechanism underlying this predominance of mRNA from the D-allele is not understood and will need further studies to elucidate.

Although an increase in ACE expression could be associated with potentially negative effects in claudicants (such as decreased metabolic efficiency), the clear gains associated with exercise training suggest other beneficial mechanisms outweigh these potential disadvantages. In this study, substantial increases in VEGF mRNA expression, greatest in the most biologically active isoform VEGF₁₆₅, and protein levels were found. In addition, expression of VEGF receptors was also increased, with the greatest increases noted in the transcription of VEGFR-2, which has the strongest signalling properties. Thus, exercise training had an overall effect of increasing the potential for VEGF signalling. Likewise, in the cell culture model of hypoxia, VEGF protein levels were also increased, as shown previously.^{95;174} Given that ACE expression had increased, it can be concluded that following exercise training in claudicants, VEGF expression is not stimulated by a mechanism related to decreased ACE activity. The

lack of correlation between changes in ACE and VEGF expression in our subjects also supports this notion. Hence, increases in VEGF are more likely to be related primarily to stimulation by the well described HIF-1 pathway.²²⁶

No correlation was found between physiological improvements and molecular adaptations, primarily because of small numbers of subjects involved. Although a link between improvements in walking ability and increases in VEGF cannot be demonstrated by this study, the increases in VEGF were associated with improved walking ability in our subjects. An increase in VEGF mediated angiogenesis is a reasonable explanation as part of the mechanism underlying these improvements.

6.2 EFFECTS OF ACE INHIBITION ON ACE AND VEGF RESPONSES TO HYPOXIA

Although the results from the claudicant study do not associate increased walking ability with ACE suppression, ACE inhibitors could still play a role in increasing walking ability, by further potentiating VEGF increases and secondarily by reducing ACE activity. The second part of this thesis examined how ACE inhibitors modulate ACE and VEGF in hypoxia. In accordance with previous reports, ramiprilat in normoxic conditions increased ACE expression.^{58;138} Under hypoxic conditions, ACE expression appeared to further increase beyond that observed in response to hypoxia alone. Although this may seem to be a unfavourable response, in the continued presence of an ACE inhibitor, ACE activity would be likely to remain suppressed.²³ Ramiprilat also stimulated VEGF production, increasing VEGF levels in normoxic conditions and potentiating VEGF increases in response to hypoxia. In other words, ACE inhibition and hypoxia would seem to act synergistically to enhance VEGF production. The

mechanism underlying this increase could be related to the accumulation of BK during ACE inhibition, or to a signalling pathway triggered by the binding of the ACE inhibitor to membrane-bound ACE.^{10;139;233} The comparative contribution of these pathways could be determined by future experiments in which each pathway could be separately antagonised.

The findings of this study are comparable to previous reports in animal models of ischaemia which demonstrate upregulation of VEGF in response to ACE inhibition. In these studies, increases in VEGF were also related to improved angiogenesis and blood flow.^{85;233;250} Thus, there could be a role for the use of ACE inhibitors in claudicants to stimulate angiogenesis in ischaemic leg muscles, and thereby improve walking ability. An additional benefit may also come from a reduction in ACE activity. Indeed, one small scale study has already demonstrated a beneficial effect of ramipril on pain-free and maximum walking time in claudicants.³ However, in contrast a previous pilot study performed in this laboratory showed no benefit from ramipril and a large randomised double blind placebo controlled trial is required to definitively address this issue.

6.3 CONCLUSIONS

Exercise training in claudicants improves walking ability, and is associated with notable increases in VEGF protein and receptor mRNA expression. In a cell culture model of hypoxia, ACE inhibitors also increase VEGF expression. Thus, the use of ACE inhibitors could be advantageous to claudicants, by potentiating VEGF and facilitating angiogenesis, and secondarily by reducing ACE activity, producing metabolic benefits and increasing endurance performance.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Ng PWK, Hollingsworth SJ, Luery H, Kumana TJ and Chaloner EJ. Intermittent Claudication: Exercise-increased walking distance is not related to improved cardiopulmonary fitness. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2005; **30**(4): 391-4

LIST OF PRESENTATIONS

LIST OF PRESENTATIONS

PWK Ng, JTC Lee, SJ Hollingsworth. Increased mRNA expression from the D-allele compared to the I-allele of the angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) ID polymorphism in claudicants: preferential activation of the D-allele in ID heterozygotes after exercise training in claudicants. *ASGBI International Surgical Congress*. May 2008. (Poster Presentation)

PWK Ng, JTC Lee, SJ Hollingsworth. Repetitive heel raises: a simple, reliable and objective method to assess changes in the symptoms of patients with intermittent claudication. *ASGBI International Surgical Congress*. May 2008. (Oral Presentation)

PWK Ng, JTC Lee, SJ Hollingsworth, TJ Kumana, H Luery, EJ Chaloner. The Effects Of The Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) I/D Polymorphism On Responses To Exercise Training In Patients With Intermittent Claudication. 7th International Congress of the Asian Society for Vascular Surgery. Kuala Lumpur. August 2006. (Poster Presentation)

PWK Ng, JTC Lee, SJ Hollingsworth, TJ Kumana, H Luery, EJ Chaloner. The Effects Of Low-Dose Ramipril On Exercise Training Responses In Patients With Intermittent Claudication: A Randomised, Double-Blind Cross-Over Trial. 7th International Congress of the Asian Society for Vascular Surgery. Kuala Lumpur. August 2006. (Oral Presentation)

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Abularrage CJ, Sidawy AN, Aidinian G, Singh N, Weiswasser JM, Arora S. Evaluation of the microcirculation in vascular disease. *J Vasc Surg* 2005; 42:574-581.
- 2. Addison PD, Neligan PC, Ashrafpour H, Khan A, Zhong A, Moses M et al. Noninvasive remote ischemic preconditioning for global protection of skeletal muscle against infarction. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2003; **285**:H1435-H1443.
- 3. Ahimastos AA, Lawler A, Reid CM, Blombery PA, Kingwell BA. Brief communication: ramipril markedly improves walking ability in patients with peripheral arterial disease: a randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med* 2006; **144**:660-664.
- 4. Aiello LP, Avery RL, Arrigg PG, Keyt BA, Jampel HD, Shah ST et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor in ocular fluid of patients with diabetic retinopathy and other retinal disorders. *N Engl J Med* 1994; **331**:1480-1487.
- 5. Alderton WK, Cooper CE, Knowles RG. Nitric oxide synthases: structure, function and inhibition. *Biochem J* 2001; **357**:593-615.
- 6. Almeida A, Almeida J, Bolanos JP, Moncada S. Different responses of astrocytes and neurons to nitric oxide: the role of glycolytically generated ATP in astrocyte protection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2001; **98**:15294-15299.
- 7. Almeida A, Moncada S, Bolanos JP. Nitric oxide switches on glycolysis through the AMP protein kinase and 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase pathway. *Nat Cell Biol* 2004; **6**:45-51.
- 8. Alon T, Hemo I, Itin A, Pe'er J, Stone J, Keshet E. Vascular endothelial growth factor acts as a survival factor for newly formed retinal vessels and has implications for retinopathy of prematurity. *Nat Med* 1995; **1**:1024-1028.
- 9. Amirhamzeh MM, Chant HJ, Rees JL, Hands LJ, Powell RJ, Campbell WB. A comparative study of treadmill tests and heel raising exercise for peripheral arterial disease. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 1997; **13**:301-305.
- Anan M, Abe T, Matsuda T, Ishii K, Kamida T, Fujiki M et al. Induced angiogenesis under cerebral ischemia by cyclooxygenase 2 and hypoxia-inducible factor naked DNA in a rat indirect-bypass model. *Neurosci Lett* 2006; **409**:118-123.
- 11. Anning PB, Grocott-Mason RM, Lewis MJ. Effects of sulphydryl- and nonsulphydryl-containing ACE inhibitors on left ventricular relaxation in the isolated guinea pig heart. *Endothelium* 1997; **5**:265-275.
- 12. Bachoo P, Thorpe P. Endovascular stents for intermittent claudication. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2003;CD003228.

- 13. Barnett AH, Bradbury AW, Brittenden J, Crichton B, Donnelly R, Homer-Vanniasinkam S et al. The role of cilostazol in the treatment of intermittent claudication. *Curr Med Res Opin* 2004; **20**:1661-1670.
- 14. Barton M, Carmona R, Krieger JE, Goettsch W, Morawietz H, d'Uscio LV et al. Endothelin regulates angiotensin-converting enzyme in the mouse kidney. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2000; 36:S244-S247.
- 15. Baum O, Djonov V, Ganster M, Widmer M, Baumgartner I. Arteriolization of capillaries and FGF-2 upregulation in skeletal muscles of patients with chronic peripheral arterial disease. *Microcirculation* 2005; **12**:527-537.
- 16. Beltran B, Mathur A, Duchen MR, Erusalimsky JD, Moncada S. The effect of nitric oxide on cell respiration: A key to understanding its role in cell survival or death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2000; **97**:14602-14607.
- Bender N, Rangoonwala B, Rosenthal J, Vasmant D. Physicochemical and enzyme binding kinetic properties of a new angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor ramipril and their clinical implications. *Clin Physiol Biochem* 1990; 8 Suppl 1:44-52.
- Bendermacher BL, Willigendael EM, Teijink JA, Prins MH. Supervised exercise therapy versus non-supervised exercise therapy for intermittent claudication. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006;CD005263.
- 19. Benndorf R, Boger RH, Ergun S, Steenpass A, Wieland T. Angiotensin II type 2 receptor inhibits vascular endothelial growth factor-induced migration and in vitro tube formation of human endothelial cells. *Circ Res* 2003; **93**:438-447.
- 20. Berkenboom G. Unstable atherosclerotic plaque. Pathophysiology and therapeutic guidelines. *Acta Cardiol* 1998; **53**:235-241.
- 21. Bernardi D, Bartoli P, Ferreri A, Geri AB, Ieri A. Assessment of captopril and nicardipine effects on chronic occlusive arterial disease of the lower extremity using Doppler ultrasound. *Angiology* 1988; **39**:942-952.
- 22. Berridge MV, Tan AS. Characterization of the cellular reduction of 3-(4,5dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT): subcellular localization, substrate dependence, and involvement of mitochondrial electron transport in MTT reduction. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 1993; **303**:474-482.
- 23. Boomsma F, de Bruyn JH, Derkx FH, Schalekamp MA. Opposite effects of captopril on angiotensin I-converting enzyme 'activity' and 'concentration'; relation between enzyme inhibition and long-term blood pressure response. *Clin Sci* (*Lond*) 1981; **60**:491-498.
- 24. Borg G. Borg's Perceived Exertion and Pain Scales. Human Kinetics; 1998.
- 25. Boright AP, Paterson AD, Mirea L, Bull SB, Mowjoodi A, Scherer SW et al. Genetic variation at the ACE gene is associated with persistent microalbuminuria and severe nephropathy in type 1 diabetes: the DCCT/EDIC Genetics Study. *Diabetes* 2005; **54**:1238-1244.

- 26. Bradford MM. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal Biochem* 1976; **72**:248-254.
- 27. Brendle DC, Joseph LJ, Corretti MC, Gardner AW, Katzel LI. Effects of exercise rehabilitation on endothelial reactivity in older patients with peripheral arterial disease. *Am J Cardiol* 2001; **87**:324-329.
- 28. Brice EA, Friedlander W, Bateman ED, Kirsch RE. Serum angiotensin-converting enzyme activity, concentration, and specific activity in granulomatous interstitial lung disease, tuberculosis, and COPD. *Chest* 1995; **107**:706-710.
- 29. Brogi E, Schatteman G, Wu T, Kim EA, Varticovski L, Keyt B et al. Hypoxiainduced paracrine regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor expression. *J Clin Invest* 1996; **97**:469-476.
- 30. Brown J, Reading SJ, Jones S, Fitchett CJ, Howl J, Martin A et al. Critical evaluation of ECV304 as a human endothelial cell model defined by genetic analysis and functional responses: a comparison with the human bladder cancer derived epithelial cell line T24/83. *Lab Invest* 2000; 80:37-45.
- 31. Brull DJ, Sanders J, Rumley A, Lowe GD, Humphries SE, Montgomery HE. Impact of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition on post-coronary artery bypass interleukin 6 release. *Heart* 2002; **87**:252-255.
- 32. Bushell AJ, Klenerman L, Taylor S, Davies H, Grierson I, Helliwell TR et al. Ischaemic preconditioning of skeletal muscle. 1. Protection against the structural changes induced by ischaemia/reperfusion injury. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 2002; 84:1184-1188.
- 33. Butler R, Morris AD, Burchell B, Struthers AD. DD angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism is associated with endothelial dysfunction in normal humans. *Hypertension* 1999; **33**:1164-1168.
- 34. Cambien F, Alhenc-Gelas F, Herbeth B, Andre JL, Rakotovao R, Gonzales MF et al. Familial resemblance of plasma angiotensin-converting enzyme level: the Nancy Study. Am J Hum Genet 1988; 43:774-780.
- 35. Cambien F, Poirier O, Lecerf L, Evans A, Cambou JP, Arveiler D et al. Deletion polymorphism in the gene for angiotensin-converting enzyme is a potent risk factor for myocardial infarction. *Nature* 1992; **359**:641-644.
- 36. Campbell DJ. The renin-angiotensin and the kallikrein-kinin systems. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 2003; **35**:784-791.
- 37. Capecchi PL, Pasini FL, Cati G, Colafati M, Acciavatti A, Ceccatelli L et al. Experimental model of short-time exercise-induced preconditioning in POAD patients. *Angiology* 1997; 48:469-480.
- Carmeliet P. Fibroblast growth factor-1 stimulates branching and survival of myocardial arteries: a goal for therapeutic angiogenesis? *Circ Res* 2000; 87:176-178.

- Carmeliet P. Mechanisms of angiogenesis and arteriogenesis. *Nat Med* 2000; 6:389-395.
- 40. Carmeliet P, Ferreira V, Breier G, Pollefeyt S, Kieckens L, Gertsenstein M et al. Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. *Nature* 1996; **380**:435-439.
- Carmeliet P, Lampugnani MG, Moons L, Breviario F, Compernolle V, Bono F et al. Targeted deficiency or cytosolic truncation of the VE-cadherin gene in mice impairs VEGF-mediated endothelial survival and angiogenesis. *Cell* 1999; 98:147-157.
- 42. Carmeliet P, Ng YS, Nuyens D, Theilmeier G, Brusselmans K, Cornelissen I et al. Impaired myocardial angiogenesis and ischemic cardiomyopathy in mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor isoforms VEGF164 and VEGF188. *Nat Med* 1999; **5**:495-502.
- 43. Cassar K. Intermittent claudication. BMJ 2006; 333:1002-1005.
- 44. Cassar K, Bachoo P, Brittenden J. The effect of peripheral percutaneous transluminal angioplasty on quality of life in patients with intermittent claudication. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2003; **26**:130-136.
- 45. Catalano M, Libretti A. Captopril for the treatment of patients with hypertension and peripheral vascular disease. *Angiology* 1985; **36**:293-296.
- 46. Cebe-Suarez S, Zehnder-Fjallman A, Ballmer-Hofer K. The role of VEGF receptors in angiogenesis; complex partnerships. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2006; **63**:601-615.
- 47. Cesari M, Penninx BW, Pahor M, Lauretani F, Corsi AM, Rhys WG et al. Inflammatory markers and physical performance in older persons: the InCHIANTI study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2004; **59**:242-248.
- 48. Chaturvedi N, Sjolie AK, Stephenson JM, Abrahamian H, Keipes M, Castellarin A et al. Effect of lisinopril on progression of retinopathy in normotensive people with type 1 diabetes. The EUCLID Study Group. EURODIAB Controlled Trial of Lisinopril in Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus. *Lancet* 1998; **351**:28-31.
- 49. Cheetham DR, Burgess L, Ellis M, Williams A, Greenhalgh RM, Davies AH. Does supervised exercise offer adjuvant benefit over exercise advice. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2004; 27:17-23.
- 50. Chomczynski P. A reagent for the single-step simultaneous isolation of RNA, DNA and proteins from cell and tissue samples. *Biotechniques* 1993; **15**:532-537.
- Chua CC, Hamdy RC, Chua BH. Upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor by angiotensin II in rat heart endothelial cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1998; 1401:187-194.

- 52. Ciuffetti G, Mannarino E, Mercuri M, Pasqualini L, Lombardini R, Ott C et al. Effect of physical training on leukocyte rheology throughout induced ischaemia. *Int Angiol* 1990; **9**:246-250.
- 53. Clark AL, McDonagh T. The origin of symptoms in chronic heart failure. *Heart* 1997; **78**:429-430.
- 54. Cleland SJ, Reid JL. The renin-angiotensin system and the heart: a historical review. *Heart* 1996; **76**:7-12.
- 55. Clementi E, Brown GC, Feelisch M, Moncada S. Persistent inhibition of cell respiration by nitric oxide: crucial role of S-nitrosylation of mitochondrial complex I and protective action of glutathione. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1998; 95:7631-7636.
- 56. Clyne CA, Mears H, Weller RO, O'Donnell TF. Calf muscle adaptation to peripheral vascular disease. *Cardiovasc Res* 1985; **19**:507-512.
- 57. Conway EM, Collen D, Carmeliet P. Molecular mechanisms of blood vessel growth. *Cardiovasc Res* 2001; **49**:507-521.
- 58. Costerousse O, Allegrini J, Clozel JP, Menard J, Alhenc-Gelas F. Angiotensin Iconverting enzyme inhibition but not angiotensin II suppression alters angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene expression in vessels and epithelia. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1998; **284**:1180-1187.
- 59. Cox B, Kislinger T, Emili A. Integrating gene and protein expression data: pattern analysis and profile mining. *Methods* 2005; **35**:303-314.
- 60. Coyle EF, Coggan AR, Hopper MK, Walters TJ. Determinants of endurance in well-trained cyclists. *J Appl Physiol* 1988; **64**:2622-2630.
- 61. Dai Q, Huang J, Klitzman B, Dong C, Goldschmidt-Clermont PJ, March KL et al. Engineered zinc finger-activating vascular endothelial growth factor transcription factor plasmid DNA induces therapeutic angiogenesis in rabbits with hindlimb ischemia. *Circulation* 2004; **110**:2467-2475.
- 62. Dandona P, Kumar V, Aljada A, Ghanim H, Syed T, Hofmayer D et al. Angiotensin II Receptor Blocker Valsartan Suppresses Reactive Oxygen Species Generation in Leukocytes, Nuclear Factor-{kappa}B, in Mononuclear Cells of Normal Subjects: Evidence of an Antiinflammatory Action. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88:4496-4501.
- 63. Danser AH. Local renin-angiotensin systems: the unanswered questions. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 2003; **35**:759-768.
- 64. Danser AH, Schalekamp MA, Bax WA, van den Brink AM, Saxena PR, Riegger GA et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme in the human heart. Effect of the deletion/insertion polymorphism. *Circulation* 1995; **92**:1387-1388.

- 65 Danser AH, van den Dorpel MA, Deinum J, Derkx FH, Franken AA, Peperkamp E et al. Renin, prorenin, and immunoreactive renin in vitreous fluid from eyes with and without diabetic retinopathy. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1989; **68**:160-167.
- 66. Dasarathy Y, Lanzillo JJ, Fanburg BL. Stimulation of bovine pulmonary artery endothelial cell ACE by dexamethasone: involvement of steroid receptors. *Am J Physiol* 1992; **263**:L645-L649.
- 67. Day RM, Thiel G, Lum J, Chevere RD, Yang Y, Stevens J et al. Hepatocyte growth factor regulates angiotensin converting enzyme expression. *J Biol Chem* 2004; **279**:8792-8801.
- 68. Day RM, Yang Y, Suzuki YJ, Stevens J, Pathi R, Perlmutter A et al. Bleomycin upregulates gene expression of angiotensin-converting enzyme via mitogenactivated protein kinase and early growth response 1 transcription factor. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2001; **25**:613-619.
- 69. de la Haye R., Diehm C, Blume J, Breddin K, Gerlach H, Rettig K et al. [An epidemiologic study of the value and limits of physical therapy/exercise therapy in Fontaine stage II arterial occlusive disease]. *Vasa Suppl* 1992; **38**:1-40.
- 70. Dibbens JA, Miller DL, Damert A, Risau W, Vadas MA, Goodall GJ. Hypoxic regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA stability requires the cooperation of multiple RNA elements. *Mol Biol Cell* 1999; **10**:907-919.
- 71. Dormandy JA, Rutherford RB. Management of peripheral arterial disease (PAD). TASC Working Group. TransAtlantic Inter-Society Concensus (TASC). J Vasc Surg 2000; 31:S1-S296.
- 72. Dragovic T, Minshall R, Jackman HL, Wang LX, Erdos EG. Kininase II-Type Enzymes. Their Putative Role in Muscle Energy Metabolism. *Diabetes* 1996; 45 Suppl 1:S34-S37.
- 73. Drexler H, Banhardt U, Meinertz T, Wollschlager H, Lehmann M, Just H. Contrasting peripheral short-term and long-term effects of converting enzyme inhibition in patients with congestive heart failure. A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Circulation* 1989; **79**:491-502.
- 74. Drexler H, Munzel T, Riede U, Just H. Adaptive changes in the periphery and their therapeutic consequences. *Am J Cardiol* 1991; **67**:29C-34C.
- 75. Dzau VJ, Bernstein K, Celermajer D, Cohen J, Dahlof B, Deanfield J et al. The relevance of tissue angiotensin-converting enzyme: manifestations in mechanistic and endpoint data. *Am J Cardiol* 2001; **88**:1L-20L.
- 76. Ebrahim Z, Baxter GF, Yellon DM. Omapatrilat limits infarct size and lowers the threshold for induction of myocardial preconditioning through a bradykinin receptor-mediated mechanism. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2004; **18**:127-134.
- 77. Ebrahimian TG, Tamarat R, Clergue M, Duriez M, Levy BI, Silvestre JS. Dual effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition on angiogenesis in type 1 diabetic mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2005; **25**:65-70.

- 78. Eliceiri BP, Paul R, Schwartzberg PL, Hood JD, Leng J, Cheresh DA. Selective requirement for Src kinases during VEGF-induced angiogenesis and vascular permeability. *Mol Cell* 1999; **4**:915-924.
- 79. Emanueli C, Minasi A, Zacheo A, Chao J, Chao L, Salis MB et al. Local delivery of human tissue kallikrein gene accelerates spontaneous angiogenesis in mouse model of hindlimb ischemia. *Circulation* 2001; **103**:125-132.
- 80. Emanueli C, Salis MB, Stacca T, Gaspa L, Chao J, Chao L et al. Rescue of impaired angiogenesis in spontaneously hypertensive rats by intramuscular human tissue kallikrein gene transfer. *Hypertension* 2001; **38**:136-141.
- 81. Emanueli C, Salis MB, Stacca T, Pinna A, Gaspa L, Madeddu P. Angiotensin AT(1) receptor signalling modulates reparative angiogenesis induced by limb ischaemia. *Br J Pharmacol* 2002; **135**:87-92.
- 82. Erman A, Winkler J, Chen-Gal B, Rabinov M, Zelykovski A, Tadjer S et al. Inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme by ramipril in serum and tissue of man. J Hypertens 1991; 9:1057-1062.
- 83. Ernst EE, Matrai A. Intermittent claudication, exercise, and blood rheology. *Circulation* 1987; **76**:1110-1114.
- 84. Eyries M, Agrapart M, Alonso A, Soubrier F. Phorbol ester induction of angiotensin-converting enzyme transcription is mediated by Egr-1 and AP-1 in human endothelial cells via ERK1/2 pathway. *Circ Res* 2002; **91**:899-906.
- Fabre JE, Rivard A, Magner M, Silver M, Isner JM. Tissue inhibition of angiotensin-converting enzyme activity stimulates angiogenesis in vivo. *Circulation* 1999; **99**:3043-3049.
- 86. Faxon DP, Fuster V, Libby P, Beckman JA, Hiatt WR, Thompson RW et al. Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease Conference: Writing Group III: pathophysiology. *Circulation* 2004; **109**:2617-2625.
- 87. Fernandez LA, Twickler J, Mead A. Neovascularization produced by angiotensin II. *J Lab Clin Med* 1985; **105**:141-145.
- 88. Ferrara N. Role of vascular endothelial growth factor in the regulation of angiogenesis. *Kidney Int* 1999; **56**:794-814.
- 89. Ferrara N. VEGF: an update on biological and therapeutic aspects. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* 2000; **11**:617-624.
- 90. Ferrara N, Gerber HP, Lecouter J. The biology of VEGF and its receptors. *Nat Med* 2003; **9**:669-676.
- 91. Ferrara N, vis-Smyth T. The biology of vascular endothelial growth factor. *Endocr Rev* 1997; **18**:4-25.
- 92. Fishel RS, Thourani V, Eisenberg SJ, Shai SY, Corson MA, Nabel EG et al. Fibroblast growth factor stimulates angiotensin converting enzyme expression in

vascular smooth muscle cells. Possible mediator of the response to vascular injury. *J Clin Invest* 1995; **95**:377-387.

- 93. Fleming I. Signaling by the angiotensin-converting enzyme. *Circ Res* 2006; **98**:887-896.
- 94. Fleming I, Kohlstedt K, Busse R. New fACEs to the renin-angiotensin system. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 2005; **20**:91-95.
- 95. Forsythe JA, Jiang BH, Iyer NV, Agani F, Leung SW, Koos RD et al. Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Mol Cell Biol* 1996; 16:4604-4613.
- 96. Fowkes FGR, Gillespie IN. Angioplasty (versus non surgical management) for intermittent claudication. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2003.
- 97. Gardner AW, Katzel LI, Sorkin JD, Bradham DD, Hochberg MC, Flinn WR et al. Exercise rehabilitation improves functional outcomes and peripheral circulation in patients with intermittent claudication: a randomized controlled trial. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2001; **49**:755-762.
- 98. Gardner AW, Killewich LA, Montgomery PS, Katzel LI. Response to exercise rehabilitation in smoking and nonsmoking patients with intermittent claudication. *J Vasc Surg* 2004; **39**:531-538.
- 99. Gardner AW, Poehlman ET. Exercise rehabilitation programs for the treatment of claudication pain. A meta-analysis. *JAMA* 1995; **274**:975-980.
- 100. Gardner AW, Skinner JS, Smith LK. Effects of handrail support on claudication and hemodynamic responses to single-stage and progressive treadmill protocols in peripheral vascular occlusive disease. *Am J Cardiol* 1991; **68**:99-105.
- 101 . Gayagay G, Yu B, Hambly B, Boston T, Hahn A, Celermajer DS et al. Elite endurance athletes and the ACE I allele--the role of genes in athletic performance. *Hum Genet* 1998; 103:48-50.
- 102 . Gerber HP, Condorelli F, Park J, Ferrara N. Differential transcriptional regulation of the two vascular endothelial growth factor receptor genes. Flt-1, but not Flk-1/KDR, is up-regulated by hypoxia. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:23659-23667.
- 103 . Gilbert RE, Kelly DJ, Cox AJ, Wilkinson-Berka JL, Rumble JR, Osicka T et al. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition reduces retinal overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor and hyperpermeability in experimental diabetes. *Diabetologia* 2000; **43**:1360-1367.
- 104 . Grant GR, Manduchi E, Pizarro A, Stoeckert CJ, Jr. Maintaining data integrity in microarray data management. *Biotechnol Bioeng* 2003; **84**:795-800.
- 105 . Gullestad L, Aukrust P, Ueland T, Espevik T, Yee G, Vagelos R et al. Effect of high- versus low-dose angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition on cytokine levels in chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999; 34:2061-2067.

- 106 . Hack CJ. Integrated transcriptome and proteome data: the challenges ahead. *Brief Funct Genomic Proteomic* 2004; **3**:212-219.
- 107 . Hall JE. Historical perspective of the renin-angiotensin system. *Mol Biotechnol* 2003; **24**:27-39.
- 108 . Harding D, Baines PB, Brull D, Vassiliou V, Ellis I, Hart A et al. Severity of meningococcal disease in children and the angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2002; 165:1103-1106.
- 109 . Harris R, Ukaejiofo EO. Rapid preparation of lymphocytes for tissue-typing. *Lancet* 1969; **294**:327.
- 110 . Hershey JC, Baskin EP, Glass JD, Hartman HA, Gilberto DB, Rogers IT et al. Revascularization in the rabbit hindlimb: dissociation between capillary sprouting and arteriogenesis. *Cardiovasc Res* 2001; **49**:618-625.
- 111 . Hiatt WR. Medical treatment of peripheral arterial disease and claudication. *N Engl J Med* 2001; **344**:1608-1621.
- 112 . Hiatt WR, Hirsch AT, Regensteiner JG, Brass EP. Clinical trials for claudication. Assessment of exercise performance, functional status, and clinical end points. Vascular Clinical Trialists. *Circulation* 1995; 92:614-621.
- 113 . Hiatt WR, Nawaz D, Regensteiner JG, Hossack KF. The Evaluation of Exercise Performance in Patients with Peripheral Vascular Disease. J Cardiopulm Rehabil 1988; 8:525-532.
- 114 . Hiatt WR, Regensteiner JG, Hargarten ME, Wolfel EE, Brass EP. Benefit of exercise conditioning for patients with peripheral arterial disease. *Circulation* 1990; **81**:602-609.
- 115 . Hiatt WR, Regensteiner JG, Wolfel EE, Carry MR, Brass EP. Effect of exercise training on skeletal muscle histology and metabolism in peripheral arterial disease. *J Appl Physiol* 1996; **81**:780-788.
- 116 . Hiatt WR, Wolfel EE, Meier RH, Regensteiner JG. Superiority of treadmill walking exercise versus strength training for patients with peripheral arterial disease. Implications for the mechanism of the training response. *Circulation* 1994; **90**:1866-1874.
- 117 . Hickman P, Harrison DK, Hill A, McLaren M, Tamei H, McCollum PT et al. Exercise in patients with intermittent claudication results in the generation of oxygen derived free radicals and endothelial damage. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 1994; 361:565-570.
- 118 . Hirsch AT, Duprez D. The potential role of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in peripheral arterial disease. *Vasc Med* 2003; **8**:273-278.

- 119. Hobbs SD, Bradbury AW. The EXercise versus Angioplasty in Claudication Trial (EXACT): reasons for recruitment failure and the implications for research into and treatment of intermittent claudication. J Vasc Surg 2006; 44:432-433.
- 120. Hock FJ, Wirth K, Albus U, Linz W, Gerhards HJ, Wiemer G et al. Hoe 140 a new potent and long acting bradykinin-antagonist: in vitro studies. Br J Pharmacol 1991; 102:769-773.
- 121. Holm J, Dahllof AG, Bjorntorp P, Schersten T. Enzyme studies in muscles of patients with intermittent claudication. Effect of training. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl* 1973; **128**:201-205.
- 122. Hoppeler H, Vogt M. Muscle tissue adaptations to hypoxia. *J Exp Biol* 2001; 204:3133-3139.
- 123 . Hruskovicova H, Dzurenkova D, Selingerova M, Bohus B, Timkanicova B, Kovacs L. The angiotensin converting enzyme I/D polymorphism in long distance runners. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 2006; 46:509-513.
- 124 . Hubert C, Houot AM, Corvol P, Soubrier F. Structure of the angiotensin Iconverting enzyme gene. Two alternate promoters correspond to evolutionary steps of a duplicated gene. *J Biol Chem* 1991; **266**:15377-15383.
- 125 . Hughson RL, Tschakovsky ME. Cardiovascular dynamics at the onset of exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1999; 31:1005-1010.
- 126 . Igic R, Behnia R. Properties and distribution of angiotensin I converting enzyme. *Curr Pharm Des* 2003; **9**:697-706.
- 127 . Inagami T, Kambayashi Y, Ichiki T, Tsuzuki S, Eguchi S, Yamakawa T. Angiotensin receptors: molecular biology and signalling. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* 1999; **26**:544-549.
- 128 . Jaffe IA. Adverse effects profile of sulfhydryl compounds in man. *Am J Med* 1986; **80**:471-476.
- 129 . Jelkmann W. Pitfalls in the measurement of circulating vascular endothelial growth factor. *Clin Chem* 2001; **47**:617-623.
- 130 . Jones A, Montgomery HE, Woods DR. Human Performance: A Role for the ACE Genotype? *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 2002; **30**:184-190.
- 131 . Jones A, Woods DR. Skeletal muscle RAS and exercise performance. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 2003; **35**:855-866.
- 132 . Jones NL, Killian KJ. Exercise limitation in health and disease. *N Engl J Med* 2000; **343**:632-641.
- 133 . Karagiannis A, Balaska K, Tziomalos K, Gerasimidis T, Karamanos D, Papayeoryiou A et al. Lack of an association between angiotensin converting enzyme gene polymorphism and peripheral arterial occlusive disease. *Vasc Med* 2004; **9**:189-192.

- 134 . Keavney B, McKenzie CA, Connell JM, Julier C, Ratcliffe PJ, Sobel E et al. Measured haplotype analysis of the angiotensin-I converting enzyme gene. *Hum Mol Genet* 1998; 7:1745-1751.
- 135 . Kendall RL, Thomas KA. Inhibition of vascular endothelial cell growth factor activity by an endogenously encoded soluble receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1993; **90**:10705-10709.
- 136 . King SJ, Booyse FM, Lin PH, Traylor M, Narkates AJ, Oparil S. Hypoxia stimulates endothelial cell angiotensin-converting enzyme antigen synthesis. Am J Physiol 1989; 256:C1231-C1238.
- 137 . Klagsbrun M, Takashima S, Mamluk R. The role of neuropilin in vascular and tumor biology. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 2002; **515**:33-48.
- 138 . Kohlstedt K, Brandes RP, Muller-Esterl W, Busse R, Fleming I. Angiotensinconverting enzyme is involved in outside-in signaling in endothelial cells. *Circ Res* 2004; **94**:60-67.
- 139. Kohlstedt K, Busse R, Fleming I. Signaling via the angiotensin-converting enzyme enhances the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in endothelial cells. *Hypertension* 2005; 45:126-132.
- 140 . Kohlstedt K, Shoghi F, Muller-Esterl W, Busse R, Fleming I. CK2 phosphorylates the angiotensin-converting enzyme and regulates its retention in the endothelial cell plasma membrane. *Circ Res* 2002; **91**:749-756.
- 141 . Krick S, Hanze J, Eul B, Savai R, Seay U, Grimminger F et al. Hypoxia-driven proliferation of human pulmonary artery fibroblasts: cross-talk between HIF-1alpha and an autocrine angiotensin system. *FASEB J* 2005; **19**:857-859.
- 142 . Labs KH, Dormandy JA, Jaeger KA, Stuerzebecher C, Hiatt WR. Trans-atlantic conference on clinical trial guidelines in PAOD (Peripheral arterial occlusive disease) clinical trial methodology. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 1999; 18:253-265.
- 143 . Labs KH, Nehler MR, Roessner M, Jaeger KA, Hiatt WR. Reliability of treadmill testing in peripheral arterial disease: a comparison of a constant load with a graded load treadmill protocol. *Vasc Med* 1999; 4:239-246.
- 144 . Larsen OA, Lassen NA. Effect of daily muscular exercise in patients with intermittent claudication. *Lancet* 1966; **2**:1093-1096.
- 145 . Lavoie JL, Sigmund CD. Minireview: overview of the renin-angiotensin system-an endocrine and paracrine system. *Endocrinology* 2003; **144**:2179-2183.
- 146. Lazarus DS, Aschoff J, Fanburg BL, Lanzillo JJ. Angiotensin converting enzyme (kininase II) mRNA production and enzymatic activity in human peripheral blood monocytes are induced by GM-CSF but not by other cytokines. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1994; **1226**:12-18.

- 147 . Lechtzier V, Hutoran M, Levy T, Kotler M, Brenner T, Steinitz M. Sodium dodecyl sulphate-treated proteins as ligands in ELISA. *J Immunol Methods* 2002; 270:19-26.
- 148 . Leng GC, Fowler B, Ernst E. Exercise for intermittent claudication. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2003.
- 149. Lever AF, Hole DJ, Gillis CR, McCallum IR, McInnes GT, MacKinnon PL et al. Do inhibitors of angiotensin-I-converting enzyme protect against risk of cancer? *Lancet* 1998; 352:179-184.
- 150. Levy BI. How to explain the differences between renin angiotensin system modulators. *Am J Hypertens* 2005; **18**:134S-141S.
- 151 . Li J, Brown LF, Hibberd MG, Grossman JD, Morgan JP, Simons M. VEGF, flk-1, and flt-1 expression in a rat myocardial infarction model of angiogenesis. *Am J Physiol* 1996; **270**:H1803-H1811.
- 152 . Libretti A, Catalano M. Captopril in the treatment of hypertension associated with claudication. *Postgrad Med J* 1986; **62 Suppl 1**:34-37.
- 153 . Lindahl P, Bostrom H, Karlsson L, Hellstrom M, Kalen M, Betsholtz C. Role of platelet-derived growth factors in angiogenesis and alveogenesis. *Curr Top Pathol* 1999; 93:27-33.
- 154. Lindpaintner K, Pfeffer MA, Kreutz R, Stampfer MJ, Grodstein F, LaMotte F et al. A prospective evaluation of an angiotensin-converting-enzyme gene polymorphism and the risk of ischemic heart disease. *N Engl J Med* 1995; 332:706-711.
- 155 . Lip GY, Makin AJ. Treatment of hypertension in peripheral arterial disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2003;CD003075.
- 156. Losito A, Selvi A, Jeffery S, Afzal AR, Parente B, Cao PG. Angiotensinconverting enzyme gene I/D polymorphism and carotid artery disease in renovascular hypertension. *Am J Hypertens* 2000; 13:128-133.
- 157. Luttun A, Tjwa M, Moons L, Wu Y, ngelillo-Scherrer A, Liao F et al. Revascularization of ischemic tissues by PIGF treatment, and inhibition of tumor angiogenesis, arthritis and atherosclerosis by anti-Flt1. *Nat Med* 2002; 8:831-840.
- 158 . Maisonpierre PC, Suri C, Jones PF, Bartunkova S, Wiegand SJ, Radziejewski C et al. Angiopoietin-2, a natural antagonist for Tie2 that disrupts in vivo angiogenesis. *Science* 1997; **277**:55-60.
- 159. Man WD, Hopkinson NS, Harraf F, Nikoletou D, Polkey MI, Moxham J. Abdominal muscle and quadriceps strength in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax* 2005; **60**:718-722.
- 160 . Marshall RP, Webb S, Bellingan GJ, Montgomery HE, Chaudhari B, McAnulty RJ et al. Angiotensin converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism is

associated with susceptibility and outcome in acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2002; **166**:646-650.

- 161 . Milkiewicz M, Hudlicka O, Shiner R, Egginton S, Brown MD. Vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA and protein do not change in parallel during noninflammatory skeletal muscle ischaemia in rat. J Physiol 2006; 577:671-678.
- 162. Miura S, Tatsuguchi A, Wada K, Takeyama H, Shinji Y, Hiratsuka T et al. Cyclooxygenase-2-regulated vascular endothelial growth factor release in gastric fibroblasts. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2004; 287:G444-G451.
- 163 . Mohler III ER, Hiatt WR, Creager MA. Cholesterol reduction with atorvastatin improves walking distance in patients with peripheral arterial disease. *Circulation* 2003; 108:1481-1486.
- 164 . Moncada S, Erusalimsky JD. Does nitric oxide modulate mitochondrial energy generation and apoptosis? *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2002; **3**:214-220.
- 165 . Moncada S, Palmer RM, Higgs EA. Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. *Pharmacol Rev* 1991; **43**:109-142.
- 166 . Montgomery H. Stressing the system. Eur J Clin Invest 2003; 33:635-641.
- 167 . Montgomery H, Brull D. Gene-environment interactions and the response to exercise. Int J Exp Pathol 2000; 81:283-287.
- 168 . Montgomery H, Clarkson P, Barnard M, Bell J, Brynes A, Dollery C et al. Angiotensin-converting-enzyme gene insertion/deletion polymorphism and response to physical training. *Lancet* 1999; **353**:541-545.
- 169. Montgomery HE, Clarkson P, Dollery CM, Prasad K, Losi MA, Hemingway H et al. Association of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Gene I/D Polymorphism With Change in Left Ventricular Mass in Response to Physical Training. *Circulation* 1997; 96:741-747.
- 170 . Montgomery HE, Marshall R, Hemingway H, Myerson S, Clarkson P, Dollery C et al. Human gene for physical performance. *Nature* 1998; **393**:221-222.
- 171 . Morrell NW, Atochina EN, Morris KG, Danilov SM, Stenmark KR. Angiotensin converting enzyme expression is increased in small pulmonary arteries of rats with hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. J Clin Invest 1995; 96:1823-1833.
- 172 . Mulder HJ, van Geel PP, Schalij MJ, van Gilst WH, Zwinderman AH, Bruschke AV. DD ACE gene polymorphism is associated with increased coronary artery endothelial dysfunction: the PREFACE trial. *Heart* 2003; **89**:557-558.
- 173 . Myerson S, Hemingway H, Budget R, Martin J, Humphries S, Montgomery H. Human Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme gene and endurance performance. J Appl Physiol 1999; 87:1313-1316.

- 174 . Namiki A, Brogi E, Kearney M, Kim EA, Wu T, Couffinhal T et al. Hypoxia induces vascular endothelial growth factor in cultured human endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:31189-31195.
- 175 . Nazarov IB, Woods DR, Montgomery HE, Shneider OV, Kazakov VI, Tomilin NV et al. The angiotensin converting enzyme I/D polymorphism in Russian athletes. *Eur J Hum Genet* 2001; **9**:797-801.
- 176 . Nelson AR, Fingleton B, Rothenberg ML, Matrisian LM. Matrix metalloproteinases: biologic activity and clinical implications. *J Clin Oncol* 2000; 18:1135-1149.
- 177 . Neufeld G, Cohen T, Gengrinovitch S, Poltorak Z. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptors. *FASEB J* 1999; **13**:9-22.
- 178 . Ng PW, Hollingsworth SJ, Luery H, Kumana TJ, Chaloner EJ. Intermittent claudication: exercise-increased walking distance is not related to improved cardiopulmonary fitness. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2005; **30**:391-394.
- 179 . Niebauer J, Cooke JP. Cardiovascular effects of exercise: role of endothelial shear stress. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1996; **28**:1652-1660.
- 180. Noguchi R, Yoshiji H, Kuriyama S, Yoshii J, Ikenaka Y, Yanase K et al. Combination of interferon-beta and the angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, perindopril, attenuates murine hepatocellular carcinoma development and angiogenesis. *Clin Cancer Res* 2003; 9:6038-6045.
- 181 . Novo S, Abrignani MG, Pavone G, Zamueli M, Pernice C, Geraci AM et al. Effects of captopril and ticlopidine, alone or in combination, in hypertensive patients with intermittent claudication. *Int Angiol* 1996; **15**:169-174.
- 182 . Otani A, Takagi H, Suzuma K, Honda Y. Angiotensin II potentiates vascular endothelial growth factor-induced angiogenic activity in retinal microcapillary endothelial cells. *Circ Res* 1998; **82**:619-628.
- 183 . Overlack A, Adamczak M, Bachmann W, Bonner G, Bretzel RG, Derichs R et al. ACE-inhibition with perindopril in essential hypertensive patients with concomitant diseases. The Perindopril Therapeutic Safety Collaborative Research Group. Am J Med 1994; 97:126-134.
- 184 . Page EL, Robitaille GA, Pouyssegur J, Richard DE. Induction of hypoxiainducible factor-1alpha by transcriptional and translational mechanisms. *J Biol Chem* 2002; 277:48403-48409.
- 185 . Park JE, Chen HH, Winer J, Houck KA, Ferrara N. Placenta growth factor. Potentiation of vascular endothelial growth factor bioactivity, in vitro and in vivo, and high affinity binding to Flt-1 but not to Flk-1/KDR. *J Biol Chem* 1994; 269:25646-25654.
- 186 . Payne JR, Dhamrait SS, Gohlke P, Cooper J, Scott RA, Pitsiladis YP et al. The impact of ACE genotype on serum ACE activity in a black South African male population. *Ann Hum Genet* 2007; **71**:1-7.

- 187 . Pepper MS, Mandriota SJ. Regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 (Flk-1) expression in vascular endothelial cells. *Exp Cell Res* 1998; 241:414-425.
- 188 . Perkins JM, Collin J, Creasy TS, Fletcher EW, Morris PJ. Exercise training versus angioplasty for stable claudication. Long and medium term results of a prospective, randomised trial. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 1996; **11**:409-413.
- 189. Persico MG, Vincenti V, DiPalma T. Structure, expression and receptor-binding properties of placenta growth factor (PIGF). *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 1999; 237:31-40.
- 190 . Porcu P, Emanueli C, Kapatsoris M, Chao J, Chao L, Madeddu P. Reversal of angiogenic growth factor upregulation by revascularization of lower limb ischemia. *Circulation* 2002; **105**:67-72.
- 191 . Przyklenk K, Kloner RA. Relationships between structure and effects of ACE inhibitors: comparative effects in myocardial ischaemic/reperfusion injury. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1989; 28 Suppl 2:167S-175S.
- 192 . Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ. Regulation of angiogenesis by hypoxia: role of the HIF system. *Nat Med* 2003; **9**:677-684.
- 193 . Pupilli C, Lasagni L, Romagnani P, Bellini F, Mannelli M, Misciglia N et al. Angiotensin II stimulates the synthesis and secretion of vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor in human mesangial cells. J Am Soc Nephrol 1999; 10:245-255.
- 194. Rajagopalan S, Mohler ER, III, Lederman RJ, Mendelsohn FO, Saucedo JF, Goldman CK et al. Regional angiogenesis with vascular endothelial growth factor in peripheral arterial disease: a phase II randomized, double-blind, controlled study of adenoviral delivery of vascular endothelial growth factor 121 in patients with disabling intermittent claudication. *Circulation* 2003; **108**:1933-1938.
- 195 . Rankinen T, Perusse L, Gagnon J, Chagnon YC, Leon AS, Skinner JS et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme ID polymorphism and fitness phenotype in the HERITAGE Family Study. J Appl Physiol 2000; 88:1029-1035.
- 196 . Rankinen T, Wolfarth B, Simoneau JA, Maier-Lenz D, Rauramaa R, Rivera MA et al. No association between the angiotensin-converting enzyme ID polymorphism and elite endurance athlete status. *J Appl Physiol* 2000; 88:1571-1575.
- 197 . Regensteiner JG, Meyer TJ, Krupski WC, Cranford LS, Hiatt WR. Hospital vs home-based exercise rehabilitation for patients with peripheral arterial occlusive disease. *Angiology* 1997; **48**:291-300.
- 198 . Regensteiner JG, Steiner JF, Hiatt WR. Exercise training improves functional status in patients with peripheral arterial disease. *J Vasc Surg* 1996; **23**:104-115.

- 199 . Regensteiner JG, Wolfel EE, Brass EP, Carry MR, Ringel SP, Hargarten ME et al. Chronic changes in skeletal muscle histology and function in peripheral arterial disease. *Circulation* 1993; **87**:413-421.
- 200 . Reif DM, White BC, Moore JH. Integrated analysis of genetic, genomic and proteomic data. *Expert Rev Proteomics* 2004; **1**:67-75.
- 201 . Relf M, LeJeune S, Scott PA, Fox S, Smith K, Leek R et al. Expression of the angiogenic factors vascular endothelial cell growth factor, acidic and basic fibroblast growth factor, tumor growth factor beta-1, platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor, placenta growth factor, and pleiotrophin in human primary breast cancer and its relation to angiogenesis. *Cancer Res* 1997; **57**:963-969.
- 202 . Renner W, Pabst E, Paulweber B, Malaimare L, Iglseder B, Wascher TC et al. The angiotensin-converting-enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism is not a risk factor for peripheral arterial disease. *Atherosclerosis* 2002; **165**:175-178.
- 203 . Rigat B, Hubert C, Alhenc-Gelas F, Cambien F, Corvol P, Soubrier F. An insertion/deletion polymorphism in the angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene accounting for half the variance of serum enzyme levels. *J Clin Invest* 1990; 86:1343-1346.
- 204 . Rigat B, Hubert C, Corvol P, Soubrier F. PCR detection of the insertion/deletion polymorphism of the human angiotensin converting enzyme gene (DCP1) (dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase 1). *Nucleic Acids Res* 1992; **20**:1433.
- 205 . Risau W. Differentiation of endothelium. FASEB J 1995; 9:926-933.
- 206 . Roberts DH, Tsao Y, Linge K, McLoughlin GA, Breckenridge A. Double-blind comparison of captopril with nifedipine in hypertension complicated by intermittent claudication. *Angiology* 1992; 43:748-756.
- 207 . Roberts DH, Tsao Y, McLoughlin GA, Breckenridge A. Placebo-controlled comparison of captopril, atenolol, labetalol, and pindolol in hypertension complicated by intermittent claudication. *Lancet* 1987; **330**:650-653.
- 208 . Robinson CJ, Stringer SE. The splice variants of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and their receptors. *J Cell Sci* 2001; **114**:853-865.
- 209 . Rockson SG, Cooke JP. Peripheral arterial insufficiency: mechanisms, natural history, and therapeutic options. *Adv Intern Med* 1998; **43**:253-277.
- 210. Rodriguez-Burford C, Oelschlager DK, Talley LI, Barnes MN, Partridge EE, Grizzle WE. The use of dimethylsulfoxide as a vehicle in cell culture experiments using ovarian carcinoma cell lines. *Biotech Histochem* 2003; 78:17-21.
- 211 . Ross R. Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease. N Engl J Med 1999; 340:115-126.
- 212 . Rossi GP, Taddei S, Virdis A, Ghiadoni L, Albertin G, Favilla S et al. Exclusion of the ACE D/I gene polymorphism as a determinant of endothelial dysfunction. *Hypertension* 2001; **37**:293-300.

- 213. Rowold DJ, Herrera RJ. Alu elements and the human genome. *Genetica* 2000; 108:57-72.
- 214 . Ruegg C, Dormond O, Mariotti A. Endothelial cell integrins and COX-2: mediators and therapeutic targets of tumor angiogenesis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2004; 1654:51-67.
- 215 . Ryan MJ, Sigmund CD. ACE, ACE inhibitors, and other JNK. *Circ Res* 2004; **94**:1-3.
- 216 . Saijonmaa O, Fyhrquist F. Upregulation of angiotensin converting enzyme by atrial natriuretic peptide and cyclic GMP in human endothelial cells. *Cardiovasc Res* 1998; **40**:206-210.
- 217 . Saijonmaa O, Nyman T, Fyhrquist F. Downregulation of angiotensin-converting enzyme by tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1beta in cultured human endothelial cells. *J Vasc Res* 2001; **38**:370-378.
- 218 . Saijonmaa O, Nyman T, Kosonen R, Fyhrquist F. Induction of angiotensinconverting enzyme by oncostatin m in human endothelial cells. *Cytokine* 2000; 12:1253-1256.
- 219. Saijonmaa O, Nyman T, Kosonen R, Fyhrquist F. Upregulation of angiotensinconverting enzyme by vascular endothelial growth factor. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2001; 280:H885-H891.
- 220 . Sasaki K, Murohara T, Ikeda H, Sugaya T, Shimada T, Shintani S et al. Evidence for the importance of angiotensin II type 1 receptor in ischemia-induced angiogenesis. *J Clin Invest* 2002; **109**:603-611.
- 221 . Schaufelberger M, Drexler H, Schieffer E, Swedberg K. Angiotensin-converting enzyme gene expression in skeletal muscle in patients with chronic heart failure. *J Card Fail* 1998; **4**:185-191.
- 222 . Scholz D, Cai WJ, Schaper W. Arteriogenesis, a new concept of vascular adaptation in occlusive disease. *Angiogenesis* 2001; **4**:247-257.
- 223 . Schunkert H, Ingelfinger JR, Hirsch AT, Pinto Y, Remme WJ, Jacob H et al. Feedback regulation of angiotensin converting enzyme activity and mRNA levels by angiotensin II. *Circ Res* 1993; **72**:312-318.
- 224 . Scott RA, Moran C, Wilson RH, Onywera V, Boit MK, Goodwin WH et al. No association between Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) gene variation and endurance athlete status in Kenyans. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* 2005; **141**:169-175.
- 225 . Semenza G. Signal transduction to hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2002; **64**:993-998.
- 226 . Semenza GL. Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1: mechanisms and consequences. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2000; **59**:47-53.

- 227 . Senger DR, Galli SJ, Dvorak AM, Perruzzi CA, Harvey VS, Dvorak HF. Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. *Science* 1983; **219**:983-985.
- 228 . Shalaby F, Rossant J, Yamaguchi TP, Gertsenstein M, Wu XF, Breitman ML et al. Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. *Nature* 1995; **376**:62-66.
- 229 . Shearman CP. Management of intermittent claudication. Br J Surg 2002; 89:529-531.
- 230 . Shen BQ, Lee DY, Gerber HP, Keyt BA, Ferrara N, Zioncheck TF. Homologous up-regulation of KDR/Flk-1 receptor expression by vascular endothelial growth factor in vitro. *J Biol Chem* 1998; **273**:29979-29985.
- 231 . Shibuya M, Yamaguchi S, Yamane A, Ikeda T, Tojo A, Matsushime H et al. Nucleotide sequence and expression of a novel human receptor-type tyrosine kinase gene (flt) closely related to the fms family. *Oncogene* 1990; 5:519-524.
- 232 . Shimkets RA. Gene expression quantitation technology summary. *Methods Mol Biol* 2004; **258**:7-12.
- 233 . Silvestre JS, Bergaya S, Tamarat R, Duriez M, Boulanger CM, Levy BI. Proangiogenic effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition is mediated by the bradykinin B(2) receptor pathway. *Circ Res* 2001; **89**:678-683.
- 234 . Silvestre JS, Kamsu-Kom N, Clergue M, Duriez M, Levy BI. Very-low-dose combination of the angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor perindopril and the diuretic indapamide induces an early and sustained increase in neovascularization in rat ischemic legs. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2002; **303**:1038-1043.
- 235 . Silvestre JS, Tamarat R, Ebrahimian TG, Le-Roux A, Clergue M, Emmanuel F et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor-B promotes in vivo angiogenesis. *Circ Res* 2003; **93**:114-123.
- 236 . Silvestre JS, Tamarat R, Senbonmatsu T, Icchiki T, Ebrahimian T, Iglarz M et al. Antiangiogenic effect of angiotensin II type 2 receptor in ischemia-induced angiogenesis in mice hindlimb. *Circ Res* 2002; **90**:1072-1079.
- 237 . Song JC, White CM. Clinical pharmacokinetics and selective pharmacodynamics of new angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors: an update. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2002; 41:207-224.
- 238 . Sonna LA, Sharp MA, Knapik JJ, Cullivan M, Angel KC, Patton JF et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme genotype and physical performance during US Army basic training. J Appl Physiol 2001; 91:1355-1363.
- 239 . Sorlie D, Myhre K. Effects of physical training in intermittent claudication. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 1978; **38**:217-222.

- 240. Stalmans I, Ng YS, Rohan R, Fruttiger M, Bouche A, Yuce A et al. Arteriolar and venular patterning in retinas of mice selectively expressing VEGF isoforms. *J Clin Invest* 2002; **109**:327-336.
- 241 . Stein I, Itin A, Einat P, Skaliter R, Grossman Z, Keshet E. Translation of vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA by internal ribosome entry: implications for translation under hypoxia. *Mol Cell Biol* 1998; 18:3112-3119.
- 242 . Stein I, Neeman M, Shweiki D, Itin A, Keshet E. Stabilization of vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA by hypoxia and hypoglycemia and coregulation with other ischemia-induced genes. *Mol Cell Biol* 1995; **15**:5363-5368.
- 243 . Stewart AH, Lamont PM. Exercise for intermittent claudication. Supervised programmes should be universally available. *BMJ* 2001; **323**:703-704.
- 244 . Stewart KJ, Hiatt WR, Regensteiner JG, Hirsch AT. Exercise training for claudication. N Engl J Med 2002; 347:1941-1951.
- 245 . Suda K, Rothen-Rutishauser B, Gunthert M, Wunderli-Allenspach H. Phenotypic characterization of human umbilical vein endothelial (ECV304) and urinary carcinoma (T24) cells: endothelial versus epithelial features. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim* 2001; **37**:505-514.
- 246 . Suehiro T, Morita T, Inoue M, Kumon Y, Ikeda Y, Hashimoto K. Increased amount of the angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) mRNA originating from the ACE allele with deletion. *Hum Genet* 2004; **115**:91-96.
- 247 . Suri C, McClain J, Thurston G, McDonald DM, Zhou H, Oldmixon EH et al. Increased vascularization in mice overexpressing angiopoietin-1. *Science* 1998; 282:468-471.
- 248 . Suzuki T, Higgins PJ, Crawford DR. Control selection for RNA quantitation. *Biotechniques* 2000; **29**:332-337.
- 249. Takahashi K, Sawasaki Y, Hata J, Mukai K, Goto T. Spontaneous transformation and immortalization of human endothelial cells. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol* 1990; 26:265-274.
- 250. Takeshita S, Tomiyama H, Yokoyama N, Kawamura Y, Furukawa T, Ishigai Y et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition improves defective angiogenesis in the ischemic limb of spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Cardiovasc Res* 2001; 52:314-320.
- 251. Tamarat R, Silvestre JS, Durie M, Levy BI. Angiotensin II angiogenic effect in vivo involves vascular endothelial growth factor- and inflammation-related pathways. *Lab Invest* 2002; 82:747-756.
- 252 . Tamarat R, Silvestre JS, Kubis N, Benessiano J, Duriez M, deGasparo M et al. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase lies downstream from angiotensin II-induced angiogenesis in ischemic hindlimb. *Hypertension* 2002; **39**:830-835.

- 253 . Tammela T, Enholm B, Alitalo K, Paavonen K. The biology of vascular endothelial growth factors. *Cardiovasc Res* 2005; **65**:550-563.
- 254 . Tan KH, Cotterrell D, Sykes K, Sissons GR, de Cossart L, Edwards PR. Exercise training for claudicants: changes in blood flow, cardiorespiratory status, metabolic functions, blood rheology and lipid profile. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2000; 20:72-78.
- 255 . Tan KH, de Cossart L, Edwards PR. Exercise training and peripheral vascular disease. Br J Surg 2000; 87:553-562.
- 256 . Tanriverdi H, Evrengul H, Tanriverdi S, Turgut S, Akdag B, Kaftan HA et al. Improved endothelium dependent vasodilation in endurance athletes and its relation with ACE I/D polymorphism. *Circ J* 2005; **69**:1105-1110.
- 257 . Taute BM, Glaser C, Taute R, Podhaisky H. Progression of atherosclerosis in patients with peripheral arterial disease as a function of angiotensin-converting enzyme gene insertion/deletion polymorphism. *Angiology* 2002; **53**:375-382.
- 258 . Taute BM, Handschug K, Taute R, Seifert H, Glaser C, Podhaisky H. Angiotensin-converting enzyme gene insertion/deletion polymorphism and peripheral arterial occlusive disease. *Vasa* 1998; **27**:149-153.
- 259 . Taute BM, Seifert H, Taute R, Glaser C, Podhaisky H. Angiotensin-converting enzyme gene insertion/deletion polymorphism and carotid artery wall thickness in patients with peripheral arterial occlusive disease. *Int Angiol* 2000; **19**:337-344.
- 260 . Taylor RR, Mamotte CD, Fallon K, van Bockxmeer FM. Elite athletes and the gene for angiotensin-converting enzyme. *J Appl Physiol* 1999; **87**:1035-1037.
- 261 . Terjung RL, Mathien GM, Erney TP, Ogilvie RW. Peripheral adaptations to low blood flow in muscle during exercise. *Am J Cardiol* 1988; **62**:15E-19E.
- 262 . Terman BI, Carrion ME, Kovacs E, Rasmussen BA, Eddy RL, Shows TB. Identification of a new endothelial cell growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase. *Oncogene* 1991; **6**:1677-1683.
- 263 . Thomas GN, Critchley JA, Tomlinson B, Cockram CS, Chan JC. Peripheral vascular disease in Type 2 diabetic Chinese patients: associations with metabolic indices, concomitant vascular disease and genetic factors. *Diabet Med* 2003; 20:988-995.
- 264 . Timmermans PB, Wong PC, Chiu AT, Herblin WF, Benfield P, Carini DJ et al. Angiotensin II receptors and angiotensin II receptor antagonists. *Pharmacol Rev* 1993; 45:205-251.
- 265 . Tischer E, Mitchell R, Hartman T, Silva M, Gospodarowicz D, Fiddes JC et al. The human gene for vascular endothelial growth factor. Multiple protein forms are encoded through alternative exon splicing. *J Biol Chem* 1991; 266:11947-11954.
- 266 . Tisi PV, Hulse M, Chulakadabba A, Gosling P, Shearman CP. Exercise training for intermittent claudication: does it adversely affect biochemical markers of the

exercise-induced inflammatory response? *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 1997; **14**:344-350.

- 267 . Tisi PV, Shearman CP. Biochemical and inflammatory changes in the exercising claudicant. *Vasc Med* 1998; **3**:189-198.
- 268. Tisi PV, Shearman CP. The evidence for exercise-induced inflammation in intermittent claudication: should we encourage patients to stop walking? *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 1998; 15:7-17.
- 269. Tokunaga T, Oshika Y, Abe Y, Ozeki Y, Sadahiro S, Kijima H et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) mRNA isoform expression pattern is correlated with liver metastasis and poor prognosis in colon cancer. *Br J Cancer* 1998; 77:998-1002.
- 270. Towbin H, Staehelin T, Gordon J. Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1979; **76**:4350-4354.
- 271 . Tseng CH, Tseng CP. Lack of association between angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism and peripheral vascular disease in type 2 diabetic patients in Taiwan. *Circ J* 2002; **66**:1014-1018.
- 272 . Tsianos G, Sanders J, Dhamrait S, Humphries S, Grant S, Montgomery H. The ACE gene insertion/deletion polymorphism and elite endurance swimming. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2004; **92**:360-362.
- 273 . Tsopanoglou NE, Maragoudakis ME. On the mechanism of thrombin-induced angiogenesis. Potentiation of vascular endothelial growth factor activity on endothelial cells by up-regulation of its receptors. *J Biol Chem* 1999; 274:23969-23976.
- 274. Tuomisto TT, Rissanen TT, Vajanto I, Korkeela A, Rutanen J, Yla-Herttuala S. HIF-VEGF-VEGFR-2, TNF-alpha and IGF pathways are upregulated in critical human skeletal muscle ischemia as studied with DNA array. *Atherosclerosis* 2004; 174:111-120.
- 275 . UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. BMJ 1998; 317:703-713.
- 276 . Van de Ven LL, Van Leeuwen JT, Smit AJ. The influence of chronic treatment with betablockade and angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition on the peripheral blood flow in hypertensive patients with and without concomitant intermittent claudication. A comparative cross-over trial. *Vasa* 1994; 23:357-362.
- 277 . van de Wal RM, Plokker HW, Lok DJ, Boomsma F, van der Horst FA, van Veldhuisen DJ et al. Determinants of increased angiotensin II levels in severe chronic heart failure patients despite ACE inhibition. *Int J Cardiol* 2006; **106**:367-372.

- 278 . van W, V, Seghers L, de Vries MR, Kuiper EJ, Schlingemann RO, Bajema I et al. Expression of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor, Stromal Cell-Derived Factor-1, and CXCR4 in Human Limb Muscle With Acute and Chronic Ischemia. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2007.
- 279. Villard E, Alonso A, Agrapart M, Challah M, Soubrier F. Induction of angiotensin I-converting enzyme transcription by a protein kinase C-dependent mechanism in human endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 1998; **273**:25191-25197.
- 280. Voller A, Bartlett A, Bidwell DE. Enzyme immunoassays with special reference to ELISA techniques. *J Clin Pathol* 1978; **31**:507-520.
- 281 . Volpert OV, Ward WF, Lingen MW, Chesler L, Solt DB, Johnson MD et al. Captopril inhibits angiogenesis and slows the growth of experimental tumors in rats. J Clin Invest 1996; 98:671-679.
- 282 . Walker RD, Nawaz S, Wilkinson CH, Saxton JM, Pockley AG, Wood RF. Influence of upper- and lower-limb exercise training on cardiovascular function and walking distances in patients with intermittent claudication. *J Vasc Surg* 2000; 31:662-669.
- 283 . Wang GL, Jiang BH, Rue EA, Semenza GL. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is a basic-helix-loop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1995; **92**:5510-5514.
- 284 . Wang H, Hiatt WR, Barstow TJ, Brass EP. Relationships between muscle mitochondrial DNA content, mitochondrial enzyme activity and oxidative capacity in man: alterations with disease. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol* 1999; 80:22-27.
- 285 . Wenz M, Steinau R, Gerlach H, Lange M, Kaczmarczyk G. Inhaled nitric oxide does not change transpulmonary angiotensin II formation in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Chest* 1997; **112**:478-483.
- 286 . Wilkinson-Berka JL, Kelly DJ, Gilbert RE. The interaction between the reninangiotensin system and vascular endothelial growth factor in the pathogenesis of retinal neovascularization in diabetes. *J Vasc Res* 2001; **38**:527-535.
- 287 . Williams AG, Dhamrait SS, Wootton PT, Day SH, Hawe E, Payne JR et al. Bradykinin receptor gene variant and human physical performance. *J Appl Physiol* 2004; 96:938-942.
- 288 . Williams AG, Rayson MP, Jubb M, World M, Woods DR, Hayward M et al. The ACE gene and muscle performance. *Nature* 2000; **403**:614.
- 289. Williams B, Baker AQ, Gallacher B, Lodwick D. Angiotensin II increases vascular permeability factor gene expression by human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Hypertension* 1995; 25:913-917.
- 290. Womack CJ, Sieminski DJ, Katzel LI, Yataco A, Gardner AW. Improved walking economy in patients with peripheral arterial occlusive disease. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1997; **29**:1286-1290.

- 291 . Wong ML, Medrano JF. Real-time PCR for mRNA quantitation. *Biotechniques* 2005; **39**:75-85.
- 292 . Wood RE, Sanderson BE, Askew CD, Walker PJ, Green S, Stewart IB. Effect of training on the response of plasma vascular endothelial growth factor to exercise in patients with peripheral arterial disease. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 2006; **111**:401-409.
- 293 . Woods D, Hickman M, Jamshidi Y, Brull D, Vassiliou V, Jones A et al. Elite swimmers and the D allele of the ACE I/D polymorphism. *Hum Genet* 2001; 108:230-232.
- 294 . Woods D, Sanders J, Jones A, Hawe E, Gohlke P, Humphries SE et al. The serum angiotensin-converting enzyme and angiotensin II response to altered posture and acute exercise, and the influence of ACE genotype. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2004; 91:342-348.
- 295 . Woods DR, World M, Rayson MP, Williams AG, Jubb M, Jamshidi Y et al. Endurance enhancement related to the Human Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme I-D polymorphism is not due to differences in the cardiorespiratory response to training. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2002; 86:240-244.
- 296 . Wu G, Luo J, Rana JS, Laham R, Sellke FW, Li J. Involvement of COX-2 in VEGF-induced angiogenesis via P38 and JNK pathways in vascular endothelial cells. *Cardiovasc Res* 2006; **69**:512-519.
- 297 . Yang HT, Terjung RL. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition increases exercise tolerance and muscle blood flow in rats with peripheral arterial insufficiency. J Clin Pharmacol 1994; 34:345-355.
- 298. Yasumatsu R, Nakashima T, Masuda M, Ito A, Kuratomi Y, Nakagawa T et al. Effects of the angiotensin-I converting enzyme inhibitor perindopril on tumor growth and angiogenesis in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2004; 130:567-573.
- 299 . Yataco AR, Corretti MC, Gardner AW, Womack CJ, Katzel LI. Endothelial reactivity and cardiac risk factors in older patients with peripheral arterial disease. *Am J Cardiol* 1999; **83**:754-758.
- 300 . Yellon DM, Baxter GF. Protecting the ischaemic and reperfused myocardium in acute myocardial infarction: distant dream or near reality? *Heart* 2000; 83:381-387.
- 301 . Yellon DM, Baxter GF, Garcia-Dorado D, Heusch G, Sumeray MS. Ischaemic preconditioning: present position and future directions. *Cardiovasc Res* 1998; 37:21-33.
- 302 . Yoshiji H, Kuriyama S, Kawata M, Yoshii J, Ikenaka Y, Noguchi R et al. The angiotensin-I-converting enzyme inhibitor perindopril suppresses tumor growth and angiogenesis: possible role of the vascular endothelial growth factor. *Clin Cancer Res* 2001; **7**:1073-1078.

- 303 . Yoshiji H, Kuriyama S, Noguchi R, Fukui H. Angiotensin-I converting enzyme inhibitors as potential anti-angiogenic agents for cancer therapy. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* 2004; 4:555-567.
- 304 . Youn J, Cho ML, Kim YJ, Yun HS, Park SH, Jin CZ et al. New cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor DFU regulates vascular endothelial growth factor expression in rheumatoid synoviocytes. *Immunol Lett* 2005; **96**:219-224.
- 305 . Yu AY, Frid MG, Shimoda LA, Wiener CM, Stenmark K, Semenza GL. Temporal, spatial, and oxygen-regulated expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 in the lung. *Am J Physiol* 1998; 275:L818-L826.
- 306 . Yu TZ, Ma CT. [Effect of hypoxia on angiotensin-converting enzyme activity and gene expression of intrapulmonary artery smooth muscle cells]. *Sheng Li Xue Bao* 1998; **50**:623-628.
- 307 . Yusuf S, Sleight P, Pogue J, Bosch J, Davies R, Dagenais G. Effects of an angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. The Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 2000; 342:145-153.
- 308 . Zachary I. VEGF signalling: integration and multi-tasking in endothelial cell biology. *Biochem Soc Trans* 2003; **31**:1171-1177.
- 309 . Zachary I, Gliki G. Signaling transduction mechanisms mediating biological actions of the vascular endothelial growth factor family. *Cardiovasc Res* 2001; 49:568-581.
- 310. Zhang B, Tanaka H, Shono N, Miura S, Kiyonaga A, Shindo M et al. The I allele of the angiotensin-converting enzyme gene is associated with an increased percentage of slow-twitch type I fibers in human skeletal muscle. *Clin Genet* 2003; 63:139-144.
- 311 . Ziada AM, Hassan MO, Tahlilkar KI, Inuwa IM. Long-term exercise training and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition differentially enhance myocardial capillarization in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. J Hypertens 2005; 23:1233-1240.
- 312 . Zwierska I, Walker RD, Choksy SA, Male JS, Pockley AG, Saxton JM. Upper- vs lower-limb aerobic exercise rehabilitation in patients with symptomatic peripheral arterial disease: a randomized controlled trial. *J Vasc Surg* 2005; **42**:1122-1130.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: BORG SCALES
No exertion at all	Extremely light	Very light	Light	Somewhat hard	Hard (heavy)	Very hard	Extremely hard Maximal exertion	Borg RPE scale © Gunnar Borg, 1970, 1985, 1984, 1998
9	8	9 10	12 12	13	15 16	17 18	19 20	
0 Nothing at all "No P"	5 Extremely weak Just noticeable 1 Very weak	5 2 Weak Light	5 3 Moderate	5 Strong Heavy	7 Very strong	9 0 Extremely strong "Max P" 11	 Absolute maximum Highest possible 	Borg CR10 scale © Gunnar Borg, 1981, 1982, 1998
			∾i 					

APPENDIX 2: RT-PCR OPTIMISATION

EXAMPLES

The optimisation process of the PCR conditions for ACE 216 primers is illustrated below. The following parameters were adjusted until consistent clean PCR products were obtained. Representative gel pictures showing the results of the optimisation process are shown:

Annealing Temperature

The annealing temperature was increased in 2° C increments from 58° C to 62° C, gradually increasing the stringency of the PCR reaction. A final annealing temperature of 60° C was chosen.



Magnesium Concentration

The reaction magnesium concentrations were increased from 1.0 and 2.0 mM, gradually decreasing the stringency of the PCR reaction. A final concentration of 1.5 mM was chosen.







cDNA Template Levels

The initial cDNA template level put into each reaction was varied between 100 and 300ng. A final template level of 300ng was chosen.



PCR Cycle Conditions

The number of PCR cycles was increased from 30 to 40 cycles, increasing the final product yield. At 40 cycles, the PCR products became saturated, so 35 cycles was chosen for the final reactions.



Number of PCR Cycles

APPENDIX 3: PATIENT DEMOGRAPHICS

Patient	Group	Sex	Age	BMI	Race	Smoking (no/day)	Æ	MQ	Chol Ch	₽D	Affected Leg(s)	Est. Walking Distance	Disease Distribution	Past Intervention
СТ01	control	Σ	65	23.0	Asian	0	Yes	Type II	Yes	No	Bilateral	700	crural	None
CT02	exercise	ш	62	21.2	Caucasian	ЕX	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Bilateral	450	crural	None
СТ03	control	Σ	63	25.9	Caucasian	Ĕ	N	No	No	°N N	Left	200	L iliac/crural	R Iliac Angioplasty 2004
CT04	control	ш	80	31.0	Caucasian	ШX	N	No	Yes	Yes	Bilateral	450	bilateral SFA occlusions	None
CT05	exercise	ш	67	24.4	Caucasian	30	S	No	No	Š	Bilateral	250	bilateral SFA/crural	None
CT06	exercise	ш	75	30.6	Caucasian	Ex	S	No	Yes	Yes	Left	400	L SFA occlusion	None
СТ07	exercise	Σ	56	23.4	Caucasian	10	N	No	No	S	Left	350	L SFA stenosis	None
СТ08	control	ш	72	21.3	Caucasian	ШX	N	No	Yes	N	Bilateral	250	bilateral SFA occlusions	R fem-popliteal bypass 1997 occluded
CT09	exercise	ш	82	21.3	Caucasian	Ex	No	No	Yes	S	Bilateral	200	bilateral SFA occlusions	Failed Left SFA angioplasty 2004
CT10	exercise	ш	62	21.2	Caucasian	Ex	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Bilateral	400	Left iliac stenosis/Right SFA occlusion	Right patch CFA and iliac stent 2005
CT11	control	Σ	54	24.5	Caucasian	Ex	Yes	° N	Yes	Š	Bilateral	500	R iliac/femoral stenoses. L femoral occlusion	R iliac angioplasty 1999 R SFA angioplasty 2000 L fem-pop bypass 1998

Patient	Medications
CT01	Aspirin 75mg od, Carvedilol 12.5mg bd, Omeprazole 10mg od, Gliclazide 80mg bd, Metformin 500mg tds, Simvastatin 10mg od
CT02	Aspirin 75mg od, Co-amilozide 5/50 od, Atorvastatin 20mg od
CT03	Aspirin 75mg od, Chlorpromazine 25mg bd, Trifluoperazine 1mg bd
CT04	Aspirin 75mg od, Bendromethafluazide 2.5mg od, Calcichew 1 tds, Simvastatin 20mg od
CT05	Aspirin 75mg od, Lithium 600mg od, Mirtazapine 15mg od, Zoplicone 3.75mg od
CT06	Aspirin 75mg od, Bendromethafluazide 2.5mg od
CT07	Aspirin 75mg od, Diazepam 10mg od, Iron sulphate 200mg bd
CT08	Paracetamol 1g qds, Calcichew 1 tds, Propylthiouracil 10mg od, Iron Sulphate 200mg bd, Atorvastatin 20mg od, Fosamax 70mg once weekly
CT09	Aspirin 75mg od, Simvastatin 40mg od, Calcichew 1 tds
CT10	Aspirin 75mg od, Co-dydramol 2 qds prn, Bisoprolol 5mg od, Atorvastatin 20mg od, Bendromethafluazide 2.5mg od, Omeprazole 20mg od, Diclofenac 75mg tds prn
CT11	Simvastatin 20mg od, Aspirin 75mg od

APPENDIX 4: PATIENT DATA

	Left	ABPI		0 1.33	0 0.73	0 0.76	5 0.78	0 0.67	0.57	5 0.89	5 0.71	0.55	0 0.88	0.60
-		AF		20	1	1	10	10	86	12	36	8(15	96
Post	ight	ABPI		1.33	0.67	0.83	0.81	0.83	1.00	0.96	0.75	0.72	0.94	0.73
	R	AP		200	100	120	110	125	150	135	06	105	160	110
		Br		150	150	145	135	150	150	140	120	145	170	150
	eft	ABPI		1.33	0.79	0.81	0.69	0.56	0.63	0.71	0.69	0.58	0.86	0.69
	_	AP		200	115	110	122	75	06	105	84	95	128	100
Pre	ght	ABPI		1.27	0.83	0.96	0.76	0.89	1.06	0.95	0.74	0.79	0.97	0.76
	Ri	AP		190	120	130	136	120	152	140	06	130	144	110
		Br		150	145	135	178	135	144	147	122	165	148	145
ng HR	(m	Post	1	76	84	80	72	84	72	72	92	80	64	68
Resti	dq)	Pre		68	80	82	72	80	60	76	84	76	60	60
		MAP		100.0	113.3	110.0	91.7	106.7	103.3	91.7	85.0	101.7	108.3	113.3
	Post	DBP		75	95	06	20	85	80	70	20	75	85	06
ressure		SBP		150	150	150	135	150	150	135	115	155	155	160
Blood P		MAP		101.7	108.3	100.0	101.7	103.3	108.3	106.7	91.7	108.3	96.7	111.7
	Pre	DBP		80	06	85	80	85	85	80	75	80	70	06
		SBP		145	145	130	145	140	155	160	125	165	150	155
ıt (Kg)	Post			65.3	54.6	72.6	75.2	64.1	85.2	66	52.5	55.5	55.8	74
Weigh	Pre			67.2	56.2	72.3	76	65.3	84.4	66.8	51.2	55.5	58.3	73.3
Height	(cm)			171	163	167	156.5	163.5	166	169	155	161.5	166	173
Patient				CT01	CT02	СТ03	CT04	CT05	CT06	CT07	CT08	CT09	CT10	CT11

SBP- Systolic blood pressure, DBP- Diastolic blood pressure, MAP- Mean Arterial Pressure, Br- Brachial blood pressure (highest), AP- Ankle blood pressure (highest)

	щ	Post	15	15	13	15	13	15	15	11	13	13	17
	RP	Pre	14	13	13	17	13	17	15	1	13	1	17
s Test	4	Post	5	ю	5	ى ا	5	с	7	ę	ъ	ъ	2J
eel Raise	RP	Pre	5	4	4	ى ك	5	7	ъ	ъ	ę	4	S
Ξ	iises	Post	129	187	54	26	84	238	44	18	42	360	76
	Heel Ra	Pre	139	65	86	32	42	208	44	25	25	164	85
		Post	17	15	13	13	15	15	15	1	13	15	17
	RPE	Pre	15	15	13	17	15	15	15	13	13	13	17
	0	Post	7	9	4	ъ	5	ო	7	ო	т	Ŋ	2J
Ŧ	RPI	Pre	9	5	4	ъ	ว	4	9	ę	4	ς	б
admill Tes	(mqd	Post	116	100	112	76	104	92	80	100	88	88	84
bility: Trea	Max HR (Pre	100	114	126	76	104	84	88	100	96	68	80
Walking A	(Post	835	460	361	135	799	686	582	246	582	864	735
-	n) dwm	Pre	859	353	366	134	373	532	447	182	554	718	855
		Post	375	221	145	88	375	415	460	158	396	705	418
	CD (M)	re	182	175	124	74	225	355	245	95	386	182	276
		Ŧ	4	-	~		^{IN}	Ø	^N	2.	(r)	4	(N
Patient			CT01	CT02	CT03	CT04	CT05	CT06	CT07	CT08	CT09	CT10	CT11

CD- Claudication distance, MWD- Maximum walking distance, Max HR- Maximum Heart Rate, RPP- Rated Perceived Pain, RPE- Rated Perceived Exertion

Patient	ACE	Ra	tio ACE 2	16/GAPDH	1-3 mRNA	Expression	uo	Rati	o ACE 22	15/GAPDH	-3 mRNA	Expression	uc	Ŵ	ean Ratio	ACE
	Genotype		Pre			Post			Pre			Post			216 and 22	15
		Run 1	Run 2	Mean	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	Pre	Post	% Change
CT01	₽	0.236	0.217	0.227	0.349	0.368	0.359	0.566	0.522	0.544	0.302	0.785	0.543	0.386	0.451	17.0
СТ02	Ω	0.258	0.081	0.170	0.555	0.375	0.465	0.402	0.660	0.531	0.429	0.604	0.516	0.350	0.491	40.0
СТ03	Ω	0.360	0.318	0.339	0.724	0.496	0.610	0.834	0.726	0.780	0.513	0.953	0.733	0.560	0.672	20.0
CT04	Ω	0.448	0.343	0.396	0.647	0.604	0.626	0.756	0.613	0.685	0.778	0.670	0.724	0.540	0.675	24.9
CT05	Ω	0.426	0.285	0.356	0.498	0.495	0.497	0.537	0.648	0.593	0.654	0.518	0.586	0.474	0.541	14.2
CT06	DD	0.186	0.174	0.180	0.535	0.570	0.553	0.735	0.572	0.654	0.633	0.874	0.753	0.417	0.653	56.6
CT07	DD	0.465	0.276	0.371	0.685	0.876	0.780	0.808	1.050	0.929	0.937	1.233	1.085	0.650	0.933	43.5
CT08	=	0.561	0.463	0.512	0.645	0.435	0.540	0.619	0.219	0.419	0.571	0.504	0.537	0.465	0.539	15.8
СТ09	=	0.821	0.761	0.791	1.022	0.751	0.886	1.222	0.902	1.062	1.295	1.376	1.336	0.927	1.111	19.9
CT10	Q	0.787	0.848	0.817	0.868	0.790	0.829	0.805	0.891	0.848	0.924	066.0	0.957	0.833	0.893	7.3
CT11	=	0.847	0.946	0.896	0.848	0.801	0.824	1.046	1.135	1.090	1.055	1.187	1.121	0.993	0.973	-2.0

Patient			Ratio ACE	D:I alleles			%			ACI	E levels (nț	g/ml)		
		Pre			Post		Change		Pre			Post		
	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	D:I ratio	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	% Change
CT01	1.444	1.256	1.350	1.172	1.565	1.369	1.4	193.6	194.9	194.3	190.0	177.1	183.5	-5.5
СТ02	0.891	0.811	0.851	0.973	1.020	0.996	17.0	215.5	213.6	214.6	225.0	229.9	227.4	0.9
CT03	1.434	1.039	1.237	0.997	1.142	1.070	-13.5	186.3	185.4	185.9	189.6	183.2	186.4	0.3
CT04	1.323	1.124	1.224	1.001	1.284	1.143	-6.6	251.3	279.6	265.5	226.0	259.0	242.5	-8.7
CT05	1.008	1.054	1.031	1.233	1.114	1.173	13.7	170.8	162.5	166.7	173.9	165.7	169.8	1.9
CT06	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	221.5	236.9	229.2	219.8	240.0	229.9	0.3
CT07	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	203.5	209.1	206.3	204.5	209.0	206.8	0.2
CT08	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	94.1	119.9	107.0	113.4	137.4	125.4	17.2
СТ09	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	75.3	98.7	87.0	79.3	100.8	90.0	3.5
CT10	1.930	1.561	1.746	2.355	1.742	2.048	17.3	141.9	156.9	149.4	136.2	161.9	149.0	-0.2
CT11	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	104.3	134.0	119.2	96.7	113.7	105.2	-11.7

Patient		Ratio VEG	¹²¹ /GAPDH	-3 mRNA E	xpression			Ratio VEGF	-HDAPDH-	3 mrna E	xpression		% Change	• VEGF
		Pre			Post			Pre			Post		VEGF ₁₂₁	VEGF ₁₆₅
	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	Run 1	Run 2	Mean		
CT01	0.349	0.480	0.414	0.508	0.493	0.501	0.086	0.125	0.106	0.115	0.170	0.142	20.9	34.6
СТ02	0.095	0.362	0.229	0.452	0.358	0.405	0.028	0.075	0.052	0.156	0.055	0.106	77.1	104.8
СТ03	0.387	0.402	0.395	0.524	0.499	0.511	0.148	0.161	0.154	0.165	0.186	0.176	29.6	13.7
CT04	0.494	0.579	0.536	0.555	0.463	0.509	0.241	0.239	0.240	0.189	0.185	0.187	-5.1	-22.0
CT05	0.264	0.413	0.338	0.397	0.554	0.475	0.090	0.133	0.111	0.134	0.230	0.182	40.4	63.1
CT06	0.442	0.624	0.533	0.571	0.561	0.566	0.173	0.253	0.213	0.230	0.207	0.218	6.2	2.6
CT07	0.434	0.306	0.370	0.448	0.498	0.473	0.123	0.099	0.111	0.193	0.201	0.197	27.8	77.3
CT08	0.487	0.453	0.470	0.433	0.303	0.368	0.234	0.192	0.213	0.200	0.109	0.155	-21.7	-27.6
СТ09	1.109	0.254	0.682	1.202	0.762	0.982	0.708	0.261	0.484	0.862	0.436	0.649	44.1	34.0
CT10	0.501	0.193	0.347	1.214	0.576	0.895	0.213	0.109	0.161	0.861	0.279	0.570	157.8	254.9
CT11	1.064	0.262	0.663	1.048	0.550	0.799	0.769	0.088	0.429	0.749	0.216	0.482	20.5	12.5

		Ratio	VEGF Red	ceptor/GA	PDH-3 mR	NA Expressi	ion				VEGF Le	vels (pg/n	ul) ELISA		
-R-1 sVEGFR-1	sVEGFR-1	FR-1		VEGF	-R-2		% Change			Pre			Post		%
Post Pre Pos	Pre Pos	Pos	t	Pre	Post	VEGFR-1	sVEGFR-1	VEGFR-2	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	Run 1	Run 2	Mean	Change
0.355 0.086 0.126	0.086 0.126	0.126		0.125	0.196	63.4	45.8	56.5	54.3	43.6	49.0	17.7	15.9	16.8	-65.8
0.426 0.087 0.216	0.087 0.216	0.216		0.020	0.147	121.5	148.9	633.3	41.0	38.7	39.8	33.6	40.4	37.0	-7.1
0.468 0.121 0.184	0.121 0.184	0.184		0.191	0.141	32.9	51.6	-25.8	17.3	16.2	16.8	42.1	36.9	39.5	135.8
0.428 0.151 0.164	0.151 0.164	0.164		0.171	0.160	23.3	8.9	-6.1	4.0	2.2	3.1	24.3	23.9	24.1	686.2
0.380 0.116 0.215	0.116 0.215	0.215		0.190	0.343	49.0	85.0	80.6	18.0	12.4	15.2	75.8	63.6	69.7	358.7
0.472 0.137 0.207	0.137 0.207	0.207		0.059	0.228	27.2	51.4	285.2	95.1	69.5	82.3	6.66	87.4	93.7	13.8
0.346 0.157 0.272 (0.157 0.272 (0.272 (0	0.102	0.155	0.7	73.5	52.8	8.8	5.7	7.2	15.8	16.6	16.2	123.9
0.380 0.231 0.192 (0.231 0.192 (0.192 (U	0.149	0.210	-1.0	-17.0	41.3	42.1	50.6	46.4	40.6	30.2	35.4	-23.5
0.599 0.244 0.310	0.244 0.310	0.310		0.123	0.200	29.1	26.6	62.5	21.0	16.2	18.6	32.9	27.8	30.3	63.0
0.364 0.226 0.232	0.226 0.232	0.232		0.247	0.303	-6.2	2.3	22.4	12.5	12.7	12.6	24.0	33.6	28.8	128.5
0.453 0.211 0.210	0.211 0.210	0.210		0.148	0.187	0.0	-0.5	26.1	26.2	25.3	25.8	47.3	41.5	44.4	72.3

APPENDIX 5: CELL CULTURE WORK-UP EXPERIMENT RESULTS

Cell Viability Control Experiments

For both medium concentrations, the wells seeded with 1,500 and 3,000 cells showed evidence of changes in cell viability over time. This was especially obvious in the wells seeded with 3,000 cells in 10% FCS, which proliferated markedly over the experimental period. More stability in cell viability was shown in the wells seeded with 15,000 and 30,000 cells, which were confluent throughout the experiment, although in wells seeded with 30,000 cells in 10% FCS there was a significant rise in absorbance (Figure A). From these experiments, a decision was made to use 15,000 cells/well in future experiments, as at this density the cells were always confluent and stably viable over 72 hours. In this quiescent state, the cells were more likely to have steady gene and protein expression.

DETA-NO Only Experiment

In the cell viability experiments, there was no difference in viability between the medium and the vehicle controls in both the 1% FCS experiment (Medium only 1.53 ± 0.08 , Vehicle 1.77 ± 0.20 ; p = 0.32) and the 10% FCS experiment (Medium only 1.80 ± 0.07 , Vehicle 1.93 ± 0.09 ; p = 0.28). The vehicle control was used as the experimental control. With increasing doses of DETA-NO, there was no significant change in viability from the controls (Figure B) although the viability appeared to drop slightly at higher DETA-NO doses. Changes in ACE and VEGF gene expression are shown in Figures C and D respectively. From the results of these experiments, DETA-NO doses between 0.008 to 0.25 mM were used in the final experiments.



Figure A Graphs of Cell Viability for Varying Cell Numbers in 1% and 10% FCS over Time

Higher absorbance readings indicate increased cell viability or proliferation. The bars represent means (of triplicate readings) and the error bars SEM. T₀ represents the start of the experiment, with further readings taken every 24 hours. The differences between time points were analysed by 1-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparison test. * p < 0.05 vs T₀, ** p < 0.01 vs T₀.



Figure B Cell Viability with Increasing Doses of DETA-NO with 1% and 10% FCS

The bars represent means (of quadruplicate readings) and the error bars SEM. The control experiments consisted of cells, medium and drug vehicle. No significant difference in viability from the controls was found (1-way ANOVA: 1% FCS p = 0.89; 10% FCS p = 0.98).





Figure C Changes in ACE Expression with Increasing Doses of DETA-NO with 1% and 10% FCS

With both serum concentrations, increasing doses of DETA-NO resulted in an increase in ACE expression over the controls. However, at higher DETA-NO doses with 1% FCS this increase was attenuated. The bars represent the results of a single RT-PCR run.









Figure D Changes in VEGF₁₂₁ and VEGF₁₆₅ Expression with Increasing doses of DETA-NO with 1% and 10% FCS

With both serum concentrations, increasing doses of DETA-NO resulted in an increase in $VEGF_{121}$ and $VEGF_{165}$ expression over the controls. However, at the highest DETA-NO dose, VEGF expression was reduced. The bars represent the results of a single RT-PCR run.

Ramiprilat Only Experiment

In the cell viability experiments, there was no difference in viability between the medium and vehicle controls in both the 1% FCS experiment (Medium only 1.67 ± 0.15 , Vehicle 1.96 ± 0.15 ; p = 0.22) and the 10% FCS experiment (Medium only 2.13 ± 0.11 , Vehicle 2.17 ± 0.11 ; p = 0.77). The vehicle control was used as the experimental control. With increasing doses of ramiprilat, there was no significant change in viability from the controls (Figure E). Changes in ACE and VEGF gene expression are shown in Figures E and F respectively. From the results of these experiments, the ramiprilat doses 100 and 1000 nM/1 were used in the final experiments.

Ramiprilat and Cell Viability







Figure E Cell Viability and ACE Expression with Increasing doses of Ramiprilat with 1% and 10% FCS

In the viability graphs, the bars represent means (of quadruplicate readings) and the error bars SEM. No significant difference in viability from the controls was found (1-way ANOVA: 1% FCS p = 0.84; 10% FCS p = 0.28). Increasing doses of ramiprilat augmented ACE gene expression at both FCS concentrations.

Ramiprilat and VEGF₁₂₁ Expression



Ramiprilat and VEGF₁₆₅ Expression



Figure F Changes in VEGF₁₂₁ and VEGF₁₆₅ Expression with Increasing doses of Ramiprilat with 1% and 10% FCS

In both 1% and 10% FCS, increasing doses of ramiprilat progressively suppressed $VEGF_{121}$ and $VEGF_{165}$ expression compared to the controls, with a more marked effect seen with 1% FCS.

APPENDIX 6: FINAL CELL CULTURE EXPERIMENTS- WELL CONTENTS

DETA-NO Only Experiments

All wells contained 15,000 ECV 304 cells in 1% FCS and 0.05% DMSO with:

Well	Additional Contents
DO-M 'Medium Control'	-
DO-V 'Vehicle Control'	1% water
DO-0.008	0.008 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
DO-0.016	0.016 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
DO-0.031	0.031 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
DO-0.063	0.063 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
DO-0.125	0.125 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
DO-0.250	0.250 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)

The '**DO-V**' experimental wells (containing cells, medium, and both drug vehicles) were used as the overall **experimental controls**.

Ramiprilat 100 nM/l Experiments

All wells contained 15,000 ECV 304 cells in 1% FCS, 100 nM/l ramiprilat and 0.05% DMSO with:

Well	Additional Contents
R100-M 'Medium Control'	-
R100-V 'Vehicle Control'	1% water
R100-0.008	0.008 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
R100-0.016	0.016 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
R100-0.031	0.031 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
R100-0.063	0.063 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
R100-0.125	0.125 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
R100-0.250	0.250 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)

Ramiprilat 1000 nM/l Experiments

All wells contained 15,000 ECV 304 cells in 1% FCS, 1000 nM/l ramiprilat and 0.05% DMSO with:

Well	Additional Contents
R1000-M 'Medium Control'	-
R1000-V 'Vehicle Control'	1% water
R1000-0.008	0.008 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
R1000-0.016	0.016 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
R1000-0.031	0.031 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
R1000-0.063	0.063 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
R1000-0.125	0.125 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)
R1000-0.250	0.250 mM DETA-NO in water (1% of total volume)

The DO-M, R100-M and R1000-M wells, combined with the previous ramiprilat only work-up experiment results, were used to assess the effects of ramiprilat alone.

APPENDIX 7: CELL CULTURE EXPERIMENT DATA

	ECV 304 Cell Viability								Viability			
		Experiment 1 Experiment 2				(% Control)						
	1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM
DO-M	2.137	2.288	2.181	1.838	1.949	1.886	1.941	1.717	1.992	0.068	-	-
DO-V	2.098	2.328	1.842	1.869	2.038	1.999	1.948	2.194	2.039	0.058	100.0	2.848
DO-0.008	2.329	2.037	1.936	2.073	1.994	2.061	1.815	1.779	2.003	0.061	98.2	2.971
DO-0.016	2.254	2.012	2.047	2.026	1.954	2.059	2.122	1.823	2.037	0.044	99.9	2.156
DO-0.031	1.841	2.074	2.167	2.079	2.143	1.857	2.233	1.941	2.042	0.052	100.1	2.533
DO-0.063	2.028	2.159	2.261	2.214	2.172	2.187	2.286	1.759	2.133	0.060	104.6	2.946
DO-0.125	1.914	2.166	2.194	1.937	2.183	2.205	2.075	2.035	2.089	0.041	102.4	2.032
DO-0.250	2.308	2.062	2.204	1.993	1.807	1.995	2.094	1.974	2.055	0.054	100.7	2.647
R100-M	2.016	2.129	1.996	1.882	2.365	2.202	1.790	1.840	2.027	0.069	-	-
R100-V	2.175	2.047	2.450	1.730	2.006	2.269	2.120	2.172	2.121	0.074	104.0	3.633
R100-0.008	2.404	2.223	2.092	1.774	2.227	2.186	2.184	1.773	2.108	0.079	103.3	3.880
R100-0.016	2.192	2.472	2.102	2.146	2.309	2.290	2.194	1.867	2.196	0.062	107.7	3.053
R100-0.031	2.254	2.319	2.013	1.753	2.347	2.298	2.407	1.993	2.173	0.080	106.5	3.946
R100-0.063	2.411	2.581	2.028	1.845	2.146	2.266	2.322	1.946	2.193	0.088	107.5	4.306
R100-0.125	2.204	2.391	2.062	1.896	2.378	2.351	2.259	1.941	2.185	0.070	107.1	3.413
R100-0.250	2.430	2.422	2.042	2.074	2.255	2.161	2.158	1.687	2.153	0.084	105.6	4.121
R1000-M	2.005	2.005	1.987	1.813	1.856	1.903	1.899	1.901	1.921	0.025	-	-
R1000-V	2.249	2.441	2.530	1.674	1.789	1.768	1.812	1.887	2.019	0.119	99.0	5.818
R1000-0.008	2.244	2.603	2.454	1.629	1.819	1.693	1.854	1.937	2.029	0.128	99.5	6.264
R1000-0.016	2.280	2.285	2.048	1.707	1.831	1.748	1.896	1.993	1.973	0.079	96.8	3.851
R1000-0.031	2.263	2.173	2.173	1.581	1.893	2.011	1.993	1.863	1.994	0.077	97.8	3.792
R1000-0.063	2.304	2.262	2.443	1.583	1.909	2.027	2.123	1.969	2.077	0.095	101.8	4.672
R1000-0.125	2.270	2.362	2.219	1.528	2.055	1.856	2.160	2.010	2.057	0.094	100.9	4.624
R1000-0.250	2.337	2.400	2.148	1.480	1.770	1.728	1.834	1.843	1.942	0.113	95.2	5.556

DO: DETA-NO alone, **R100**: DETA-NO with 100 nM/I Ramiprilat, **R1000**: DETA-NO with 1000 nM/I Ramiprilat, **M**: Medium Control, **V**: Vehicle Control, **0.008-0.250**: represent doses of DETA-NO.

	ACE Expression							
		Ratio ACE		ACE (% Control)				
	Exp 1	Exp 2	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM		
DO-M	0.180	0.273	0.226	0.047	-	-		
DO-V	0.198	0.217	0.207	0.009	100.0	4.51		
DO-0.008	0.249	0.242	0.246	0.003	118.5	1.62		
DO-0.016	0.213	0.258	0.236	0.023	113.7	10.90		
DO-0.031	0.254	0.279	0.266	0.012	128.5	5.97		
DO-0.063	0.288	0.302	0.295	0.007	142.1	3.39		
DO-0.125	0.291	0.273	0.282	0.009	136.0	4.25		
DO-0.250	0.246	0.197	0.222	0.025	106.9	11.99		
R100-M	0.300	0.306	0.303	0.003	-	-		
R100-V	0.269	0.256	0.262	0.007	126.5	3.20		
R100-0.008	0.300	0.312	0.306	0.006	147.6	2.93		
R100-0.016	0.319	0.279	0.299	0.020	144.3	9.64		
R100-0.031	0.280	0.302	0.291	0.011	140.5	5.32		
R100-0.063	0.341	0.314	0.328	0.013	158.0	6.32		
R100-0.125	0.393	0.322	0.358	0.035	172.5	16.98		
R100-0.250	0.374	0.364	0.369	0.005	178.0	2.35		
R1000-M	0.288	0.359	0.323	0.036	-	-		
R1000-V	0.254	0.324	0.289	0.035	139.2	16.85		
R1000-0.008	0.254	0.341	0.298	0.043	143.5	20.97		
R1000-0.016	0.303	0.337	0.320	0.017	154.3	8.09		
R1000-0.031	0.313	0.321	0.317	0.004	152.9	2.00		
R1000-0.063	0.305	0.359	0.332	0.027	160.0	12.96		
R1000-0.125	0.317	0.324	0.321	0.003	154.6	1.55		
R1000-0.250	0.311	0.332	0.321	0.010	155.0	4.98		

			VEGF ₁₂₁ E	xpression		
		Ratio VEGF	VEGF ₁₂₁ (% Control)			
	Exp 1	Exp 2	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM
DO-M	0.614	0.618	0.616	0.002	-	-
DO-V	0.621	0.666	0.643	0.023	100.0	3.54
DO-0.008	0.621	0.711	0.666	0.045	103.5	6.98
DO-0.016	0.644	0.719	0.681	0.038	105.9	5.84
DO-0.031	0.632	0.713	0.672	0.040	104.5	6.29
DO-0.063	0.638	0.730	0.684	0.046	106.3	7.13
DO-0.125	0.593	0.687	0.640	0.047	99.5	7.33
DO-0.250	0.601	0.601	0.601	0.000	93.4	0.04
R100-M	0.540	0.510	0.525	0.015	-	-
R100-V	0.518	0.502	0.510	0.008	79.3	1.21
R100-0.008	0.546	0.512	0.529	0.017	82.2	2.63
R100-0.016	0.566	0.557	0.562	0.005	87.3	0.74
R100-0.031	0.576	0.582	0.579	0.003	90.0	0.47
R100-0.063	0.583	0.545	0.564	0.019	87.7	2.96
R100-0.125	0.550	0.490	0.520	0.030	80.9	4.68
R100-0.250	0.575	0.497	0.536	0.039	83.3	6.11
R1000-M	0.521	0.539	0.530	0.009	-	-
R1000-V	0.473	0.524	0.499	0.025	77.5	3.95
R1000-0.008	0.471	0.540	0.505	0.035	78.5	5.38
R1000-0.016	0.491	0.522	0.507	0.016	78.8	2.45
R1000-0.031	0.538	0.534	0.536	0.002	83.3	0.36
R1000-0.063	0.561	0.567	0.564	0.003	87.6	0.43
R1000-0.125	0.554	0.542	0.548	0.006	85.1	0.93
R1000-0.250	0.585	0.512	0.548	0.037	85.2	5.68

			VEGF ₁₆₅ E	xpression		
		Ratio VEGF	VEGF165 (% Control)			
	Exp 1	Exp 2	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM
DO-M	0.458	0.482	0.470	0.012	-	-
DO-V	0.486	0.488	0.487	0.001	100.0	0.29
DO-0.008	0.479	0.517	0.498	0.019	102.3	3.84
DO-0.016	0.515	0.530	0.523	0.008	107.3	1.54
DO-0.031	0.503	0.546	0.525	0.022	107.8	4.42
DO-0.063	0.503	0.540	0.521	0.019	107.0	3.84
DO-0.125	0.494	0.478	0.486	0.008	99.8	1.74
DO-0.250	0.502	0.443	0.472	0.030	96.9	6.06
R100-M	0.412	0.422	0.417	0.005	-	-
R100-V	0.427	0.428	0.428	0.001	87.9	0.11
R100-0.008	0.434	0.427	0.430	0.004	88.3	0.73
R100-0.016	0.447	0.464	0.456	0.008	93.6	1.70
R100-0.031	0.498	0.472	0.485	0.013	99.5	2.65
R100-0.063	0.492	0.456	0.474	0.018	97.4	3.62
R100-0.125	0.456	0.388	0.422	0.034	86.6	6.91
R100-0.250	0.478	0.373	0.426	0.053	87.4	10.82
R1000-M	0.383	0.458	0.421	0.037	-	-
R1000-V	0.409	0.379	0.394	0.015	80.9	3.11
R1000-0.008	0.384	0.451	0.417	0.034	85.7	6.93
R1000-0.016	0.379	0.458	0.418	0.039	85.9	8.11
R1000-0.031	0.478	0.463	0.470	0.007	96.6	1.51
R1000-0.063	0.448	0.500	0.474	0.026	97.3	5.35
R1000-0.125	0.477	0.439	0.458	0.019	94.1	3.90
R1000-0.250	0.447	0.426	0.436	0.011	89.6	2.21

	VEGF Level (pg/ml)									Level
	Experiment 1			Experiment 2					(% Co	ontrol)
	VEGF Level	Corr. Factor	Corr. VEGF	VEGF Level	Corr. Factor	Corr. VEGF	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM
DO-M	126.7	0.89	142.8	109.6	0.90	121.6	132.2	10.59	-	-
DO-V	143.6	1.10	131.0	98.9	0.94	105.3	118.2	12.86	100.0	10.9
DO-0.008	158.4	1.02	154.6	126.3	0.97	130.0	142.3	12.32	120.4	10.4
DO-0.016	151.7	0.99	153.2	118.3	0.97	121.7	137.5	15.74	116.4	13.3
DO-0.031	174.9	0.96	183.0	152.3	1.08	141.3	162.2	20.87	137.2	17.7
DO-0.063	192.7	1.11	173.7	135.0	0.85	159.2	166.4	7.25	140.9	6.1
DO-0.125	195.4	1.06	184.6	160.0	1.10	146.0	165.3	19.31	139.9	16.3
DO-0.250	181.8	0.94	193.6	181.7	1.08	168.5	181.1	12.58	153.2	10.6
R100-M	196.0	1.20	164.0	214.4	1.10	195.7	179.8	15.83	-	-
R100-V	155.4	0.85	183.3	177.7	0.94	189.3	186.3	3.00	157.6	2.5
R100-0.008	167.7	0.92	181.9	203.8	0.90	226.1	204.0	22.09	172.7	18.7
R100-0.016	178.8	0.96	187.0	206.3	0.95	216.1	201.6	14.55	170.6	12.3
R100-0.031	186.6	1.06	176.3	220.4	1.01	218.8	197.5	21.27	167.2	18.0
R100-0.063	165.4	0.90	182.9	242.9	1.08	225.3	204.1	21.20	172.7	17.9
R100-0.125	189.9	0.99	191.8	205.4	0.90	227.9	209.9	18.07	177.6	15.3
R100-0.250	197.7	1.02	193.0	221.3	0.92	240.8	216.9	23.90	183.6	20.2
R1000-M	201.5	0.99	203.5	233.8	1.20	194.4	199.0	4.52	-	-
R1000-V	215.5	0.92	233.9	202.6	1.08	187.9	210.9	22.99	178.5	19.5
R1000-0.008	207.3	0.97	213.0	192.1	1.03	187.4	200.2	12.83	169.4	10.9
R1000-0.016	221.5	1.02	216.3	230.4	1.15	200.5	208.4	7.88	176.4	6.7
R1000-0.031	234.5	1.09	214.6	192.9	1.03	188.2	201.4	13.21	170.5	11.2
R1000-0.063	239.7	1.16	206.4	247.9	1.01	246.1	226.3	19.83	191.5	16.8
R1000-0.125	225.1	0.97	231.3	197.9	0.95	207.4	219.4	11.96	185.6	10.1
R1000-0.250	213.2	0.94	227.1	222.3	0.87	256.7	241.9	14.80	204.7	12.5

Corr. Factor: Corrective factor based on protein yields as measured by Bradford assay.